Prolonged standing in the workplace – a mixed methods approach to exploring, developing and evaluating footwear solutions

Jennifer Anderson

School of Health Sciences University of Salford, UK

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. 15th February 2021

List of Figures and Tables	iv
Figures	iv
Tables	V
Acknowledgements	vii
Statement of Own Contribution	viii
Abstract	ix
Chapter 1 : Introduction	1
1.1 The research in context	1
1.2 Prolonged standing at work	2
1.2.1 What is prolonged standing?	
1.2.2 Who is affected by prolonged standing?	
1.2.3 What are the effects of prolonged standing?	
1.2.4 Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders	
1.2.5 The impact and costs of musculoskeletal disorders	
1.3 Aims of this body of work	9
Chapter 2 : The published works and commentaries	10
2.1 Exploring the demands of prolonged standing	
2.1.1 Paper 1 commentary	
2.1.2 Paper 1 link	
2.1.3 Paper 2 commentary	
2.1.4 Paper 2 link	
2.1.5 Paper 3 commentary	
2.1.6 Paper 3 link	
2.1.7 Paper 3 additional data	
2.1.7.1 Results	
2.1.7.2 Summary	24
2.2 Summary of key points from part 1	
2.2 Developing and Evaluating Footwear Solutions	
2.2.1 Introduction to footwear	
2.2.2 Paper 4 commentary	
2.2.3 Paper 4	
2.2.4 Paper 5 commentary	
2.2.5 Paper 5 link	
2.2.6 Paper 6 commentary	

Contents

	2.2.7 Paper 6	. 45
2	.3 Summary of papers and outcomes	. 58
Cha	apter 3 : Critical review	.60
3	.1 The contribution and impact of this research	. 60
	3.1.1 Contribution to the current literature on prolonged standing	. 60
	3.1.2 The academic impact of these works to date	. 61
	3.1.3 The commercial impact of this research	. 62
	3.1.4 Potential wider impact for this research	. 63
	3.1.5 Footwear Recommendations from this thesis	. 63
3	.2 Critique of Methodology	. 66
	3.2.1 The approach to research	. 66
	3.2.2 The use of a narrative review	. 67
	3.2.3 Activity Monitoring – relevance of the defined activities and their limitations	. 68
	3.2.4 Limitations of the musculoskeletal questionnaire	. 70
	3.2.5 The use of semi-structured interviews	. 72
	3.2.6 Comparison of activity in the laboratory study to real world activity	. 73
	3.2.7 Pedar for in-shoe pressure over a prolonged period	. 75
	3.2.8 Calf circumference as a measure of blood pooling/ oedema	. 76
	3.2.9 Between day repeatability (Paper 5)	. 76
	3.2.10 The impact of the individual	. 78
	3.2.11 Footwear comfort measurements	. 78
	3.2.12 Participant characteristics	. 81
	3.2.12.1 Height, weight and BMI	. 81
	3.2.12.2 Gender	. 83
	3.2.12.3 Habitual Standing	. 84
	3.2.13 Sample size	. 85
	3.2.14 Statistical analysis	. 85
3	.3 The KTP project and integration of commercial and academic work	. 87
	3.3.1 Comparison of completed work to KTP plan	. 88
	3.3.2 Integrating research with business	. 88
3	.4 Overarching Research Limitations	. 91
	3.4.1 Standing: how much is too much?	. 91
	3.4.2 Is a footwear solution enough?	. 91
3	.5 Recent research and future directions	. 93
	3.5.1 Activity and musculoskeletal disorders	. 93
	3.5.2 The effect of time (footwear and participants age)	. 93
	3.5.3 Further concepts not considered in this thesis	. 94

3.5.4 Footwear comfort	. 96
3.5.5 Footwear for standing	. 96
3.6 Conclusion	. 98
Chapter 4 : Appendices1	100
Appendix 1 Co-authors statement on contributed work	100
Appendix 2 - Commercial use of research	102
Appendix 3 - Insole selection tool	103
Appendix 4- Conference Abstract 1: Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Gold Coast, Australia. 20th-22nd July 2017	104
Appendix 5 - Conference Abstract 2: Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Calgary, Canada. 28 th - 30 th July 2019	105
Reference: Anderson, Jennifer, Anita Williams, and Christopher Nester (2019). The development a multi-insole shoe for occupations requiring prolonged standing. <i>Footwear Science</i> 11.sup1: S1 S140	t of 39- 105
Appendix 6 - Questionnaire (Paper 3)	106
Appendix 7 - Ethical approval	127
Chapter 5 References1	L36

List of Figures and Tables

Figures

Figure 1.1 Equation defining prolonged standing strain index (Halim and Omar, 2012)
Figure 1.2 Diagram used for the Standardised Nordic questionnaire. From (Kuorinka et al., 1987), p235
Figure 2.1 How the outcomes from each paper helped to generate subsequent papers and
knowledge/ product outcomes
Figure 3.1 Footwear recommendations developed from this thesis
Figure 3.2 Comparison of kinetics and plantar pressure between static and dynamic tasks in Paper 5
Figure 3.3 Comparison of time spent in each standing task for chefs, veterinary surgeons and
participants in the laboratory study74
Figure 3.4 Percentage error of two Pedar insoles (left and right) over 3 hours with 100kPa of pressure
applied using the TruBlue calibration device. Shown with no correction and correction using the
average error recorded in the heel, as described and used in Pa
Figure 3.5 Initial KTP workplan vs actual work completed87
Figure 3.6 Conceptual model of successful business and university collaboration (Rybnicek and
Königsgruber, 2019), p229

Tables

Table 0.1 Authors and individual contribution for each paper in this thesis
Table 1.1 Stages of WMSD 4
Table 1.2 Summary of work-related pain in standing workers in different job roles
Table 1.3 Definitions of frequently used risk outcomes 7
Table 2.1 A list of the published works and conference proceedings. CONF = conference
Table 2.2 Aims and primary methodology of each paper
Table 2.3 Gender and job role of participants as a percentage of all kitchen workers 19
Table 2.4 Characteristics of kitchen workers 19
Table 2.5 Musculoskeletal disorders in kitchen workers (n=75) 20
Table 2.6 Regions of foot pain in kitchen workers
Table 2.7 Foot conditions reported in kitchen workers
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 11 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22 Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers 23
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22 Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers 23 Table 2.12 Summary of paper outcomes
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22 Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers 23 Table 2.12 Summary of paper outcomes 58 Table 3.1 Response rate and prevalence in surgical staff musculoskeletal prevalence studies – a
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 1 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22 Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers 23 Table 2.12 Summary of paper outcomes 58 Table 3.1 Response rate and prevalence in surgical staff musculoskeletal prevalence studies – a comparison to Paper 3 72
Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoe available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list. 21 Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses) 22 Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate 22 Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers 23 Table 2.12 Summary of paper outcomes 58 Table 3.1 Response rate and prevalence in surgical staff musculoskeletal prevalence studies – a comparison to Paper 3 72 Table 3.2 Mean time spent in each standing task as a percentage of overall standing time. 74

Table 3.4 Length of time footwear was trialled before rating footwear comfort and number of	
conditions	80
Table 3.5 Participant data from all the works presented in this thesis	82
Table 3.6 Difference in activity reported for male and female participants in paper 3	84

Acknowledgements

I'd like to start by thanking each and every participant who not only took part in the research presented here, but fully engaged with the projects and provided a valuable insight into their working life, often allowing me to disrupt their busy work days to do so. I hope this research is a start to improving our understanding of making your working day a bit more comfortable.

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr Anita Williams and Professor Chris Nester for their help and support throughout, their input on all of the papers presented here and in writing this thesis. Anita, thank you for getting me to the end, particularly over the final few months and for giving me a real appreciation for qualitative research. Chris, thank you for everything throughout the KTP, for helping the project to run smoothly and for teaching me how to conduct research alongside a business. I have learnt so much from both of you.

The smoothness of the KTP project was a team effort, aided by my supervisors, the company and the fantastic KTP team at Salford. So, thank you also to everyone at Toffeln and WearerTech, especially the Leflaive family, for enabling me to complete this research by providing the funding, support and flexibility required. Also, to everyone at the KTP office, especially Janet Morana and Vicky Russell for ensuring everything went smoothly.

A big thank you also goes to those at Salford, firstly for any technical support and secondly for making me feel so welcome when I was visiting. A special shout out goes to Jo Reeves for feeding me regularly during my visits. More recently, thank you to Dr Dan Parker for giving me time to work on my PhD when we had lulls in our other research. Niamh, Chelsea and Alix for keeping me company for my short stint in Manchester, and of course, Chelsea for your contributions to the title.

And finally thank you to all my family and friends for the support not just during this PhD, but in everything I do. Mum, Dad, Ben and Katy, thank you for getting me through the first lockdown and providing entertainment between writing. And finally, to Alex, thank you for your constant support, always lending me a foot when I needed one to practice on and your patience with me moving all over the country, one day we will be back in the same city!

Statement of Own Contribution

As a PhD by published works, six papers are presented that have been published in peer-reviewed journals. These papers have been written in collaboration with co-authors, for which the contribution from each can be seen in the below table. The verification for this table has been provided by all key authors, available in the appendix at the end of these works (Appendix 1). *Table 0.1 Authors and individual contribution for each paper in this thesis*

Paper Number	Authors	Independent Contribution	Joint Contribution	Reference
1	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher J Nester	Literature search Initial paper draft	Study conception and design Paper writing and editing	(Anderson <i>et al.,</i> 2017a)
2	Jennifer Anderson, Malcolm H. Granat, Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	Recruitment Data Collection Data Analysis Initial paper draft	Study conception Study and analysis design Data Interpretation Paper writing and editing	(Anderson et al., 2019)
3	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher J Nester	Recruitment Data collection Data analysis Initial paper draft	Study conception and design Questionnaire design Data Interpretation Paper writing and editing	(Anderson <i>et al.,</i> 2021)
4	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher J Nester	Recruitment Data Collection Primary Data Analysis Initial paper draft	Study conception and design Secondary data analysis Data Interpretation Paper writing and editing	(Anderson <i>et al.,</i> 2017b)
5	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher J Nester	Laboratory set up Recruitment Data Collection Data Analysis Initial paper draft	Study conception and design Technical research design Data Interpretation Paper writing and editing	(Anderson <i>et al.,</i> 2018)
6	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher J Nester	Recruitment Data Collection Data Analysis Initial paper draft	Study conception and design Insole design Technical research design Data Interpretation Paper writing and editing	(Anderson <i>et al.,</i> 2020)

External funding

This work was supported by the Knowledge Transfer Partnership programme (KTP0009994) which was co-funded by Toffeln Limited, UK and Innovate UK. The KTP project ran from September 2015 to February 2018, after which I continued to work for WearerTech until September 2019.

Abstract

Prolonged standing at work, or prolonged periods maintaining an upright posture is required in 58-72% of working populations and is associated with the development of work-related musculoskeletal disorders in the lower back, legs and feet. This can result in the loss of workforce and a reduced quality of life for workers and has financial implications at a government level, for the individuals and for the employers.

This thesis is comprised of 6 peer-reviewed journal papers as a focussed body of work and a critical analysis of these papers and how they relate to the work of others in the field. It is presented in two parts. The first *explores* the demands of prolonged standing, considering the previous literature, definitions of workplace activity and the prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders. The second part *develops* and *evaluates* a footwear solution for prolonged standing workers through: interviews with end-users; studying biomechanical changes over time and assessing footwear comfort.

The adopted mixed methods approach enables footwear development based on quantitative biomechanical outcomes and qualitative consumer data, demonstrating a novel approach to the problem of prolonged standing at work. The impact of the published works is considered in the critical analysis chapter that also critiques the key methodological strengths and limitations, provides documentation of a research-based footwear development process and develops suggestions for future research.

Overall, this thesis identifies that workers spending prolonged periods of time standing demonstrate a high prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders, recognises the need to redefine standing into multiple activities and develops a range of insoles for footwear that optimise comfort for the individual based on the identification that a one-shoe-fits-all approach is not adequate. The footwear solution comprised a range of insoles varying in hardness under the medial arch alongside an exploration of factors related to insole preference and comfort. However, perhaps the most important conclusion that can be drawn from these works relate to the need for future research, and specifically the relationships between time, standing, foot health and footwear.

Chapter 1 : Introduction

This introduction will define the context of the research, introduce the topic of prolonged work-based standing and identify the approach taken to the research.

1.1 The research in context

This body of work had two overarching aims. As part of a Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP), a joint project with a business and an academic partner (in this instance the University of Salford), the work had to meet the expectations of the commercial partner but also create novel academic papers. The commercial project's aim was to "embed an applied research function into product development resulting in the partner company leading in world class footwear for demanding environments". From an academic perspective it was expected to develop knowledge surrounding the demands faced by prolonged standing workers and the impact standing had on foot health and footwear, a topic for which there is a dearth of information. In the context of the KTP, the research questions were thus derived to fit the needs of the company in a way that would produce commercially viable solutions while addressing the current gaps in the literature.

The partner company specialised predominantly in footwear for health service surgical staff working in operating theatres. Prior to the KTP, the company did not have a research led product development strategy or knowledge about the function of the lower limb and foot. As a small company, the KTP project was expected to have a direct impact on all areas of the business, from marketing and sales to product development. Therefore, research surrounding health at work was also important for the company to establish themselves as knowledge leaders within their market.

From a personal perspective, my motivation for this project came from the opportunity to complete novel research with a real-world impact. The link with a commercial partner meant that the research would be directed towards the development of a final product, rather than solely the publication of papers. Furthermore, it created the opportunity for me to learn about how a business operates and how product development and research could work together.

Overall, this body of work provides a real-world example of how the development of knowledge can lead to a footwear solution. It also documents the impact that academic research can have on a company's direction and tells the story of how the two evolved together.

1.2 Prolonged standing at work

1.2.1 What is prolonged standing?

There is no single accepted definition of prolonged standing in the workplace. Perhaps the most frequently cited definition is 'roles in which standing is required for 50% or more of the total time at work', i.e. one in which the primary activity in the workplace is standing. The studies that this is derived from investigated the risk of venous disorders in working populations, and found those standing for over 50% of their time were at a greater risk of suffering from such problems (Abramson *et al.*, 1981; Tomei *et al.*, 1999). However, other studies have used different lengths of time. For example, a study considering adverse pregnancy outcomes defined prolonged standing as 'more than 3 hours per day or the predominant occupational posture' (Mozurkewich *et al.*, 2000). Another study looking at hospitalisation due to varicose veins defined it as 'standing or walking' at least 75% of time (Tüchsen *et al.*, 2005). These definitions appear to be fairly arbitrary rather than objectively chosen and rely solely on the overall duration of an activity.

Based on the range of jobs identified and the associated variations in work activity, prolonged standing would perhaps be better considered on a scale of risk, rather than a single cut off point. This idea underpins the work by Halim and Omar (2012), whose 'Prolonged Standing Strain Index' quantifies the risks of individual standing jobs. It consists of an equation that rates standing duration but also includes other risk factors such as working posture and muscle activity (Figure 1.1). Multipliers were applied to each value dependent on the risk rating it was given. With respect to standing these were as follows:

- Low risk = below 1 hour of continuous standing and less than 4 hours of total standing
- Moderate risk = over 1 hour of continuous standing or over 4 hours of total standing
- High risk = over 1 hour of continuous standing and over 4 hours of total standing.



Figure 1.1 Equation defining prolonged standing strain index (Halim and Omar, 2012)

The need to include the duration of single standing bouts alongside the total duration of standing, as suggested by Halim and Omar (2012) is reinforced by the results of a systematic review of laboratory based standing studies that identifies a safe limit of 40 minutes of continuous standing, after which individuals start to develop lower back pain (Coenen *et al.*, 2017). Similarly the Association for Perioperative Registered Nurses recommends not standing for more than 30% of the work day or for more than 2 hours at a time (Hughes *et al.*, 2011). Thus, when considering problems associated with prolonged standing, it appears important to consider not only its total duration but also the length of continuous standing periods.

1.2.2 Who is affected by prolonged standing?

The broad range of jobs that demand periods of prolonged standing include factory workers, those in the food industry, teachers, hairdressers, a range of health care workers, retail workers and security guards to name a few. As a result, estimations of those undertaking prolonged standing are typically large proportions of the working population, although the exact number is clearly dependent on the definition used for standing. In Australia, 62% of a sample of the general population reported work that included periods of standing (Safe Work Australia, 2011), comparable to that reported in Quebec, Canada, in which 58% of workers reported their usual working position as standing (Tissot *et al.*, 2005). In a European Survey, it was estimated that 72% of men and 66% of women of workers undertook prolonged standing for at least a quarter of their working time (Parent-Thirion *et al.*, 2012). Although estimations, all of these figures indicate that the majority of the working population are spending prolonged periods of their work time standing and consequently the findings of the research within this thesis are likely to be relevant to a large proportion of our population.

1.2.3 What are the effects of prolonged standing?

There are several risks associated with prolonged standing. These have been previously listed as chronic venous insufficiency, pre term birth (in pregnant women) and musculoskeletal disorders of the lower back, legs and feet (McCulloch, 2002), the latter of which will be the focus of this body of work.

Musculoskeletal disorder is a non-specific term that encompasses pain caused by a variety of factors that include damage to muscles, tendons, ligaments, peripheral nerves, joints, bones, cartilage or supporting blood vessels (Stack *et al.*, 2016). Work related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSD) refer to those that are caused or worsened by working conditions (Stack *et al.*, 2016). Both physical workload and personal factors contribute to the development of work-related musculoskeletal disorders.

There are varying levels of musculoskeletal disorders that have been defined, ranging from aches and pains to irreversible damage (Table 1.1). The Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and

Safety (2019) describes an initial ache or pain during the working day that over time progresses to pain and weakness at rest that impacts daily life. A second model also starts with aches and pains that do not impact performance that eventually become persistent symptoms that impact even the lightest tasks (Stack *et al.*, 2016). This highlights the necessity of identifying and finding solution to the initial aches and pains to prevent them from worsening into life limiting conditions or disabilities.

Table 1.1 Stages of work-related	l musculoskeletal	disorders	(WMSD)
----------------------------------	-------------------	-----------	--------

	Canadian Centre for Occupational	Stack, Ostrom and Wilhelmsen (2016),
	Health and Safety, (2019)	p361
Stage 1	Aching and tiredness of the affected limb occur during the work shift but disappear at night and during days off work. No reduction of work performance.	Usually shows aches and fatigue during the working hours but with rest at night and days off work these aches seem to settle. • Shows no drop in performance. • May persist for weeks or months. • Can be reversed.
Stage 2	Aching and tiredness occur early in the work shift but disappear at night and during days off work.	 Same symptoms occur early in the work shift and sleep does not settle the pain. In fact, sleep may be disturbed. Shows performance of the task is reduced Usually persist over months Can be reversed
Stage 3	Aching, fatigue and weakness persist at rest. Inability to sleep and to perform light duties.	 Symptoms persist while resting. Pain occurs while performing nonrepetitive movements The person is unable to perform even light tasks May last for months or years Usually not reversible

1.2.4 Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders

Musculoskeletal prevalence is most often assessed using the above defined Stage 1 of their development, i.e. through the identification of specific regions that suffer from pain while at work. It is most commonly assessed with the Standardised Nordic questionnaire, that assess pain in each region of the body (Kuorinka *et al.*, 1987). All questions in the assessment are binary (yes/no) or multiple choice and aim to screen for musculoskeletal disorders in an ergonomic context. It considers individual body regions although it unfortunately groups the ankle and feet as a single component (figure 1.2), limiting our understanding of these regions independently.

When considering the regions in Figure 2, studies have assessed the prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders in a range of professions from nurses and dentists to retail and food workers (Table 1.2). On average, 58% reported lower back pain, 23% pain in the hip/thigh, 38% in the knee, 18% in the lower leg and 35% in the ankles/feet. In the general adult population it has been identified

that 24% suffered from back pain, 12% from hip/thigh pain and 24% knee pain (Urwin *et al.*, 1998). In the feet, it has been reported that 17% of the general Australian population and 22% of the UK population suffered from foot pain (Garrow *et al.*, 2004; Hill *et al.*, 2008). However, it must be noted that the three general population studies asked participants about pain in the past 1 month compared to the 12 months in the Nordic Questionnaire, for which no general population data was available.



Figure 1.2 Diagram used for the Standardised Nordic questionnaire. From (Kuorinka et al., 1987), p235

Table	1.2	Summary	of	work-related	pain	in	standing	workers	in	different	job	roles	that	reported
prolon	ged	standing.												

Reference	Job descriptions	n	Time (months)	Lower back	Hip/ Thigh	Knee	Lower leg	Ankle/ feet
(Alexopoulos <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	Dentists	430	12	46%	-	-	-	-
(Anton and Weeks, 2016)	Grocery Workers	254	12	51%	17%	29%	-	50%
(Dianat <i>et al.,</i> 2018a)	Surgeons	312	12	42%	29%	49%	-	28%
(Cheung <i>et al.,</i> 2018)	Nursing Assistants	440	0	41%	12%	38%	18%	28%
(Choobineh <i>et al.,</i> 2010)	Operating room nurses	375	12	61%	31%	58%	-	59%
(Garbin <i>et al.,</i> 2017)	Dentists	204	12	49%	15%	22%	-	16%
(Haukka <i>et al.,</i> 2006)	Female Kitchen Workers	495	3	50%	19%	29%	-	30%
(Karahan <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	Hospital Workers	1600	12	61%	-	-	-	-
(Shankar <i>et al.,</i> 2015)	Male commercial kitchen workers	114	12	66%	-	-	-	-
(Sheikhzadeh <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	Perioperative nurses and technicians	50	12	84%	52%	58%	-	74%
(Smith <i>et al.,</i> 2006)	Nurses (Japan)	844	12	71%	-	-	-	-
(Tojo <i>et al.,</i> 2018)	Nurses (Japan)	636	1	61%	-	-	-	23%
(Aweto <i>et al.,</i> 2015)	Hairdressers	299	12	76%	17%	33%	-	24%
(Reed <i>et al.,</i> 2014a)	Nurses	304	12	71%	37%	38%	-	55%
Average Values	-	6357	-	59%	23%	38%	18%	35%
(Urwin <i>et al.,</i> 1998)	General adult UK population	4710	1	24%	12%	24%	-	-
(Garrow <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	General adult population UK	3417	1	-	-	-	-	22%
(Hill <i>et al.,</i> 2008)	General Population Australia	3206	1	-	-	-	-	17%

* Where time frame is 0 months, participants were asked for pain at the time of asking. The rows shaded grey represent general population results. Average value is calculated as the total suffering pain from all studies / total participants from all studies combined for each region.

Prospective studies add further evidence to the increased risk of musculoskeletal disorders in those undertaking prolonged standing, with the identification of odds ratios and risks (Table 1.3). A two-year prospective study completed by 3276 participants from various occupations identified in their final multivariate model that standing for half the time at work (30 minutes per every hour) was associated with an increased risk of lower back pain and any region pain with hazard ratios of 1.9 (95% CI 1.2-3.0) and 1.6 (95% CI 1.2-2.3) respectively (Andersen et al., 2007). This was after adjustment for influencing factors such as age, occupation and gender. A second prospective study, this time over three-years in Norway (Sterud and Tynes, 2013), assessed lower back pain and associated factors. Respondents were asked if they worked standing, and if so to estimate the proportion of time (almost the whole working day, ¾ of working day, ½ of working day, ¼ of working day, very little of the working day). The final model suggested that the odds ratio for lower back pain increased with standing exposure time, with 1.1 (95% CI 0.81-1.58) for a quarter of the day, 1.24 (95% CI 0.96-1.59) for half of the day and 1.48 (95% CI 1.2-1.6) for three quarters of the working day. In another prospective study (Sterud, 2013), standing was also identified as a risk for long-term sick leave, in which standing for three quarters of the working day had an odds ratio of 1.32 (95% CI 1.04-1.69) and was also associated with the greatest population attributable risk of 8.18% (95% CI 0.07-15.86). This provides evidence of a relationship between standing exposure and risk of musculoskeletal disorders, as well as an impact on days off work.

Term	Definition	Value given	Reference	
	The odds that an	<1.0=reduced odds		
Odds ratio	outcome will occur given 1.0=no difference		(Szumilas, 2010)	
	a particular exposure	>1.0 = increased odds		
	Estimate of the ratio of			
	the hazard rate (risk of	<1.0=reduced risk		
Hazards ratio	event) in control group	1.0=no difference	(Kirch, 2008a)	
	and those exposed to the	>1.0 = increased risk		
	risk factor.			
	The proportion of the			
Population attributable	incidence of a disease in	Dorcontago (%)	(Kirch 2009h)	
risk	the population that is	Fercentage (70)	(KIICII, 2006D)	
	due to exposure			
	Used to estimate the			
	precision of the above		(Illo and Milic	
Confidence Intervals (CI)	measures. A range of	Larger = lower		
Confidence intervals (CI)	values that is expected to	precision	2008, 3201111aS, 2010)	
	include the real value for		2010)	
	the given population.			

Table 1.3 Definitions of frequently used risk outcomes

1.2.5 The impact and costs of musculoskeletal disorders

Musculoskeletal disorders affect a large number of workers in Great Britain across a range of occupations (Buckle, 2005). The HSE in the Labour Force Survey 2018/19 (Office for National Statistics, 2019) report 498,000 workers were suffering from Musculoskeletal Disorders in that year, 40% (200,000) of which were in the lower back and 19% (95,000) in the lower limb. Over the year 2018-19 in Great Britain, they were responsible for 6.9 million working days lost (Office for National Statistics, 2019). The lower back was responsible for 2.8 million of these and the lower limb 1.5 million. The average number of days lost per case was 14 over the 12 months assessed.

In 2014, the HSE reported an estimated cost to the Great British society of £2.3 billion for new musculoskeletal conditions arising in that year alone (Health and Safety Executive, 2014). Around 57% of these costs were carried by individuals, which included costs associated with the loss of income and private healthcare. Employer costs came to around 22% of the total and were related to restructuring the workplace for absences, sickness payments, insurance and legal costs. Government costs were primarily for benefit pay, NHS treatment costs and loss of tax receipts and came to around 24% of the total costs. Musculoskeletal disorders can also impact the performance of tasks (Stack *et al.*, 2016), which could be costly if outputs are reduced due to work being completed more slowly.

Perhaps more costly to the individual is the reduction in quality of life associated with musculoskeletal disorders, both in and out of work. The stages of musculoskeletal disorders defined earlier (Table 1.1) describe musculoskeletal disorders impacting sleep and light tasks (Stack *et al.*, 2016; Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, 2019). This could result in a reduced ability to complete activities of daily living, increase time taken to perform daily tasks and even have a detrimental effect on an individual's mood. The impact of musculoskeletal disorders on physical quality of life outside of work was confirmed in a 28 month follow up study that reported the onset of such disorders had a marked effect on an individual's physical quality of life (Roux *et al.*, 2005).

Musculoskeletal disorders include diagnosed conditions such as osteoarthritis, which would likely be stage 3 or beyond on the discussed scales as the damage is irreversible. Osteoarthritis is a disabling disease that reduces quality of life in those who suffer from it (Cook *et al.*, 2007). Systematic reviews have identified that prolonged standing can contribute to knee osteoarthritis (Wang *et al.*, 2020) and perhaps to hip osteoarthritis too (Sulsky *et al.*, 2012). Osteoarthritis represents a growing financial burden to many countries (Chen *et al.*, 2012) alongside the increased disability that accompanies it, and could thus add to the cost of standing.

Overall, the effects of musculoskeletal conditions are vast. They influence an individual's quality of life, they cost money to individuals, employers and governments and they are responsible for a loss

of workforce both temporarily and permanently. If left untreated, they can reach a point of becoming permanent (Stack *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, finding solutions to reduce musculoskeletal disorders is of high importance for the individual workers, employers and the economy.

1.3 Aims of this body of work

This body of work focuses on the relationship between musculoskeletal disorders of the lower back and below, occupational standing and footwear. The focus on the lower back and below is due to the need to develop a footwear solution, which would not be expected to influence the body above the lower back region as much as upper body activity would, such as lifting turning and twisting. Upper body demands vary between roles with similar lower body demands, so focusing on the lower body maintains a more generalisable solution.

The research papers within this body of work align to the process of the project from the initial literature search through to the development of the final footwear product. Each paper answers a specific question needed to develop an understanding of the topic area. The papers aim to both generate knowledge around the topic of prolonged standing and to progress the development of the footwear solution.

A mixed methods approach to research is used, with both quantitative and qualitative components. The lack of previous research in this topic area and thus the explorative nature of this research lends itself to this approach. The inclusion of end users in qualitative research integrates well with the company's market research requirements and product feedback, allowing the two to progress together.

The primary aims of this body of work are:

- To develop an understanding of prolonged standing and the associated demands on the body, particularly relating to musculoskeletal disorders.
- (2) To biomechanically assess prolonged standing in conjunction with musculoskeletal disorders and determine if and how they are impacted by changes in footwear.
- (3) Develop and evaluate a research-based, commercially viable footwear solution for prolonged standing that meets wearer requirements.

Chapter 2 : The published works and commentaries

This body of work is comprised of six journal papers published in a range of academic journals and presented at two international conferences (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 A list of the published works and conference proceedings. CONF = conference.

Paper Number	Authors	Title	Journal/ Conference	Impact Factor	Date
1	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher Nester	A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring	Musculoskeletal Care	NA	2017
2	Jennifer Anderson, Malcolm H. Granat, Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer- based activity monitoring	Ergonomics	2.181	2019
3	Jennifer Anderson, Anita E Williams Christopher Nester	Musculoskeletal discomfort, foot health and footwear choice in prolonged standing workers.	International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics	1.662	2021
4	Jennifer Anderson Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments	Journal of Foot and Ankle Research	1.604	2017
5	Jennifer Anderson, Christopher Nester Anita Williams	Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear	Footwear Science	NA	2018
6	Jennifer Anderson Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work.	Journal of Foot and Ankle Research	1.604	2020
CONF	Jennifer Anderson Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	The effect of prolonged standing on the body and the impact of footwear hardness	Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Gold Coast, Australia.	NA	20 th - 22 nd July 2017
CONF	Jennifer Anderson Anita E. Williams Christopher Nester	The development of a multi- insole shoe for occupations requiring prolonged standing	Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Calgary, Canada.	NA	28 th -30 th July 2019.

These works are broken into two parts. The first part (papers 1-3) explores the demands of prolonged standing to improve our understanding of what it is and the impact it has on the body. The second part (Papers 4-6) focuses on the development and evaluation of a footwear solution. The individual aim of each paper can be seen in Table 2.2, with a summary of the primary method used to address the aim.

	Paper Number	Title	Aim	Methodology
	1	A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring	Identify current literature regarding the impact of prolonged standing on musculoskeletal discomfort to drive research protocols and product ideas.	Literature review
Part 1	2	Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring	Define standing as a range of movements to differentiate between the activity of different 'prolonged standing' jobs	Activity monitoring
	3	Musculoskeletal discomfort, foot health and footwear choice in prolonged standing workers.	Understand musculoskeletal problems and associated variables in surgical staff with a focus on foot health and footwear	Online questionnaire
Part 2	4	An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments	Determine end-user perceived workplace demands, footwear needs and their views on how current footwear can be improved	Interview
	5	Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear	Test the effect of prolonged standing on musculoskeletal discomfort and biomechanical factors and identify differences associated with changes in footwear hardness	Laboratory based biomechanical study
	6	Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work.	Test insoles varying in hardness in different regions to identify a new insole product range that improves user comfort/ biomechanics and test these insoles in a real-world situation	Laboratory based biomechanical study + real world evaluation

Table 2.2 Aims and primary methodology of each paper.

2.1 Exploring the demands of prolonged standing

2.1.1 Paper 1 commentary

Paper Title: A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring.

Reference: Anderson, Jennifer, Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. J. (2017). A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring. *Musculoskeletal Care*, *15*(*4*), pp. 304–315. doi: 10.1002/msc.1174.

Open access version available: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/41005

The aim of this narrative review was to identify the current literature available regarding musculoskeletal disorders associated with prolonged standing in the workplace. This information provides the starting point for the project to develop from, driving both the design of a laboratory-based protocol and ideas for a feasible workplace solution.

With little knowledge around the topic prior to this paper apart from the initial company knowledge, the search strategy started as a broad identification of papers that related to prolonged standing. They included both laboratory-based studies that assessed the biomechanics of standing as well as prevalence-based studies to understand the extent of the problems. Once a range of literature had been identified, they were separated into topics. The first three topics investigated the associations between standing and musculoskeletal disorders of the lower back, lower extremity/ legs and the feet aiming to identify an idea of the prevalence and any associated measurable factors. The last two topics focused on solution-based papers, one on flooring and one on footwear. Flooring was included as it impacts the body-ground interface in combination with footwear, and therefore any benefits from flooring could potentially be incorporated into footwear.

The results of this study introduce the current research on prolonged standing at work and standing solutions to date, it identifies the methodologies used and where the gaps in the knowledge lie. It makes clear that musculoskeletal disorders are a widespread problem related to prolonged standing, although previous research had focused on the lower back and legs, largely ignoring the feet. In terms of solutions, most research had considered the use of flooring with only minimal information available regarding footwear.

Research Impact: At the time of writing, there were no other review papers of standing research that could be found. This review provided a summary of the literature available, bringing together information on musculoskeletal disorders, biomechanics and potential solutions. It further identifies knowledge gaps and limitations in previous methodologies with the aim of aiding future research.

Project Impact: With an insight into previous research, this paper identified the need to define activities in greater detail, leading to paper 2. It also collated the information on variables that should be recorded for paper 5, the confounding factors to include in the questionnaire study (paper 3) and initial ideas that underfoot cushioning could be important (as seen in the flooring research).

Commercial Impact: This was primarily used to build knowledge within the company, providing information for sales and marketing to use in meetings and pitches to build their brand as 'knowledge leaders' in footwear for standing.

2.1.3 Paper 2 commentary

Paper Title: Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring

Reference: Anderson, J., Granat, M. H., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2019). Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring. *Ergonomics*, *62*(8). doi: 10.1080/00140139.2019.1615640.

Open access version available: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/51253

From Paper 1 it was clear that prolonged standing in the workplace had not been defined. Despite categorising numerous jobs as involving standing, it was unknown for how long these individuals were standing, what the definition of standing was and by how much the standing tasks varied between job roles. Understanding movement in the real-world work environment is important from an ergonomic, research and footwear manufacturing perspective. Ergonomically, understanding the 'dosage' of standing could be important for identifying risk factors or establishing safe exposure limits to prevent or limit the long-term impacts of a standing job. In terms of laboratory-based research, understanding the activities being undertaken in the workplace enables the replication of these movements to create an accurate representation of real-world tasks, thus results that are more generalisable to specific working populations. From a footwear manufacturing perspective, understanding the demands not only on the body but also on equipment such as footwear is important as it could have implications for equipment design, materials and safety testing.

Site visits and observations were undertaken in the workplaces of chefs and veterinary surgeons in order to inform the research design of this paper. At these visits, it was clear that an objective measure of activity was required due to the short duration of each activity being performed. It was through these observations that three new standing activities defined in this paper were identified. Objective measures of activity were taken using an ActivPal device, a small accelerometer-based device that attaches to the thigh. Using the previously developed ActivPal software, it was possible to verify that the new activities had all previously been classed under the broad term of 'standing'. The newly defined standing activities were:

Static Standing: Both feet remain in contact with the ground with no movement occurring *Weight Shifting:* Both feet remain in contact with the ground, but weight is shifted between the feet

Shuffling: Sideways activity in which feet leave the ground but do not move the body forward. Activity is smaller than a walking step.

The results found that the three new standing movements were able to differentiate activity between two job roles, despite them having almost identical levels of overall standing time, as previously defined by the ActivPal. This provides evidence that standing is not a single activity and that considering it as one is too simplistic.

Research Impact: Prior to this paper, standing had been assumed to be a single activity, but this paper identifies that it can be divided into a range of activities of different intensities. This improves our understanding and provides a new tool for identifying differences between different standing jobs, with implications for identifying risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders.

Commercial Impact: This paper did not have a direct impact on the products but was used for marketing purposes, such as in sales presentations and blog posts. It aided towards the company's ambition of being 'knowledge leaders' in their sector.

Project Impact: This paper and workplace observations resulted in the development of the laboratory-based tasks in paper 5.

2.1.5 Paper 3 commentary

Paper Title: Musculoskeletal discomfort, foot health and footwear choice in prolonged standing workers.

Reference: Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2021). Musculoskeletal disorders, foot health and footwear choice in occupations involving prolonged standing. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *81*. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2020.103079.

USIR link: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/43663/

The need for this paper arose as a result of the lack of knowledge around foot health and footwear in standing populations. A number of papers had already assessed musculoskeletal disorders in surgical and nursing populations (Smith *et al.*, 2006; Karahan *et al.*, 2009; Sheikhzadeh *et al.*, 2009; Choobineh *et al.*, 2010; Reed *et al.*, 2014a; Dianat *et al.*, 2018b; Tojo *et al.*, 2018) but these did not include any information around footwear and the foot was generally combined with the ankle into a single region. This knowledge was important for the company to understand their marketplace and for the project to start to understand how foot health and footwear could be improved.

The scale of musculoskeletal discomfort was identified in this paper, with foot pain the second most common region behind the back and over a third reporting suffering from a known foot condition. The most common sites of foot pain were under the plantar surface, suggesting a need to focus on this region. A link between footwear comfort and musculoskeletal disorders was identified. Cushioning, support, breathability/ heat minimising and weight were all identified as important shoe components. Furthermore, some identified an inadequacy of footwear provided by employers.

Not long after the data was collected from surgical staff, the company split into two separate companies, with the research and new target markets being taken over by the new company, WearerTech. As a result, the new target market for the research became hospitality staff, specifically chefs. As the company required similar information from a questionnaire regarding chefs, musculoskeletal disorders and footwear, a similar questionnaire was distributed to this new population, the results from which are presented as additional data. Due to time constraints, a shorter version of the questionnaire was used, and these results are presented after the paper.

Research Impact: Although previous research has completed cross-sectional questionnaires, this paper provides detailed information regarding foot problems in a standing population for the first time. It also documents footwear and its relation to foot health.

Project Impact: The identification that footwear comfort could be an important variable to consider, alongside its relationship to cushioning and support, is a theme which is further explored through papers 4-6.

Commercial Impact: Percentage rates of musculoskeletal disorders and foot pain were strong marketing and sales tools due to the ease at which they could be understood by consumers and their own experiences at work.

2.1.7 Paper 3 additional data

Following paper three, the commercial direction of the company involved in the KTP changed. The original company split into two companies leading the sales focus to became primarily hospitality footwear. As a result, a similar questionnaire to that used in paper two was distributed to kitchen workers. The ethics approval application (Appendix 7) from paper 3 was amended to include this data set but a less extensive version of the questionnaire was used due to the need to quickly develop an understanding of this industry from a marketing perspective.

2.1.7.1 Results

There were 75 kitchen workers who completed the questionnaire, of which 73.7% were male, 21.1% female (the remainder did not answer). The average participant was 40 years old and had a BMI that was in the overweight category (25.0-29.9 kg/m²). In total, 73.7% of participants were chefs (Table 2.3). In terms of workplace demands, on average they reported working for 54 hours per week with an average shift length of 10 hours, extending up to 16 hours. The average reported time on their feet at work was 84%, very similar to the 87.1% objectively recorded in kitchen staff in Paper 2.

Job Title	Percentage of all participants
Head chef	39.5
Exec Chef	17.1
Sous Chef	6.6
Senior Sous Chef	5.3
Junior Sous Chef	2.6
Chef de Partie	2.6
Restaurant Manager	2.6
General Manager	3.9
Other	14.5

Table 2.3 Gender and job role of participants as a percentage of all kitchen workers

Table 2.4 Characteristics of kitchen workers

	Average	Minimum	Maximum	STD
Age (years)	40	20	64	10
Height (m)	1.79	1.55	2.10	0.11
Weight (kg)	88.2	52	170	21.7
BMI (kg/m²)	27.8	16.8	46.1	6.6
Time working in hospitality (years)	20	2	45	11
Average hours/week	54	16	90	12
Time on feet (%)	84	10	100	18
Average shift length (hours)	10	6.0	16	2
Number of exercise sessions per week	2	0	7	1.7

Musculoskeletal discomfort was reported in at least one region by 96% of participants (Table 2.5). The back and feet were the most common regions for musculoskeletal disorders, with 72% reporting foot pain in the past 12 months. In total, 20% of respondents reported taking some time off work due to a reported musculoskeletal problem, with 46% having visited a health care specialist as a result.

	Experienced pain in the past 12 months	Experienced pain in the past 7 days	Prevented from completing normal work	Taken time off work	Seen a doctor, physiotherapist or specialist as a result of the pain.
	%	%	%	%	%
Lower back	79	37	21	12	34
Нір	42	22	11	7	17
Knee	62	32	17	11	26
Calf	36	21	3	3	11
Ankle	32	20	5	3	8
Foot	72	34	17	7	18
Any region	96	63	37	20	46

 Table 2.5 Musculoskeletal disorders in kitchen workers (n=75)

Table 2.6 Regions of foot pain in kitchen workers



Table 2.7 Foot conditions self-reported in kitchen workers

	% All participants
Corns	5
Calluses	8
Blisters	8
Plantar Fasciitis	8
High arch	5
Low arch	5
bunions	4
hammer toe	1

Table 2.8 Percentage of kitchen workers wearing each shoe brand and example shoes. NB this is an identification of the main types of shoes available at the time of the questionnaire, not an extensive list.

Company	% Participants	Examples of most worn shoes	Features
Crocs	17		EVA clog with slip resistant sole.
Birkenstock	25		PU clog with cork footbed Cork sole with leather upper (can have slip resistant sole).
WearerTech	17		EVA clog with EVA insole and slip resistant sole. EVA sole, leather upper, slip resistant sole.
Shoes for Crews	5		Leather or canvas upper with slip resistant sole. EVA clog with slip resistant sole.
Dr Martens	4		PVC/rubber sole, leather upper with textile lining, slip resistant outsole.

In those experiencing foot pain, the majority felt pain on the underside of the foot (Table 2.6) – under the heel, the medial arch and the ball of the foot, similar to that reported in surgical staff (Paper 3). However, 46% of the population reported pain in regions of the foot that could be related to the fit of a shoe. These include the back of the heel, between the toes, on the top of the toes or around the borders of the foot. Blisters were reported in 8% of the population, again a factor that could be a result of an ill-fitting shoe. In terms of foot conditions, 8% of the population reported suffering from plantar fasciitis.

Clogs were the preferred shoe type for chefs, with 62% wearing this style of shoe. Most kitchen workers were purchasing their own shoes (83%) although, as mentioned at the start, the distribution of responses were likely to be biased towards those who purchased their own footwear and those who were interested in the partner company's products. These individuals would be less likely to require a toe cap, as establishments that require toe caps must provide their own footwear, perhaps explaining why only 18% wore one.

Footwear Factor	Percentage of respondents
Cushioning	15
Improved slip resistance	11
More durable	8
Cheaper	8
Fit	7
Safety toe cap	7
Support	5
Lighter	4
Comfort	4
Breathability	3
Washable	3

Table 2.9 Factors that could be improved in current footwear of kitchen workers (coded free text responses)

Table 2.10 Time that kitchen workers thought the grip on their shoe remained adequate

Adequate Grip Length	Percentage of all participants (%)
0-3 months	9
4-6 months	18
7-9 months	25
10-12 months	24
More than 12 months	22

Table 2.11 Details of current footwear of kitchen workers

Question	Answer Options	% All participants
	Other (please specify)	12
	Work boots	3
	Flat dolly shoe/pump	7
What type of shoe do you usually wear	slip on with back	5
while at work?	Dress Shoe	5
	Trainer	5
	non-washable clog	28
	washable clog	34
Cafaba	toe cap	18
Safety	no toe cap	80
Do you purchase your own work shoes?	Purchase own shoes	83
least was	off the shelf insoles	20
Insole use	prescribed insoles	1
	arch support	9
What features do these insoles have?	shock absorbing	12
(Select all that apply)	Cushioning	15
	Lateral Wedge	1
	·	
Colour of shoe	Black	88
	Catering supplier	26
M/have de very new alle numbers very	Work shoe specialist	16
where do you normally purchase your	Amazon	18
WORK SHOES:	Work wear supplier	3
	High street	11
	£21-30	5
	£31-40	13
	£41-50	14
What is the maximum that you would	£51-60	13
what is the maximum that you would	£61-70	13
	£71-80	7
	£81-90	5
	£91-100	1
	£100+	8

Out of the 75 participants, 53 (71%) completed the free text question 'How could your current work shoes be improved?'. Of those that answered the question, 21% mentioned cushioning in their response, with improved slip resistance the second most common answer. In terms of slip resistance, participants were also asked to select how long the slip resistance on their shoes remained

adequate (Table 2.10). There was a wide range of responses for this question, but 40% of individuals reported wearing their shoes for a period of time greater than they believed the shoe had adequate grip.

2.1.7.2 Summary

In comparison to the operating theatre workers in Paper 3, it is clear that variations in demographics exist. Primarily, the majority of kitchen workers are male (73.7%) compared to only 23.8% of those in operating theatres. The average weight, height and BMI were also greater in those working in kitchens, likely at least in part due to the difference in gender. Kitchen workers also reported working longer hours, with 83% working more than 40 hours a week on average compared to only 29% of operating theatre workers. However, the self-reported time on feet was not too different at 73±22% in operating theatre and 84±18% in kitchens, which is reflective of the objectively measured time on feet from Paper 2 of 87±8% and 70.8±19 for chefs and veterinary surgeons respectively.

In terms of musculoskeletal disorders, 96% of kitchen workers reported suffering from them, which is similar to the 91% of operating theatre workers. The average reported problems were slightly higher in each region for kitchen workers, but most noticeable in the feet where 72% of kitchen workers report pain compared to only 55% of operating theatre workers. However, in both results, the main regions of foot pain were on the plantar side. The footwear being worn was largely similar between the two professions, with the majority choosing to wear a clog type shoe. For both, cushioning was the most commonly identified factor that needed improving, although slip resistance was identified by chefs only.

Overall, this provides an initial understanding of the musculoskeletal disorders and footwear among kitchen workers. It is clear that, as in operating theatre workers, musculoskeletal disorders are a large problem in kitchen workers. It must be noted, however, that this data set was perhaps skewed to an extent towards wearers of the partner company's shoes as it coincided with the development of a 'Customer Panel' – a list of wearers to test footwear with. Therefore, it is likely that it would have been of greater interest to people who have pain at work and/or purchase their own shoes. Nevertheless, it still provides an initial understanding of the current problems and footwear used by kitchen workers.

2.2 Summary of key points from part 1

- Lower back, lower limb and foot MSD are high in workers that undertake prolonged standing, including chefs and health professionals that work in surgical settings.
- Standing can be broken down into different activities to better understand workplace activity and distinguish between jobs that are on their feet for similar periods.
- In future research, the standing tasks used should be well defined, reflect that seen in the work environment and the protocol should be long enough to induce changes (at least 3-4 hours).
- Factors that have been related to MSD during prolonged standing bouts include: vascular blood pooling, age, weight and muscular factors.
- Altering the material between the foot and the ground through either footwear or matting appears to influence comfort, biomechanical and physiological factors.
- Individual variation in activity is evident, even between those with the same job title.
- Despite being previously overlooked, the foot was the second most commonly reported region
 of pain in standing workers (in surgical settings and kitchens) with the plantar surface most
 affected.
- Footwear appears to be an influencing factor in lower limb musculoskeletal disorders.
- Workplace footwear is important to workers in surgical and catering settings, with key factors being: comfort, cushioning, fit, support, breathability and weight of the shoes.

2.2 Developing and Evaluating Footwear Solutions
2.2.1 Introduction to footwear

Part 1 of this body of work has recorded the activity demands of prolonged standing workers in kitchens and veterinary operating theatres and demonstrated that musculoskeletal disorders are affecting most of these workers, including the target markets of individuals working in operating theatres and kitchens. Paper 3 and the additional data also provide an initial understanding of footwear in the workplace.

The main physical solution considered to date in response to the demands of prolonged standing has been flooring, primarily the use of anti-fatigue mats (Paper 1). However, footwear offers significant benefits in comparison. It's portable, it can be easily individualised, and it offers a much more diverse range of factors that can be altered. For example, specific locations on the foot can be targeted with alterations in a shoe as it remains in place on the foot. A review paper indicated that adding cushioning to insoles was more effective than cushioned flooring at reducing the development of musculoskeletal disorders and improving the recovery afterwards (Speed *et al.*, 2018), suggesting their relative proximity to the foot may enhance the benefit of the material.

In the UK, the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) currently recognise prolonged standing as a risk factor for lower limb musculoskeletal disorders (Health and Safety Executive, b), although it is not identified as a risk of back pain (Health and Safety Executive, a), despite the prevailing evidence for it (Coenen *et al.*, 2017). Although anti-fatigue matting is mentioned as a potential method for reducing lower limb pain, footwear is not mentioned in relation to musculoskeletal disorders, despite potentially being more beneficial (Speed *et al.*, 2018). In terms of footwear, the main priority of the HSE is reducing slips, trips and falls (Health and Safety Executive, c).

The importance of developing footwear is highlighted in Paper 3 and the additional data with 59% of those working in operating theatres and 64% of kitchen workers suggesting their footwear could be improved. This included physical factors related to sensation such as cushioning, support, fit and the in-shoe climate as well as technical factors including the weight of the shoe, it's cost and the slip resistance. Furthermore, the foot had the second highest prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders, behind the lower back, reported by 55% of operating theatre workers and 72% of kitchen workers. In terms of the relationship between footwear and musculoskeletal disorders, footwear provides the only link between the ground and the body, and thus can alter the forces passing from one to the other. It can alter muscle activation of the lower limb and back, kinematics and plantar pressure (Murley *et al.*, 2009).

Paper 3 identified a relationship between footwear comfort and musculoskeletal disorders of the hips, knees and feet, suggesting it could be an important factor to consider. Footwear comfort has been related to lower limb injury risk in sporting and military populations (Mündermann *et al.*, 2001; Kinchington *et al.*, 2011) and has been suggested to be important for 'all movement-related injuries to the lower extremity' (Nigg *et al.*, 2015). This suggests that a comfortable pair of shoes could reduce musculoskeletal disorders in the lower extremity. Participants in Paper 3 described footwear comfort as relating to no pain or discomfort, the need for it to continue for a prolonged time and the fact that if footwear is comfortable, they would remain unaware of it throughout the working day, suggesting the need to consider longer term as well as immediate comfort.

Therefore, the second half of this PhD will focus on footwear for standing workers, with the belief that they could provide a beneficial solution and help to address the evidently large number of musculoskeletal disorders in the foot, lower limb and lower back. The dissatisfaction from consumers indicates a commercial desire for better footwear to be made available and the need to involve end-users in the development of a new product. Therefore, the following research will explore the needs of the wearer, the impact of prolonged standing on the body and the effects of footwear design factors and comfort.

2.2.2 Paper 4 commentary

Paper Title: An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments

Reference: Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2017). An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *10*(*1*). doi: 10.1186/s13047-017-0223-4.

This paper aimed to address the need for information from end-users in order to understand more about the footwear currently being used in the kitchen and operating theatre environments, footwear requirements and how current footwear could be improved. This information would help to guide the project and product development and to aid the marketing team by identifying unique selling points most important to the wearers.

The semi-structured interview approach enabled the use of broad questions related to musculoskeletal disorders and footwear. Paper 3 had already provided some of the factors important to wearers, such as comfort, cushioning and support which created the prompts to discuss these factors in more detail if not mentioned independently.

The results highlight the impact of musculoskeletal disorders on day-to-day life. Almost all participants reported pain or discomfort while at work as expected, but it also became clear that this extended into the evening and even the next day. There was an attitude that this pain was expected as part of the job and often individuals did not notice the pain until they stopped working. In terms of footwear, the results from the interviews enabled the mapping of key footwear parameters. Although from a research perspective the wearer sensations and symptoms of discomfort were of most interest, important parameters related to footwear choice and the shoe functionality in the work environment were also mapped for the first time. From a footwear manufacturing perspective, some of the footwear preferences contradicted each other such as that between quality and price as well as weight and safety.

Research Impact: Provides the first insight into important footwear factors for standing workers, as defined by the wearers.

Commercial Impact: The identification of the footwear factors most important to the wearer was shared with marketing and sales to direct content. Product development also used these when developing the new shoe. The lack of good, lasting slip resistance on footwear also in part led to a spin off project for the footwear developer to work with the factories and experts in the field to develop a new material.

Project Impact: Identified several footwear design factors that were important to the wearer and thus should be included in the final product. Footwear comfort was arguably the most important factor, with cushioning most strongly related to it, identifying it as a key design factor. The verification of the results in Paper 3 of the importance of prolonged comfort as well as initial comfort led Paper 6 to assess comfort over a working day.

RESEARCH

Journal of Foot and Ankle Research



An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments

Jennifer Anderson^{*}, Anita E. Williams and Christopher Nester

Abstract

Background: Many work places require standing for prolonged periods of time and are potentially damaging to health, with links to musculoskeletal disorders and acute trauma from workplace accidents. Footwear provides the only interaction between the body and the ground and therefore a potential means to impact musculoskeletal disorders. However, there is very limited research into the necessary design and development of footwear based on both the physical environmental constraints and the personal preference of the workers. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore workers needs for footwear in the 'standing' workplace in relation to MSD, symptoms, comfort and design.

Method: Semi-structured interviews were conducted with participants from demanding work environments that require standing for high proportions of the working day. Thematic analysis was used to analyse the results and gain an exploratory understanding into the footwear needs of these workers.

Results: Interviews revealed the environmental demands and a very high percentage of musculoskeletal disorders, including day to day discomfort and chronic problems. It was identified that when designing work footwear for standing environments, the functionality of the shoe for the environment must be addressed, the sensations and symptoms of the workers taken into account to encourage adherence and the decision influencers should be met to encourage initial footwear choice. Meeting all these criteria could encourage the use of footwear with the correct safety features and comfort. Development of the correct footwear and increased education regarding foot health and footwear choice could help to reduce or improve the effect of the high number of musculoskeletal disorders repeatedly recorded in jobs that require prolonged periods of standing.

Conclusion: This study provides a unique insight into the footwear needs of some workers in environments that require prolonged standing. This user based enquiry has provided information which is important to workplace footwear design.

Keywords: Occupational, Footwear, Shoes, Musculoskeletal, Interview, Injury, Workplace, Standing

Background

The nature of work related tasks and the design of many work places, makes standing the primary occupational posture. At least 50% of the employed population are exposed to the risks associated with prolonged standing [1, 2]. Prolonged standing, defined as standing for 50% or more of the working day [3], is associated with multiple health issues including chronic venous insufficiency, preterm birth,

* Correspondence: j.r.anderson@salford.ac.uk Centre for Health Sciences Research, University of Salford, Salford M5 4WT, UK carotid atherosclerosis and work related musculoskeletal disorders [4]. The standing work places discussed in this paper include those that are predominantly standing with minimal ambulation.

Back and lower limb musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) are particularly prevalent with risk of low back and lower extremity/ foot pain being increased 1.9 and 1.7 fold respectively in those who stand for at least half their time at work [5]. Nealy et al. [6] reported that approximately 50% of nurses suffer MSD of the foot, substantially more than the 17.4% in the general population [7]. Similarly in



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0. International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated. perioperative staff, 43% reported pain in their leg or feet, compared to 12% in the general population [8]. The majority of staff (91%) attributed the pain to their work. For the employer, MSD can be costly in terms of absence and decreased efficiency [4].

As footwear provides the only interface between the body and ground when standing, alterations in footwear have the ability to influence the forces acting through the body, posture and movement [9], as well as to provide necessary protection against foot trauma and slips. Indeed, differences in footwear designs have been shown to affect fatigue and discomfort [10, 11], muscle activation and pressure under the foot [12, 13] all of which are factors relating to MSD. Therefore, wearing the correct footwear at work has the potential to reduce the risk of MSD and acute trauma.

A recent review paper highlighted that despite the detrimental impact of prolonged standing on the body, there is a scarcity of information relating to potential solutions, particularly in terms of flooring and footwear [8]. To ensure that workers wear the most suitable footwear, it is necessary to design and develop products based on both the physical environmental constraints and the personal preference of the workers. The limited research into the requirements of footwear from a workers perspective, particularly in relation to musculoskeletal symptoms, comfort, and design provides a starting point for understanding footwear in the workplace. By better understanding the footwear needs of workers, manufacturers may be able to produce footwear that will meet the requirements of the people who wear them and the environments they are worn in. For employers, this understanding can ensure the most appropriate footwear is identified, thus meeting their duty of care and reducing the likelihood of civil action from employees. Consequently, this study aims for the first time to explore workers needs for footwear in the 'standing' workplace in relation to MSD, symptoms, comfort and design.

Method

Following ethical approval (University of Salford), participants were recruited through purposive sampling in relation to two occupations where standing is predominant and environments 'challenging' (when compared to office workers for example). The recruitment criteria was workers who work in demanding environments that require standing for the majority of the day. Multiple kitchens and veterinary hospitals were approached and within those that agreed to participate (3 kitchens, 1 veterinary hospital) staff volunteered if they wanted to take part after reading the participant information sheet. A total of 14 participants were included (kitchen staff: 8 (male: 6, female: 2), veterinary hospital theatre staff: 6 (male: 2, female: 4)). The number of participants is similar to that seen in other studies focusing on in-depth perceptions of footwear on specific conditions [14–16]. Participants provided informed consent and data collection (semi-structured, individual interviews) took place at their place of work by the researcher (JA). The interview was recorded digitally with supplementary field notes.

The participant's job role, weekly working hours, time in job and type of shoes worn were recorded. The questions were non-specific to allow participants to talk about what was most relevant to them, but included their experiences and ideas of good/bad footwear features. Prompts were given during the interview where necessary. A list of questions and prompts can be seen (Table 1).

The words that are regularly used to describe work footwear from a manufacturer's point of view such as 'comfortable', 'supportive' and 'cushioned' were explored with each participant in relation to meaning and importance.

All interviews were transcribed verbatim by the researcher (JA). Thematic analysis was conducted in line with that described by Attride-Stirling [17]. The results were reviewed by a second researcher (AW) in order to confirm and agree meaning and interpretation.

Results

Participant's information was recorded at the beginning of the interview (Table 2). Basic and organising themes were grouped into a global theme of 'footwear needs' shown in Fig. 1. Table 3 displays the number of individuals that discussed each issue.

Chefs worked an average of 50 ± 8 h a week and time in work ranged from 1 to 17 years (average = 7 years). Veterinary hospital staff worked on average 40 ± 6 h per week and time in work ranged from 3 to 37 years (average = 17 years). Both environments consisted of hard flooring throughout. The chefs prepared, cooked and presented food predominantly around kitchen counters/ cookers. Veterinary workers were based standing around operating tables during surgery but also undertook inpatient care and cleaning. In both environments, tasks varied based on individual roles. All individuals purchased their own footwear.

Theme: wearer's sensations and symptoms

The sensations and symptoms of the wearer whilst wearing the shoe can be broken down into five sub themes: aches and pains, comfort, cushioning, fit and support.

Aches/ pains

Four participants mentioned aches or pains at work without prompting, despite 13 of the 14 interviewees admitting to suffering some pain whilst at work once prompted. The attitude was that discomfort and/or aches were to be expected due to the job demands, and over time you grew accustomed to it. 'After you've done it for quite a while you just sort of get on with it,'I think

The second se	
Questions	Prompt examples
Do you experience any aches/ pains during work?	Where exactly?
Do you experience any aches/pains after work?	Can you point that out to me?
Do you experience any problems with your feet?	Anywhere else?
	How bad is the pain?
	Can you explain that further?
	Can you describe the pain?
What are the good aspects of your current shoes?	What do you mean by?
What are the bad aspects of your current shoes?	Can you expand on that?
	What about the [insert part of shoe]?
Describe your perfect shoe	What do you mean by?
	What would the [insert part of shoe] be like?
How would the style of the shoe be?	What do you mean by?
	Can you expand on that?
If a shoe was described as comfortable, what would this mean to you?	What do you mean by?
If a shoe was described as supportive, what would this mean to you?	Can you expand on that?
If a shoe was described as cushioned, what would this mean to you?	

I'm just used to it by now' and 'if you're up doing stuff for that long ...things will hurt'. Working long hours, standing and walking were all attributed to aches and pains 'I'm standing for hours and hours, like 12 h days', 'after like a really long night...you really feel it, 'walking around most of the time, and running up and down the stairs a lot,' it's just from standing I think'.

Both occupations described feeling discomfort or pain in the evening after work 'After work as well. Especially if it's a long day operating, then I'll go home and be like bleurghhh' and 'at the end of a really long shift ... everything will ache' but also in the morning after a shift 'when I wake up on a Sunday morning after a Saturday night I feel like I've been wearing heels all night,' for about a year and a half getting out of bed in the morning, it would hurt' and 'if I've done a really, really long shift, the next day I feel it'. Some participants described not noticing the pain during the day, due to being particularly busy 'I don't notice it I'm just so busy'. Further, some describe working through the pain 'you just get over it and carry on,' After you've done it for quite a while you just sort of get on with it.'

Back pain was regularly mentioned with one chef stating 'everyone else who works here has a lot of back pain

Male/ Female	Job role	Years in job	Hours/week	Footwear description	Footwear make
Female	Commis Chef	1.5	50	Leather shoe with steel toe cap	Steel Lites
Male	Head chef	15	52.5	Clog, leather upper, cork footbed	Birkenstock
Male	Apprentice chef	1	50	Leather shoe with steel toe cap	-
Male	Sous chef	17	52.5	Leather clogs	Abeba
Male	Chef de Partie	2	52.5	PU clog (cork footbed)	Birkenstock
Female	Kitchen assistant	11.5	31.5	EVA clog	-
Male	Chef de Partie	1.5	50	Clog, synthetic upper	Dr. Brinkman
Male	Pastry chef	5	60	Clog, microfiber upper	Abeba
Female	Veterinary Surgeon	11	45	EVA clog	Toffeln
Male	Veterinary Opthalmologist	37	32	Chelsea boot	-
Female	Veterinary Nurse	32	37.5	EVA clog	Crocs
Female	Veterinary Nurse	3	37.5	EVA clog	Crocs
Male	Veterinary Surgeon	14	50	Leather upper clog	-
Female	Veterinary Nurse	3	38.5	Leather upper clog	Clarks

Table 2 Participant job and footwear information



problems'. In vets this was generally attributed to long hours standing, particularly 'if I do a lot of surgery'. The ache from standing stationary and the ache after work were described as: 'you just get that chronic ache that kind of builds up and then afterwards you just get that kind of dull ache'. The shin, calves, knees and feet were also areas described as aching 'just like my calves and my feet ache, 'tends to be my feet and sometimes yeah in my legs actually, 'Knees, feet, 'knees sometimes'. One veterinary worker mentioned 'I've got plantar fasciitis' whilst two chefs complained of shin splints 'I've had shin splints for probably... 5 years'. Being focused on the job was a key reason for not noticing aches or pains until after work 'I don't notice it I'm just so busy'. There was also a belief by some that aches and pains weren't affected by the footwear 'I think I could be wearing any shoes and it would still hurt'.

Comfort

The word 'comfortable' was used to describe the ideal shoe 'it would have to be comfortable'. There was a need for both immediate comfort 'Straight away they felt really comfy' and long term comfort 'Comfort over long hours is the main thing'. Further to this, participants were asked what the word comfortable meant to them. A lack of pain or discomfort was described 'they don't hurt you in any way ', 'I guess like ... not discomfort' as well as not having to think about the shoe 'it means that I don't really notice them'. Comfortable shoes were also described as being able to 'wear them anytime anywhere and you just don't really mind because they're comfy'.

Cushioning

Comfort definitions were strongly entwined to that of cushioning, with quotes including 'cushions your foot' and 'comfortable makes you think of like a pillow'. Similarly, when asked to explain what the word cushioning meant, many participants mentioned the word comfort 'Cushion is... even same as comfort,' Just what gives it comfort' and similarly a lack of pain 'it won't hurt when you put it on'. Again, comparisons to slippers and pillows were given 'walking on pillows'. Suggestions that cushioning related to being 'bouncy and springy' were given 'when you walk, you feel like you have a bounce'. One participant stated a cushioned shoe 'conforms to your foot a bit more'.

Hard shoes were described negatively 'It's pretty hard it's not comfortable', 'not very forgiving on your foot' and 'flat and hard and you can feel like the sole'. On the other hand, cushioned shoes were thought to 'conform

Table 3	Break down	of themes	with r	number	of	participant v	who
mentione	ed them wit	h or witho	ut pror	mpting			

	Mentioned without prompt	Mentioned with prompt	Not discussed
Shoe functionality			
Grip	11	2	1
Heat/ Breathability	10	4	0
Durability	9	0	5
Ease to don/doff	9	0	5
Fit	7	1	6
Safety	6	5	3
Weight	6	2	6
Individualising	3	0	11
Sensations and Sympt	oms		
Comfort	12	2	0
Support	6	8	0
Cushioned	5	9	0
Aches	4	10	0
Decision Influencers			
Cleaning	11	0	3
Price	10	0	4
Change/ choice	4	0	0
Style	3	9	2

to your foot a bit more' and also decrease the impact walking ...'the impact isn't like as hard'. In chefs some described a negative relationship between cushioning and durability 'the problem with like really cushioned shoes is it wears away pretty quickly'. One participant suggested 'some bits of the sole need to be more cushioned than others perhaps... more cushioning in the heel'. Suggestions were made for a 'middle ground' between a hard and soft shoe.

Support

Numerous definitions were given to the word support in relation to footwear 'like the ankle support,' fitted and it would be enclosed' and 'supports the arch of the foot'. Support also had connotations to comfort 'support is just like comfort,' have to be comfortable so I suppose it has got be quite supportive of your foot'. The idea of spreading the foot pressure was also broached 'if your arch is well supported, it kind of spreads the pressure better'. Finally, some suggested it would have a beneficial impact on the rest of the body 'meant to stop you having back pains and leg pains' and it 'effects your whole posture'.

In terms of underfoot support, shoes with a flat footbed were negatively reviewed 'If you've got a flat shoe it kind of puts a lot of pressure on the wrong bits of your foot,' my trainers before were so painful because they were just like flat'. A preference was given to having arch support 'I think they should have like all the support inside – like arch support and toe bits,' it needs to support the flat part of my foot, like there needs to be a little arch in there'.

Fit

The main factor mentioned in relation to fit was that the footwear must remain on the foot. 'It needs to fit. ...needs to stay on my foot' and 'it needs to like fit well and my foot stays in the shoe'. Shoes that were loose on the foot were matched with a feeling of being unsafe 'I didn't feel safe in them because I thought they might just like fall off'. One method of keeping loose shoes on the foot was to 'curl your toes a bit as well to keep them on'.

Two participants mentioned having wide feet as a problem 'I've got wide feet so... they have to fit my feet'. One participant had problems purchasing the right size due to companies only selling whole sizes 'because the sizes are not halves... I've got to get a 10 or 11 so have to wear an insole'.

Theme: shoe functionality and environmental suitability

Shoe functionality and environmental suitability relates to any functions of the shoe and how they relate to the environment and job demands. It is comprised of 8 sub themes: grip, durability, safety, weight, breathability, ease of donning and doffing and individualisation.

Grip

Grip was a key factor, with 11 out of the 14 participants commenting unprompted on this theme. The high importance of it was emphasised in quotes, e.g. 'that [slip resistance] is like probably at number one,' the best ones have the best grip... the kitchen's really slippery so you need grip'. Participants either described the underside grip on their shoe as being adequate 'good treads – I've never skidded over in them' or as being below their requirement 'they don't have much grip on the sole'. Some did not trust shoes marketed as slip resistant '... because a lot of shoes say they are [slip resistant] and they totally aren't'. A veterinary worker suggested an issue with the front of the foot catching on the floor 'I tend to catch the front of my toe and then I might go flying forward'.

Both vet and chef participants preferred to have grip on the inside of the shoe. 'You need to have good grip inside them,' if you get more grip inside it's even better, even faster'. Whilst another stated 'they're easy to get wet and slippery on the inside' as a negative about their current shoe.

Durability

Durability aligned with comments on grip, with suggestions that the grip wore out before any other footwear feature. This was supported by quotes such as 'the grip doesn't last very long' and 'the sole wears out really quickly' and it was identified as a safety issue 'The soles wear down really quickly and they just become like flat... which is really bad because you can just slip'. Grip durability was considered a point for future improvement 'If there was any way that you could change how long the grip lasts'. Asides from grip, robustness of footwear as a whole was important. 'They're just good and durable' was a positive whereas 'they fell apart quite quickly' and 'they probably lasted less time than these would' were negatives.

Safety

Toe protection was mentioned by chefs as a safety factor. Five (of 8) chefs thought safety toe caps should be used 'I think that's safer because I'm a bit clumsy – prone to dropping stuff', 'the safety bothers me, because anything can happen' and 'ideally it would have a toe cap'. However, the remaining three chefs did not feel a toe cap was necessary 'I have never ever heard of someone to drop anything on their foot that's going to like crush their foot'. This safety feature was of no concern to vets although one did state that 'you've got to have toes covered so they don't get trodden on'. Chefs identified further safety problems in their environments including knifes, pans and hot oil - 'I've seen someone drop oil and it kinda melted the shoe into their foot'.

Weight

Weight was deemed an issue by chefs. 'I don't think they can be too heavy because it makes your day harder if you've got really heavy shoes on' and 'heavy shoes aren't easy to walk around in'. In particular, some suggested heavy shoes became an issue as a result of constant moving 'I don't like anything heavy on my feet because I have to be up and down, up and standing... so heaviness will be a problem' and 'lighter is better... because here we do a lot of moving up and down, up and down' One participant was particularly against heavy shoes 'Heavy shoes is not an option for walking in the kitchen. No, I say no.' A toe cap was considered heavy and excessive in weight, with one advocating it was not worth it 'for the extra weight'.

Breathability

Heat and footwear breathability was considered to be a problem for both vets and chefs. Chef's in particular described the environment as an issue to which increased breathability was a solution. 'yeah breathable, it's so hot in the kitchen anyway... it was like 35 degrees the other night...we were all dying it was so hot,' it's in the kitchen and the kitchen's hot' and 'you need air in the kitchen because it's warm'. Hot environments caused sweaty and odorous feet 'my feet sweated a lot in those shoes and I used to get very itchy feet from that,' 'make your feet smell... really bad' and 'I don't like hot and sweaty feet'. Some participants removed their feet from their footwear to cool them 'I can just take out my foot sometimes' and 'I quite often take my feet out'. A need for improved ventilation was recognised 'maybe ones with some like breathing holes' and 'more ventilation would be quite nice'. An open back was also a positive as it would 'be more airy' and 'quite good for keeping it cool'. However, both holes and an open backed shoe became a problem if the environment became wet: 'if I had holes ... I'd have soaking wet feet in 5 min'.

Ease of donning and doffing

An open backed shoe also linked to the theme of donning and doffing the shoes efficiently, which was mentioned by nine participants. It was a positive feature of current footwear 'very easy to put on and take off', 'they're convenient to put on as they just slip on' and a requirement in the ideal footwear 'something that's easy to put on and take off, 'being able to slip them on... there's no hassle'. Vets identified that shoes should be 'easy to slip on and off so you can get into theatre' but it was equally important for chefs 'they're convenient to put on as they just slip on'. Laces were seen as 'a bit of a pain' and it was easier not to 'undo laces or flap around'. Fastenings of any kind were deemed negative by most 'I'd definitely have like clog kind of things because I don't really like lace ups or Velcro'. An open back was seen to increase the 'the ease of getting them on and off quickly'.

Individualising

Individualisation of shoes in relation to fit and comfort was mentioned by 3 participants. 'I think they have got to be tailored to you'. Different reasons for this were given. 'Everyone has a different body, different feet...if you had like a foot analyst ... and they worked out how we should have the shoes, like if people had low arches'. One proposed that this would reduce or eliminate the adjustment period to a pair of shoes 'almost prescription... so you don't have to let it mould to your foot'. Another stated that it would 'make it more comfortable... if your shoe fits better, then it will lessen the chance of injury'.

Theme: factors that influence footwear choice

These are the aspects that would influence the initial choosing of the footwear and can be broken down into four basic themes: cleaning, style, price and change/ choice of footwear.

Cleaning

Cleaning was one of the most important factors relating to work footwear for both vets and chefs. Chef's concern was 'if you drop food on them' whereas vets were worried about 'blood, contamination'. The need for work footwear to be 'easily cleanable' and able to go in the washing machine were important factors. It was also important to be able to clean the inside of the shoe 'the cleaning of the inside of the shoe...there's odours you know'. Velcro or laces were a problem for chef's 'because if you drop food on them, it's all in the laces and that's just grim' and also to food getting stuck in the grip on the bottom of the shoe...different shoes pick up different amounts of dirt'.

Style

The majority of individuals acknowledged that their work shoes and uniform were not attractive, 'We always look fairly ridiculous, 'they make your feet look huge' and 'I wouldn't wear them out [of work]'.However, all but one participant stated that the style was not of great importance with one chef stating 'It doesn't matter how it looks' and a veterinary nurse similarly saying 'look doesn't really bother me'. Style was secondary to the function of the shoe: 'I'm not too worried about the style, just about the comfort for me' and 'I'm more of a function over appearance'. Chefs and veterinary nurses outside of operating theatres expressed a preference towards black shoes 'everyone wears black' and 'practice protocol is black shoes' whereas inside the operating theatre the protocol was to wear white. 'We tend to have white in theatre and other colours for out, just so you know the difference. So you know what's clean and what's not.' One chef showed preference for a specific shoe brand 'all the chefs in London had them' and 'they're pretty trendy at the moment so I like them as a brand' but also acknowledged 'no one really cares that much'.

Price

Price was an essential factor in work footwear, with 10 participants mentioning it unprompted. When asked about their current footwear, one stated 'I didn't like the price'. There was a reluctance to spend money on new work shoes 'cost... that's why I haven't gone out and bought any more' and 'you go through so many shoes, you don't want to be spending so much money on a pair of shoes'. However, there was a trade off with price and durability with a willingness to spend more money on a pair of shoes if they were going to last and be of a higher quality. 'It's cost effective at the end of the day. If it's going to last you know, twice as long as these, I'm happy with that,' I'd probably spend a little bit more if I knew that they were going to last' and 'I would pay a bit more

for a decent quality shoe'. Cheap shoes were described as inadequate 'not made to your feet' and 'they skidded everywhere'.

Change/ choice of footwear

Some described having found a good shoe and wanting to stick with it 'I just kept with them just because they fit my feet' and 'I've worn that sort of shoe for years and years'. Conversely one participant was unable to find the right shoe and described changing his shoes regularly 'I got different shoe, different insoles so I got a lot of different shoes' which was reinforced by another participant 'It takes a good few years to work out what shoes actually work for you'. When choosing a shoe, there appeared to be a desire to fit in with everyone else and shoes were often purchased based on recommendations. 'I just wore them because everybody else wore them'.

Discussion

This is the first study to provide a unique insight into the footwear needs of workers in prolonged standing environments from a qualitative perspective. The footwear needs of vets and chefs can be broken into three key themes: sensations and symptoms of the worker; the function and suitability of the shoe for the environment and factors that influence footwear choice. Creating footwear that workers will adhere to wearing with the correct safety features and ergonomic design is a possible mechanism for injury prevention as it could improve safety [18] and reduce MSD [12, 19, 20]. Therefore this research has important implications for footwear design and manufacturing.

There was a high proportion of work related MSD reported (93%) that workers associated with the long hours on their feet. In agreement to previous studies that also found high rates of MSD in jobs requiring prolonged standing, the main areas affected were the back and lower extremities [5, 21, 22]. MSD were described as being obscured by occupational demands and participants identified a need to work through these aches and pains. This could cause conditions to develop and worsen as the summation of wear and tear from prolonged standing over time can result in chronic issues such as joint degeneration and chronic venous disease [4, 8, 23]. Furthermore, the reluctance to mention MSD in the workplace and the perception that they were an expected part of the job could reduce the chance of professional help being sought. Workers were affected both during and after work as well as the day following a long shift, signifying that quality of life outside of work could also be impacted.

Despite some beliefs that MSD are independent of the footwear worn, research indicates there is some potential to reduce aches, pains and feelings of fatigue through alterations in footwear or orthotic design [12, 19, 20, 24]. However, nothing specific to work place environments has been produced thus far. A few indications were made to the importance of footbed shape by relating flat footwear to an increase in pain and demonstrating a preference towards arch support. The literature supports this as a medial arch support increases the contact area and redistributes the plantar pressure of the foot [12]. However, due to the mix of beliefs regarding the link between MSD and footwear, educating workers on how different shoe features may impact on specific complaints could be required to avoid poor footwear choices, and this could include when to seek help from a health professional.

The work environments necessitate distinct footwear requirements. The specific flooring in both environments and high level of fluids result in a need for slip resistance. This was identified by almost all of the participants in this study as being of primary importance and has been demonstrated in previous studies to reduce slip rates by more than 50% [18]. Despite some misgivings about suitability of the slip properties of their current shoes, many participants still wore the footwear they deemed unsuitable. Due to the strong link between subjective and objective measures of friction [25], it is expected that use of a shoe that is perceived to have inadequate slip resistance would be detrimental to safety. Problems with the durability of the footwear grip was identified, and therefore it can be recommended that manufacturers should work to improve this or educate as to when footwear should be replaced. This is important for both safety and to align with criteria concerning generalised 'durability' and value of the footwear. Footwear that incorporated a method to identify when slip resistance reached an unsafe level could promote safety.

Heat is also an environmental concern for both vets and chefs. High temperatures were associated with hot, sweaty and odorous feet. High temperatures cause feet to sweat, creating a humid microclimate in the shoe, which results in discomfort [26] and exacerbates frictional forces that cause blisters [27]. Furthermore, sweat causes the surface of the skin to become more alkaline, promoting the development of pathogenic bacteria and fungi. As a solution to the discomfort, workers in both environments reported removing their feet from the footwear in order to cool them down, consequently exposing the foot to hazards. Therefore, it is clear that manufacturers must develop methods to maintain cooler in-shoe climates to improve comfort and reduce the risk of foot conditions developing.

The design of the shoe also influences the temperature, with an open back identified as much preferred due to the circulation of air it allows alongside the ease of donning/ doffing the shoes. However, an open back and ventilation holes were unfavourable when the environment became wet. It is not always possible to create a perfect shoe for all environments and therefore features must be prioritised, or customised [28]. For these environments, allowing air into the shoe was the primary issue and therefore we would recommend prioritising the open backed shoe. However, feelings of being unsafe were promoted from shoes that did not remain on the foot. If the shoe did not hold the foot, workers had to resort to physical methods to hold the shoe on. Curling the toes whilst walking, a mechanism that is also adopted when wearing flip flops [29, 30], was used to hold the shoe in place. This could alter the way in which workers move as well as how the muscles are activating consequently impacting injury risk. A strap on an open backed shoe could improve the stability of the shoe on the

foot whilst maintaining breathability. Fit was an important footwear characteristic that was mentioned in its own right as well as in relation to comfort, donning and doffing of shoes and footwear individualisation. A good fitting shoe was given as a reason for not changing footwear, demonstrating its overall importance to footwear comfort and choice. Previously, it has been shown that fit is an important influencer of comfort, with other factors only influencing comfort when the fit was correct [31]. In particular, it was suggested that people with wide or narrow feet had issues purchasing good fitting footwear and there was a need for half sizes to improve the fit. Manufacturers can also play a role in guiding individuals to the correct size footwear, be it through online technology or in retail shops.

Initial and lasting comfort are both essential in work footwear. There is a similar high priority of footwear comfort for mail delivery, construction and care home workers with some workers choosing comfortable footwear over that with the correct safety features [28]. Comfort is related to the footwear, the task or activity and the characteristics of the individual worker such as skeletal alignment [32-35]. This highlights a potential requirement of different footwear for different occupations and reinforces that one shoe will not fit all. Comfort had positive associations with support, cushioning and the idea of footwear individualisation. Individualisation of the footwear or footbed shape was proposed to improve comfort and reduce injury. The literature reinforces that footwear customisation can enhance fit, comfort and prevent injury [36]. Whilst mass customisation would be extremely costly, there could be the option of using a best-matched fit method in which several options are made available and the individual worker chooses the most suitable. This could either be done for the whole shoe or just the footbed or insole and could be a cost-effective way to enhance comfort, meet customer desires [37] and perhaps reduce MSD.

There are a number of factors that can also influence footwear choice. It must be easy to clean and therefore have no fastening on the top that dirt can

stick to. There is also a reluctance to spend money on work shoes and indeed it has previously been highlighted that leisure footwear is given higher financial priority than work footwear [28]. This study identified a price-quality trade off in which more money would be spent on a product if it was durable and of high quality. The perception of the factors involved in this trade off could be fundamental in terms of communicating the features of footwear, its benefits, and how this value proposition is proportional to price. Style is a secondary concern to the shoe function and comfort. This differentiates the needs of work footwear from that of leisure wear, where it has been suggested that style is preferential to comfort [38] and provides manufacturers an element of leeway in the shoe design. Chefs were more concerned with shoe appearance than vets, with mention of desirable brands. In these environments, general protocol dictates white or black shoes. It is also worth noting that the visual appearance of the shoe conveys perceptions about the shoe, including that relating to its function, performance and ergonomic quality, which could affect the purchase of the product [39, 40]. In this manner, footwear can be designed to match the consumers perceived needs and thus increase the chance of a worker choosing the shoe.

User preferences for work footwear and concerns regarding work related MSD have been largely ignored and this is the first study that we are aware of that focuses on user preferences for footwear in prolonged standing environments. Therefore this research is novel and provides a starting point from which the wider issues can be investigated. The use of open questions allowed identification of topic areas that were important to the participants. Using a small study sample of 14 participants decreases the generalisability of the results although this was not the aim of the study and the study aim of gaining an in-depth understanding from a few was met. Further, respondent bias could result from the self-volunteering nature of participant selection. The outcome that some preferences are work environment specific means that other environments might require separate investigation. The mixed group of participants from different environments in this study could also be a limitation, although they both met the purposive sampling criteria of standing for prolonged periods. In the future, a larger study could be used to investigate any differences between the two groups and to quantify any relationship between footwear and MSD..

Conclusion

When designing the ideal work footwear for standing environments, the functionality of the shoe for the environment must be addressed, the sensations and symptoms of the workers taken into account to encourage adherence and the decision influencers should be met to encourage initial footwear choice. If any of these criteria are not met, workers are forced to choose based on favoured criteria, which can result in a decrease in safety features, comfort or both and could potentially lead to MSD or injury. Health professionals should take this into account when prescribing footwear or orthotics and footwear manufacturers must aim to meet all criteria. Future research is necessary to understand the link between footwear choice, work demands and MSD. The correct footwear and education regarding foot health and footwear choice could improve working conditions for workers and perhaps impact the high number of MSD repeatedly recorded in jobs that require prolonged periods of standing.

Abbreviation

MSD: Musculoskeletal disorders

Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

Fundina

This work was supported by the Knowledge Transfer Partnership programme (KTP0009994) which was co-funded by Toffeln Limited, UK and Innovate UK

Availability of data and materials

Please contact author for data requests.

Authors contributions

JA collected data, performed the initial data analysis and drafted the manuscript. AW provided a secondary agreement of results. All authors read, commented on and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Ethical approval was gained (University of Salford, HSCR 16–09) and consent for participation was given by all participants prior to study commencement.

Consent for publication

All authors have approved this paper for submission. This work is original and has not been published elsewhere, nor is it currently under consideration for publication elsewhere.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

_

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Received: 29 June 2017 Accepted: 23 August 2017 Published online: 30 August 2017

References

- . O'Neill R. Standing problem. Hazards magazine. 2005;91:1-29.
- Parent-Thirion A, Vermeylen G, van Houten G, Lyly-Yrjänäinen M, Biletta I, Cabrita J. Fifth European working conditions survey. Dublin. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living Working Conditions Ireland. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2012, p. 33.
- Tomei F, Baccolo TP, Tomao E, Palmi S, Rosati MV. Chronic venous disorders and occupation. Am J Ind Med. 1999;36:653–65.

Anderson et al. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research (2017) 10:41

- Halim I, Omar AR. A review on health effects associated with prolonged standing in the industrial workplace. International Journal of Research and Reviews in Applied Science. 2011;8:14–21.
- Andersen JH, Haahr JP, Frost P. Risk factors for more severe regional musculoskeletal symptoms: a 2 year prospective study of a general working population. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:1355–64.
- Nealy R, McCaskill C, Conaway MR, Burns SM. The aching feet of nurses an exploratory study. Medsurg Nurs. 2012;21
- Hill CL, Gill TK, Menz HB, Taylor AW. Prevalence and correlates of foot pain in a population-based study: the North West Adelaide health study. J Foot Ankle Res. 2008;1:2.
- 8. Meijsen P, Knibbe HJ. Work-related musculoskeletal disorders of
- perioperative personnel in the Netherlands. AORN J. 2007;86:193–208.
 Anderson J, Williams AE, Nester CJ: A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring. Musculoskeletal Care 2016; doi:10.1002/msc.1174.
- Lin CL, Wang MJ, Drury CG. Biomechanical, physiological and psychophysical evaluations of clean room boots. Ergonomics. 2007;50:481–96.
- Orlando AR, King PM. Relationship of demographic variables on perception of fatigue and discomfort following prolonged standing under various flooring conditions. J Occup Rehabil. 2004;14:63–76.
- Chiu MC, Wang MJ. Professional footwear evaluation for clinical nurses. Appl Ergon. 2007;38:133–41.
- Kersting UG, Janshen L, Bohm H, Morey-Klapsing GM, Bruggemann GP. Modulation of mechanical and muscular load by footwear during catering. Ergonomics. 2005;48:380–98.
- 14. Naidoo S, Anderson S, Mills J, Parsons S, Breeden S, Bevan E, Edwards C, Otter S. "I could cry, the amount of shoes I can't get into": A qualitative exploration of the factors that influence retail footwear selection in women with rheumatoid arthritis. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research. 2011;4:21.
- Williams AE, Nester CJ, Ravey MI. Rheumatoid arthritis patients' experiences of wearing therapeutic footwear - A qualitative investigation. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2007;8:104.
- Paton JS, Roberts A, Bruce GK, Marsden J. Patients' Experience of therapeutic footwear whilst living at risk of neuropathic diabetic foot ulceration: an interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA). Journal of foot and ankle research. 2014;7:16.
- Attride-Stirling J. Thematic networks: an analytic tool for qualitative research. Qual Res. 2016;1:385–405.
- Verma SK, Chang WR, Courtney TK, Lombardi DA, Huang Y-H, Brennan MJ, Mittleman MA, Ware JH, Perry MJ. A prospective study of floor surface, shoes, floor cleaning and slipping in US limited-service restaurant workers. Occup Environ Med. 2011;68:279–85.
- Gell N, Werner RA, Hartigan A, Wiggermann N, Keyserling WM. Risk factors for lower extremity fatigue among assembly plant workers. Am J Ind Med. 2011;54:216–23.
- King PM. A comparison of the effects of floor mats and shoe in-soles on standing fatigue. Appl Ergon. 2002;33:477–84.
- Messing K, Tissot F, Stock SR. Lower limb pain, standing, sitting and walking: the importance of freedom to adjust one's posture. Proceedings of the 16th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association. Maastricht, Netherlands Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier; 2006.
- Sterud T, Tynes T. Work-related psychosocial and mechanical risk factors for low back pain: a 3-year follow-up study of the general working population in Norway. Occup Environ Med. 2013;70:296–302.
- Bergan JJ, Schmid-Schönbein GW, Smith PDC, Nicolaides AN, Boisseau MR, Eklof B. Chronic venous disease. N Engl J Med. 2006;488–98.
- Cambron JA, Duarte M, Dexheimer J, Solecki T. Shoe orthotics for the treatment of chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled pilot study. J Manip Physiol Ther. 2011;34:254–60.
- Morio C, Bourrelly A, Sissler L, Gueguen N. Perceiving slipperiness and grip: A meaningful relationship of the shoe-ground interface. Gait & Posture. 2017;51:58–63.
- Irzmańska E, Dutkiewicz JK, Irzmański R. New approach to assessing comfort of use of protective footwear with a textile liner and its impact on foot physiology. Text Res J. 2014;84:728–38.
- Reynolds K, Darrigrand A, Roberts D, Knapik J, Pollard J, Duplantis K, Jones B. Effects of an antiperspirant with emollients on foot-sweat accumulation and blister formation while walking in the heat. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1995;33:626–30.

- Norlander A, Miller M, Gard G. Perceived risks for slipping and falling at work during wintertime and criteria for a slip-resistant winter shoe among Swedish outdoor workers. Safety science. 2015;73:52–61.
- Price C, Graham-Smith P, Jones R. A comparison of plantar pressures in a standard flip-flop and a FitFlop using bespoke pressure insoles. Footwear Science. 2013;5:111–9.
- Zhang X, Paquette MR, Zhang S. A comparison of gait biomechanics of flipflops, sandals, barefoot and shoes. Journal of foot and ankle research. 2013;6:1.
- Miller JE, Nigg BM, Liu W, Stefanyshyn DJ. Influence of foot, leg and shoe characteristics on subjective comfort. Foot Ankle Int. 2000;21:9.
- Alemany S, González JC, García AC, Olaso J, Montero J, Chirivella C, Prat J, Sánchez J. A novel approach to define customized functional design solution from user information. Hong Kong: 3rd Interdisciplinary World Congress on Mass Customization and Personalization; 2005. p. 15.
- Goonetilleke RS: Designing for Comfort: A Footwear Application. Computer-Aided Ergonomics and Safety Conference 2001.
- Miller JE, Nigg BM, Liu W, Stefanyshyn DJ, Nurse MA. Influence of Foot, Leg and Shoe Characteristics on Subjective Comfort. Foot Ankle Int. 2000;21:759–67.
- Mündermann A, Stefanyshyn DJ, Nigg BM. Relationship between footwear comfort of shoe inserts and anthropometric and sensory factors. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001;33:1939–45.
- Salles AS, Gyi DE. Delivering personalised insoles to the high street using additive manufacturing. Int J Comput Integr Manuf. 2013;26:386–400.
 Wang C, Tseng M, Mass customisation and footwear. In: Goonetilleke RS.
- Wang C, Tseng M. Mass customisation and footwear. In: Goonetilleke RS, editor The Science of Footwear. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2012;625–642.
- Franciosa P, Gerbino S, Lanzotti A, Silvestri L. Improving comfort of shoe sole through experiments based on CAD-FEM modeling. Med Eng Phys. 2013;35:36–46.
- Crilly N, Moultrie J, Clarkson PJ. Seeing things: consumer response to the visual domain in product design. Des Stud. 2004;25:547–77.
- Riddle DL, Pulisic M, Pidcoe P, Johnson RE. Risk Factors for Plantar Fasciitis: A Matched Case-Control Study. J Bone Joint Surg. 2003;85A:872–7.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal

() BioMed Central

- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Page 10 of 10

2.2.4 Paper 5 commentary

Paper Title: Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear.

Reference: Anderson, J., Nester, C. and Williams, A. (2018). Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear. *Footwear Science*, *10*(*3*), pp. 189–201. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2018.1538262.

Open access version available: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/49245

With more information about the participants needs from footwear, the next step was to start to test differences in footwear over prolonged standing tasks. Footwear cushioning was chosen for multiple reasons. Firstly, the narrative review in paper 1 identified that flooring hardness seemed to impact musculoskeletal disorders so it was likely a similar effect could be seen in footwear. Secondly, it was identified as one of the most important factors by wearers in papers 3 and 4, interlinked strongly with descriptions of comfort. Thirdly, from a footwear manufacturing perspective it was a cost-effective solution. Making single variations to footwear is not easy for manufacturers. At the time of making the test footwear, the partner company focused on EVA injected footwear. This is made from a single mould into which the material is injected and then expands on release. These moulds are expensive at approximately £10,000 per shoe size. However, the factory could create footwear varying in hardness without the need to purchase multiple costly moulds.

However, altering the material hardness in the production process was trickier than initially thought. Although the factory could to an extent edit the hardness of the EVA by blowing different levels of air into it, this could only vary by a certain amount for a given material composition. Initially the aim was to test three levels of footwear hardness, the current footwear, one softer and one harder version. However, when it was produced, the softer footwear was not any softer than the normal shoe, leaving only two hardness variations. Although limiting the number of conditions, this did mean that the testing time could be lengthened, which on reflection was beneficial.

The results from this paper add to the limited literature to date on the impact of prolonged standing on biomechanics, particularly for plantar pressure for which no previous recording could be found. Recording increases in discomfort, calf circumference, plantar pressure, kinematics and kinetics, 3 hours of standing was enough to cause measurable biomechanical changes. Between footwear differences were few, but there was a reduced rate of lower back discomfort development seen when wearing the softer shoes and variations in plantar pressure. Although plantar pressure values were generally higher to start with in the hard shoe, they increased at a slower rate than the

softer shoe, further verifying the need to consider footwear over a longer period to determine its comfort. Most importantly, this study identified there was not one single preferred shoe, with some individuals preferring the harder and some the softer shoe with an indication that this could relate to anthropometric factors such as height as well as to biomechanical factors such as medial midfoot contact area.

Research Impact: Footwear for prolonged standing that changed in just a single variable rather than testing multiple different commercially available shoes was novel, especially over the length of time used. This was also the first identification that footwear for standing might need to be customised in order to optimise comfort and the first attempt to record plantar pressure in the lab over prolonged standing periods to map how it changes with time.

Commercial Impact: Being able to demonstrate the impact of long hours of work on the body was important for presenting information to chefs and individuals investing in the company. Furthermore, it provided knowledge that striving for the 'perfect' hardness was not a path to follow as it is not the same for everyone.

Project Impact: Identification of the need to provide a range of cushioning levels to improve footwear comfort and to focus on long term footwear comfort due to the changing relationship between the foot and shoe over time.

2.2.6 Paper 6 commentary

Paper Title: Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work.

Reference: Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2020). Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *13*(*42*). doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-020-00402-2.

With the identification from paper 5 that preference for footwear hardness or cushioning varies per person, it was clear that in order to improve comfort a choice of underfoot cushioning/ hardness would need to be offered. The decision to focus on comfort rather than biomechanical factors was made for several reasons. Firstly, the changes in individual biomechanical factors were broad and inconsistent between individuals thus optimising these would not be likely with a single shoe. Furthermore, research in running and military populations had both found that footwear preference varied between individuals, with some initial data suggesting footwear comfort, rather than a single optimised shoe were linked to injury risk. This added more weight to the idea that aiming for the 'perfect shoe' and particularly, the 'perfect cushioning' was not a realistic target.

Commercially, it was decided that any variations would have to be done through an insole. Having a range of shoes would mean extra cost in terms of storage and perhaps an inability to hit minimum order quantities set by factories. Investigating cushioning under specific regions of the foot was of interest due to the variations in plantar pressure changes. As the medial midfoot was a key region for comfort based on the plantar pressure in Paper 5, this was separated from the rest of the insole to create the two segments, the heel/forefoot section and the medial midfoot.

Part one of the paper identified the preference for underfoot cushioning predominantly varied under the medial midfoot, and the company developed a range of insoles accordingly. However, as sales were predominantly made online, through distributors or through employers it was generally not possible for end-users to try each insole first to determine which was the most comfortable. Hence part two of the study combined a trial of the new shoes and insoles in the workplace with the assessment of longer-term comfort (over one day) and development of subjective questions to aid the identification of the most comfortable option. **Research Impact:** Identified that variation in cushioning preference is predominantly under the medial arch, not the whole foot. Further, it provides the first insight that longer-term comfort can vary from short term comfort and attempts to identify if a participant's own recordings of their feet and footwear preference can be used to identify the preferred shoes.

Commercial Impact: From this paper, the final product was derived. A range of three insoles to fit inside a new shoe. It also provided a sales tool for guiding individuals to the insole that is likely most comfortable to them, which was vital considering most end-users could not try the shoes on prior to purchase.

Project Impact: This paper used the information learnt throughout the project and previous publications, both in terms of methodologies and footwear factors to develop and test the final product in the real world.

Anderson et al. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-020-00402-2

RESEARCH

Journal of Foot and Ankle Research

Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work

(2020) 13:42



Open Access

Jennifer Anderson^{*}⁽⁰⁾, Anita E. Williams and Chris Nester

Abstract

Background: Appropriate footwear is important for those who stand for prolonged periods of time at work, enabling them to remain comfortable, healthy and safe. Preferences for different footwear cushioning or hardness are often person specific and one shoe or insole will not be the choice for all. The aim of this study was to develop a range of insole options to maintain comfort during long periods of standing at work and test insole material preferences in the workplace.

Methods: The study consisted of two parts. Part one evaluated 9 insoles of the same geometry that varied in hardness under 2 different plantar regions (n = 34). Insole preference, plantar pressure and selected anthropometric foot measures were taken. Three insole designs based on the most preferred options were identified from this part. In part two, these three insoles were evaluated with 22 workers immediately after trying them on (1 min) and after a working day. Foot anthropometric measures and subjective questions concerning material hardness preferences and self-reported foot characteristics were used to investigate whether either had a relationship with insole preference.

Results: Part one found insole preference predominantly varied according to material hardness under the medial arch rather than the heel/forefoot. Softer material under the heel and forefoot was associated with a reduction in peak pressures in these regions (p < 0.05). The most preferred insole had lower pressures under the hallux and first metatarsal phalangeal joint, and greater pressures and contact area under the medial midfoot (p < 0.05) compared to the least preferred insole. Height and foot anthropometrics were related to insole preference.

In part two, under real world conditions, insole preference changed for 65% of participants between the immediate assessment (1 min) and after a whole workday, with dorsum height related to the latter (p < 0.05). Subjective questions for self-assessed arch height and footwear feel identified 66.7% of the insole preferences after 1 day at work, compared to 36% using immediate assessment of insole preference.

Conclusion: Preference for material hardness varies underneath the medial arch of the foot and is time dependent. Simple foot measures and questions about comfort can guide selection of preferred insoles.

Keywords: Footwear comfort, Standing, Shoes, Insoles, Arch height, Customisation, Personalisation, Occupation, Workplace

* Correspondence: j.r.anderson1@salford.ac.uk

School of Health and Society, University of Salford, Salford M5 4WT, UK



© The Author(s). 2020 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

Background

Footwear comfort is extremely important for workers spending prolonged periods of time on their feet [1-3]. Uncomfortable shoes may be rejected by workers and replaced by their own alternatives [2], potentially compromising safety in some work settings. The importance of footwear comfort is further emphasised by the relationship between footwear comfort, preference and musculoskeletal injury risk [4-6].

Although footwear comfort is subjective, complex and affected by multiple physical and psychological factors, preferred footwear can be quickly identified when a shoe is tried on [7–9]. Previous research considering footwear comfort has largely focused on running [8–10] or military recruits [5, 11]. The specificity of these populations and the associated physical activity limits the transferability to understanding footwear for workers who stand for long periods of time. Furthermore, studies of shoe and insole design frequently vary in more than one variable (e.g. changes in both insole geometry and materials), preventing an understanding of the effect of each independent design variable on footwear comfort.

Despite the limitations of previous research, material hardness, or cushioning, has been identified as a dominant factor influencing footwear comfort in running and military populations [5, 12, 13]. Qualitative research with working populations, including those undertaking prolonged standing, identify self-reported links between footwear comfort and footwear cushioning [1, 2], suggesting that material hardness is also important for these populations. Although softer insoles have been associated with greater comfort scores [10, 11], insoles rated as less comfortable by the majority are still the preferred choice for other individuals [4, 5, 14]. Indeed, our previous research identified preference variations between individuals for footwear sole hardness over 3 hrs of standing [15]. This strongly suggests that comfort and cushioning preferences are person specific. Therefore, to improve comfort, footwear solutions may need to include variations in cushioning that the wearer can choose for themselves.

For workplace footwear and online footwear purchases, it is often not possible to try footwear on and allow wearers to explore their comfort preferences. As such, other methods that might allow a person to select their preferred choice without trying any shoes on are desirable. Objective measures have been associated with footwear comfort, including person specific biomechanical variables such as plantar pressure, joint kinematics, joint kinetics, and muscle activity [8, 14], as well as body and foot arch height, foot and leg alignment, and foot sensitivity [5, 15].

Although it is not possible for a lay person to evaluate their own foot characteristics to a level comparable to a health or research professional, simple factors such as concepts of foot arch height have the potential to provide an indication of a measure since they can be visually assessed. Self-assessment could lead to improved selection of preferred footwear at the point of sale, especially for online sales. Therefore, we also consider the relationship between footwear preference and pragmatic self-assessments of foot measurements that could be presented in an online tool with no training requirements.

This study aimed to investigate the impact of insole material preferences on footwear comfort, focussing on the specific needs of those involved in long periods of standing at work. The work comprised two parts:

- (1) To investigate the impact of variations in heel/ forefoot and medial arch material hardness on insole comfort, plantar pressure and its relation to wearer characteristics to inform the development of a range of insoles.
- (2) To test the developed insoles from part one in a real-world setting and investigate the ability of wearer characteristics and subjective questions to predict the selection of the preferred insole.

Part 1: methods

Aim: To investigate the impact of variations in heel/forefoot and medial arch material hardness on insole comfort, plantar pressure and its relation to wearer characteristics to inform the development of a range of insoles.

Participants

Thirty-four healthy participants (male: 14, female: 20) aged 18–55 years and with shoe size UK 5–9 were recruited from a University population. Ethical approval and individual written consent were gained prior to testing.

Footwear

Nine different insoles were produced, varying only in hardness. The insole was a minimum of 5 mm thick and had a contoured medial arch based on the profile of a current product with an in-built arch shape (EziKlog, WearerTech). Each insole comprised two parts, a heel/ forefoot piece and a medial arch piece (that was secured to the heel/forefoot piece, Fig. 1). Three different EVA materials were used for each section: soft, medium and firm (Shore A: 23, 45 and 59), creating 9 different insoles. A microfiber layer covered the top and bottom of the insole to maintain its integrity. The insole was designed to fit a work shoe made from EVA (Energise, WearerTech, Fig. 2).

Page 2 of 13



Protocol

Participants were recruited from a University population, none of who worked in occupations requiring prolonged standing and were excluded if they had any current lower limb injuries. Participant characteristics were measured during bilateral standing (Table 1).

There were 10 conditions presented in a randomised order, one for each of the developed insoles and one randomly selected insole that was tested twice to assess the repeatability of the comfort measure. Participants were blind to the insole differences and unaware that there was a repeat condition.

Participants were asked to wear a comfortable pair of their own shoes for a control walk ($\approx 20 \text{ m}$) that took place prior to each of the 10 test conditions. This process created a "washout" effect, because footwear worn prior to a test can impact comfort ratings [18] and we sought to standardise this for the different test conditions. Participants were handed the test shoe with the insole already inside. Thin socks were worn throughout. Between trials participants sat down for the duration of

Table 1	Measures	taken	in part	1	and	2	of	stud	y
---------	----------	-------	---------	---	-----	---	----	------	---



Fig. 2 Shoe used for part 1. The entire shoe is made from EVA with a slip resistant sole. The interior of the shoe has no arch shape so all underfoot contouring is from the inserted insole

Measurement Variable	Equipment	Part 1	Part 2
Age			•
Height	Stadiometer	•	•
Weight	Scales	•	•
Foot Length	Brannock Device	•	
Foot Width	Brannock Device		٠
Foot Arch Length	Brannock Device	•	•
Q angle	Goniometer	•	
Dorsal height at 50% foot length	Digital Calliper [16]	•	•
Height of Navicular Tuberosity	Digital Calliper	•	
Height MTPJ1	Digital Calliper		
Height MTPJ5	Digital Calliper	÷	
Heel Width	Callipers	•	
Ball of foot circumference	Gulick II tape measure	•	•
Short heel circumference	Gulick II tape measure	•	
Foot Posture Index	[17]	•	•
Foot mobility magnitude	Digital Calliper [16]		•
Plantar Pressure	Pedar-X		

each footwear change either side of the control walk. They were told they could pause for a longer break if required at any point, although this was not required by any participant.

Three work-based movement tasks were undertaken in each condition: a walk up and down the room (≈ 20 m), one static standing task (screwing nuts onto bolts) and a dynamic standing task (hitting coloured targets on the corners of a 150x40cm desk according to instructions set out on a laptop screen in front of the participant). Both standing tasks were completed at a desk 0.9 m high, lasted 1 min each and aimed to simulate work-like standing tasks. Instructions were given to keep feet on the floor and not to rest weight on the desk surface.

At the start of the protocol, participants were advised to note down any thoughts regarding the comfort of the condition after each individual insole had been worn to help them to rank the insoles once testing was complete. This note taking was at their own discretion. At the end of the session, when all insoles had been worn, the insoles were ranked from 1 (most preferred) to 10 (least preferred).

Plantar pressure data was collected for 23 of the 34 participants, using the Pedar-X (Novel GmbH, Germany) system operating at 50 Hz. A target sample size of 20 had been identified based on similar research and prioritising plantar pressure data [14, 16]. However, our advertising led to over recruitment (n = 34) and we decided to only use plantar pressure data we needed (albeit with 3 extra data sets) so as to reduce participant burden while also taking advantage of the added value that the more subjective measures of comfort necessarily require (i.e. n = 14 extra data sets).

Data analysis

Plantar pressure data was analysed using Matlab (2016b). Pressure data was cropped to remove steps associated with gait initiation, cessation and turning. Single strides were identified using a 5 kPa threshold for heel strike and toe off. Standing tasks were broken into four 15 s epochs with average values calculated for each task. For all data, the foot was divided into 9 regions: the whole foot, heel, medial midfoot, lateral midfoot, metatarsal phalangeal joints 1 (MTPJ1), 2-3 (MTPJ2-3), 4-5 (MTPJ4-5), hallux and lesser toes. The following variables were calculated for each area: mean pressure, peak pressure and percentage contact area. Contact area was defined as the area covered by sensors registering a pressure of greater than 5 kPa [15]. Average values of the left and right feet together were taken for the steps of each participant and for the 4 epochs in each standing task.

All statistical analysis was completed using SPSS (v23, IBM). To assess the differences in plantar pressure

between task and insole, a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with a Bonferroni post hoc correction was used. Task (walk vs static standing vs dynamic standing) and insole (A-F) were the two independent variables. Differences in plantar pressure variables between the preferred and least preferred insole were tested with one-way between subject ANOVAs with Bonferroni post hoc correction with task (walk vs static standing vs dynamic standing) and insole (preferred vs least preferred) as the independent variables. One-way between subject ANOVAs and independent t-tests identified differences in participant characteristics (height, weight, foot measurements) when they were grouped according to their preferred insole. Comparisons were made between any insole that was the preferred choice of 5 or more participants (A vs B vs C vs F); those that had a preference for a soft or medium heel/forefoot section (A, B, C vs D, E, F); and those that had a preference for a soft, medium or hard arch (A, D, G vs B, E, H vs C, F, I). Prior to statistical analysis, the FPI data was converted into its Rasch transformed score to enable parametric analysis [19]. A Friedman test was used to determine any differences in the ranking of the insoles. For post hoc tests, a Wilcoxon rank tests with Bonferroni corrections resulting in an adjusted significance level of p <0.0014.

Part 1: results

Participant characteristics are presented in Table 2. Insoles with the soft heel/forefoot section (A, B and C) were the most preferred, being ranked number 1 by 32, 21 and 21% of participants respectively, and therefore 74% of participants in total (Table 3). In the arch area, 42% preferred a soft, 24% a medium and 36% a firm material. There was a statistically significant effect of the ranking of the 9 insoles ($\chi^2(8) = 36.893$, p < 0.001) with post hoc tests finding insole A ranked significantly lower than insoles G and I (i.e. was more preferred), and insole B ranked lower than insole G.

The insole that was repeated was used to assess the reliability of the ranking process. The average difference in ranking position for the same insole was 3.125, where a difference of 1 would mean they had been ranked next to each other. In total, 38% of individuals had a difference of 1 rank, 37% had a difference of between 2 and 4 while the remaining 25% had a difference of between 5 and 7. This likely reflects comments made by a few participants about the difficulty of ranking some of the insoles. When comparing the plantar pressure between preferred insoles, a comparison was only made between the highest and lowest ranked insole (1st and 9th) as this was always larger than the difference in ranking for the repeated insole case.

Table 2 Participant characteristics for part 1 ($n = 34$). Absolute
refers to direct measurements whereas normalised refers to
measurements normalised to foot length

Variable		Mean	SD	Min	Max
Age (years)		31.6	10.4	18	54
Height (m)		1.69	0.06	1.54	1.81
Weight (kg)		70.7	12.6	55	99
BMI (kg/m ²)		24.8	4.8	19.2	37.9
UK Shoe Size		7	2	5	9
Q angle (°)		8.6	2	5.5	12.5
FPI		3.9	2.7	-1	8
Foot Length (mm)		252.1	9.5	236.5	276.5
Arch Length	Absolute (mm)	182.2	7.1	173	199.5
	Normalised (%)	72.3	1.4	70.0	77.3
Foot Width	Absolute (mm)	92.4	4.8	84.5	102.5
	Normalised (%)	36.7	1.8	33.5	40.4
Dorsal Arch Height	Absolute (mm)	61.8	5.7	51.5	72.0
	Normalised (%)	24.5	2.1	20.6	28.3
Navicular Height	Absolute (mm)	43.8	6.6	28.5	57.0
	Normalised (%)	17.3	2.5	11.5	22.1
MTPJ1 height	Absolute (mm)	34.0	3.7	20.0	39.5
	Normalised (%)	13.5	1.4	8.1	15.5
MTPJ5 height	Absolute (mm)	23.0	2.3	19.0	30.0
	Normalised (%)	9.1	0.9	7.7	11.5
Heel Width	Absolute (mm)	58.2	5.2	46.5	70.0
	Normalised (%)	23.1	2.1	18.6	27.1
Ball of foot Circumference	Absolute (mm)	236.7	15.2	209.5	289.5
	Normalised (%)	93.9	5.7	85.5	114.7
Heel circumference	Absolute (mm)	276.5	11.9	255.5	300
	Normalised (%)	109.7	3.8	103.0	117.7

SD Standard deviation; FPI Foot Posture Index

Plantar pressure

The average number of steps analysed for each insole was 30 ± 3 and there was no meaningful difference of insole on foot contact time (F_{5,91} = 0.669, *p* = 0.635), a representative measure of walking speed [20]. All data is shown in Table 3.

Peak pressure for the whole foot, heel, medial midfoot, MTPJ1, hallux and toes, increased as the heel/forefoot piece got harder (Table 4). In the lateral midfoot, insole A (soft heel/forefoot, soft arch piece) had significantly lower pressure than insoles C, F and H (all with hard/ medium arch pieces). The MTPJ1 region displayed significantly lower pressures for insole A (soft heel/forefoot, soft arch piece) than D (medium heel/forefoot, soft arch piece). In the MTPJ2–3 and toe regions there were lower pressures in insole C (soft heel/forefoot, firm arch piece) than insole D and E (medium heel/forefoot, soft and

medium arch pieces). Contact area differences were seen for the lateral and medial midfoot only. In the medial midfoot, the greatest contact area was seen for insoles B and C (soft heel/forefoot, medium/firm arch piece) with lowest values seen for insole D (medium heel/forefoot and soft arch piece) and for insoles with the firm heel/ forefoot insole sections (G, H, I).

Comparing the most and least comfortable insoles (Table 5), the preferred insole had greater medial midfoot mean pressure (+ 22%), peak pressure (+ 16%) and contact area (+ 15%) compared to the least preferred. Whole foot peak pressure was on average 22% lower for the preferred insole compared to the least preferred. Peak pressure was 19 and 18% lower for the MTPJ1 and hallux in the preferred insole compared to the least preferred. A significant interaction between task and insole hardness occurred as a result of a much greater differences between insoles during walking.

Individual wearer characteristics

There was a significant main effect of arch length on insole preference ($F_{3,29} = 3.05$, p = 0.047) with a greater absolute arch length (p = 0.041) in those who preferred insole F (medium heel/forefoot, firm arch) in comparison to insole A (soft heel/forefoot, soft arch).

Compared to those preferring a soft heel/forefoot section, those that chose a medium heel/forefoot section were taller ($t_{18.6} = 2.9$, p = 0.009, soft heel/forefoot = 1.67 ± 0.06 m; medium heel/forefoot = 1.73 ± 0.04 m) and had a greater absolute arch length (soft = 180.1 ± 5.5 mm; medium = 188.3 ± 8.0 mm, $t_{10.8} = 2.85$, p = 0.016).

A smaller normalised heel width was present in those who preferred the harder arch piece ($F_{2,33} = 3.43$, p = 0.045) with post hoc results finding a greater normalised heel width in those preferring the soft arch compared to the hard arch (soft arch = $23.9 \pm 1.6\%$; hard arch = $21.7 \pm 1.9\%$, p = 0.044). Although not significant, there was a trend towards a greater FPI score (lower arched feet) in those preferring the firm arch piece ($F_{2,33} = 2.57$, p = 0.093).

Part 2: methods

Aim: To test the developed insoles from part one in a real-world setting, and investigate the ability of wearer characteristics and subjective questions to predict the selection of the preferred insole.

Participants

Participants were all kitchen workers (n = 22), selected because our previous research demonstrates that they are spending an average 87% of work time on their feet, of which around $\frac{3}{4}$ is spent performing standing tasks [21]. Exclusion criteria included anyone under the age of

-	% of individuals $(n = 34)$										
	Insole	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	
	Heel/forefoot	Soft	Soft	Soft	Medium	Medium	Medium	Firm	Firm Medium	Firm	
	Arch	Soft	Medium	Firm	Soft	Medium	Firm	Soft		Firm	
Ranked Position	1	32	21	21	б	3	15	3	0	0	
	2	9	26	15	18	15	3	6	6	3	
	3	21	12	9	6	9	18	9	9	9	
	4	3	15	6	18	24	6	0	18	12	
	5	9	3	15	12	3	12	15	12	21	
	6	9	6	9	12	21	15	6	9	15	
	7	3	3	0	18	12	21	18	21	6	
	8	6	6	12	6	15	6	21	6	24	
	9	9	9	15	6	0	6	24	21	12	

Table 3 Ranking of insoles for part 1 where a ranked position of 1 indicates the most preferred insole and 9 the least preferred. N.B. totals add to 101% due to errors caused by rounding to whole numbers

18, anyone who did not work back of house in the kitchen or was not on their feet for most of the day and anyone with diagnosed foot conditions or lower limb injuries.

Footwear

Based on the outcomes of part one, three insoles were developed, all made from EVA with the same contouring and fabric top cover (Fig. 3). All had a soft heel/forefoot section of Shore A 30, but the arch piece was either soft (Shore A 30), medium (Shore A 40) or firm (Shore A 50). This choice reflected the results of part 1 where preference predominantly varied about the insole arch hardness, with most participants preferring a soft heel/ forefoot section. This was supported by the reduction in peak plantar pressure values under the heel and forefoot associated with the softest material.

Each participant was given all 3 insoles and a lace-up shoe suitable for their workplace setting ('Relieve Custom Pro', WearerTech, Fig. 3), with an EVA midsole, slip resistant rubber outsole, a microfibre upper and neoprene stretch lining.

Protocol

Participant characteristics were measured during bilateral standing (Table 1). These measures were chosen pragmatically based on time available, which was limited with the working population, and factors that individuals would potentially be able to provide an indication of themselves. Each participant tried the shoe on with each of the 3 insoles in a randomised order (approximately 1 min per insole), blind to the differences between insoles. They were told they could walk around and assess the comfort dynamically but were not given specific instructions. They were asked to rank the insoles in order of preference. This process aimed to replicate how a shoe may be selected in a shop prior to purchase and provide an indication of immediate preferences.

After the initial testing session, participants completed 7 questions in an online survey that subjectively rated their own foot characteristics (Table 6). The link to the online questionnaire was sent once the researcher had left to ensure it was completed alone. This provided a means of exploring whether participants could independently evaluate their own feet in ways that could predict their preferred insole, mimicking the potential point of sale or circumstances when they might choose footwear without trying them on. This included questions regarding foot characteristics that have previously been related to footwear comfort, such as medial arch height, foot arch flexibility and foot sensitivity [5] as well as questions regarding their preference for material under the whole foot, arch of the foot and how supportive they liked a shoe to feel.

The participants wore each insole (soft, medium and firm arch materials) in the shoe for an entire day at work in a randomised order. They were asked to ensure a similar length of time in each insole and to wear them on consecutive days at work. The time the insole had been worn was recorded at the end of each day. Once each insole had been worn for a full day at work, participants were asked to rank the insoles in order of preference.

Data analysis

A Friedman test was used to assess the differences in rankings of the insoles. Prior to statistical analysis, the FPI data was converted into its Rasch transformed score to enable parametric analysis [19]. One-way between subject ANOVAs were used to identify differences in

Region	Variable	Insole									Mean			
		A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	Ĩ.	Walking	Static Standing	Dynamic Standing	
Whole	MP										32.23 ^{sy}	22.10 ^{wd}	21.22 ^{ws}	_
foot	PP	↓EFGHI	↓DEFGHI	↓EFGHI	↓GHI↑B	↓GHI↑AB	↓GHI↑ABC	↑ABCDEF	↑ABCDEF	↑ABCDEF	296.82 ^{sy}	96.83 ^{wy}	143.04 ^{ws}	а
	CA										51.88 ^s	59.19 ^{wy}	53.92 ^s	
Heel	MP										42.96 ^{sy}	32.27 ^w	33.91 ^w	
	PP		↓DEGHI	↓GHI	↑B			↑B	↑ВС	↑B	216.13 ^{sy}	83.50 ^{wy}	113.0 ^{ws}	а
	CA										54.91 ^{sy}	69.39 ^w	68.25 ^w	
Lateral	MP	↓CFH		↑A			↑A		↑A		28.86	27.79 ^y	26.00 ^s	
midfoot	PP										112.99 ^{sy}	60.71 ^{wy}	90.57 ^{ws}	
	CA	↓H							↑A		57.89 ^{sy}	75.29 ^{wy}	66.68 ^{ws}	
Medial	MP	↑DGHI	↑DFGHI	↑DFGHI	↓ABCEFH	↑DG	↓BC	↓ABCE	↓ABC↑D	↓ABC	15.19	16.19	14.96	
midfoot	PP	∱GH	↑DGHI	↑DGI	↓BC	↑G	∱G	↓ABCEF	↓AB	↓B	83.69 ^{sy}	45.53 ^{wy}	63.45 ^{ws}	
	CA	↓C↑DG	↑DGI	↑A	↓ABCE	↑DG	ţC	↓ABCE	¢C	↓BC	37.42 ^{sy}	51.05 ^{wy}	44.19 ^{ws}	а
MTPJ 1	MP	↓DH		↓D	↑AC					↑A	46.15 ^{sy}	26.63 ^{wy}	21.18 ^{ws}	
	PP	↓GHI	↓DGHI	↓GI	↑B		↓GHI	↑ABCF	↑AΒ	↑ABCF	210.42 ^{sy}	66.03 ^{wy}	100.27 ^{ws}	а
	CA										63.86	67.99 ^y	58.16 ^s	а
MTPJ	MP			↓DE	↑C	↑C					41.98 ^{sy}	22.58 ^{wy}	19.06 ^{ws}	
2–3	PP			↓DEFGHI	↑C	↑C	↑C	↑C	↑C	↑C	200.54 ^{sy}	53.58 ^{wy}	92.83 ^{ws}	
	CA										64.60 ^y	64.74 ^y	55.18 ^{ws}	
MTPJ	MP										27.91 ^{sy}	19.33 ^{wy}	17.92 ^{ws}	
4–5	PP										148.48 ^{sy}	50.64 ^{wy}	85.59 ^{ws}	
	CA										54.26	58.13	51.70 ^s	
Hallux	MP										38.09 ^{sy}	17.87 ^w	16.94 ^w	a
	PP	↓GH	↓EGHI	↓EFGHI	↓GHI	↑ВС	↑C	↑ABCD	↑ABCD	↑BCD	258.19 ^{sy}	48.89 ^{wy}	106.88 ^{ws}	а
	CA										52.68	52.59 ^y	46.79 ^s	
Toes	MP			↓DE	↑C	↑C					41.14 ^{sy}	23.10 ^{wy}	19.57 ^{ws}	
	PP		↓EH	↓DEGHI	↑C	↑BC		↑C	↑BC	↑C	200.21 ^{sy}	23.85 ^{wy}	94.46 ^{ws}	а
	CA										63.27	65.96 ^y	56.54 ^s	

Table 4 Plantar pressure differences between insoles (p < 0.05). MP = mean pressure (kPa); PP = peak pressure (kPa); CA = contact area (%). Arrows indicate significant post hoc differences between insoles. (\downarrow = insole has values less than ...; \uparrow = insole has values greater than ...). ^s = significantly different to static standing value, ^y = significantly different to dynamic standing value, ^w = significantly different to walking value. ^a significant interaction effect for insole and task

Table 5 Significant plantar pressure differences between the preferred and least preferred insole. Percentage change is the difference from the least preferred insole to the preferred (i.e. a negative % difference indicates the value is reduced in the most preferred)

Region	Variable	Most preferred (Mean kPa)	Least Preferred (Mean kPa)	% difference	E	Р	Interaction effect
Whole Foot	PP	158.83	204.75	-22%	26.94	< 0.001	a
Hallux	PP	125.02	152.18	-18%	7.83	0.01	a
MTPJ1	PP	115.94	142.71	-19%	12.52	0.002	a
Medial Midfoot	CA	50.19	43.58	+ 15%	10.07	0.004	a
	MP	18.07	14.81	+ 22%	10.37	0.004	a
	PP	72.39	62.6	+ 16%	4.89	0.038	

^a significant interaction effect for insole and task. PP peak pressure, CA contact area, MP mean pressure



characteristics between individuals that preferred each insole (soft arch vs medium arch vs firm arch). For the subjective questions answered by the participant, a chi squared test determined any relationship with the preferred insole (both immediate (1 min) preference and after one workday preference). As well as the FPI total score, the analysis was also completed with the score for 'height and congruence of the medial lateral arch' due to the similarity between this measure and the visual assessment of arch height. Subjective questions with a relationship to insole preference of p < 0.25 were used to identify the preferred insole.

Part 2: results

The length of workday (i.e. time wearing each insole) varied from 7 to 16 h between individuals (average: 9.4 ± 2.8 h) but individual participants wore each insole for a similar length of time (i.e. the person with a working day of 7 h wore each insole for 7 h). This is reflected in the fact that there was no overall difference in the length of time each insole was worn for the entire group (p > 0.05). Participant characteristics can be seen in Table 7. Two participants did not complete the protocol so were removed from the analysis, one due to a job change and contact was lost with the second.

Insole preference

The Friedman test identified no overall difference between the rankings of the insoles (p > 0.05). In total, 65% of participants changed their insole preference between the immediate assessment after 1 min of wear and after wearing each insole for one day at work.

Individual characteristics

There was no relationship between initial insole choice and any of the measured characteristics in Table 1 (p > 0.05). For the preferred insole choice after one workday, the only variable related to insole preference was dorsum height as a percentage of foot length ($F_{2,16} = 4.221$, p = 0.034). Those preferring the insole with a softer arch had a greater dorsum height (soft = 26.3 ± 1.1 ; medium = 24.4 ± 1.4 ; hard = 24.0 ± 1.7).

All but one participant rated their arch height as low or medium, therefore high arch was removed from the statistical analysis and an independent t-test was used in place of the ANOVA. Independent t-tests found a significant difference in dorsum height (as a percentage of foot length) between those rating their own arch as "low" compared to "medium" ($t_{16} = 2.136, p = 0.048$; CI = 0.014–3.77) and a trend towards a greater FPI score (i.e. a lower arch) in those with a self-reported low arch (Table 8).

Subjective questions

For the immediate insole preference, questions 5, 6 and 7 regarding foot sensitivity and question 4 ('How do you prefer a shoe or insole to feel under your foot?') had p values below 0.25. As all the sensitivity questions assessed the same factor, only the question 'How do you feel when walking barefoot on a hard floor (concrete or tiles)?' was included as it had the strongest association with insole preference. Using these two questions, the model could identify 68.4% of individuals immediate preference.

For the insole preference following a full workday, only questions 1 and 3 had a p value below 0.25. These were the self-assessment of arch height and the question 'How do you prefer a shoe or insole to feel under your foot?'. These two questions could identify 66.7% of insole preferences after a whole working day. Based on these two questions a tool to assist a

Question		Answer Options				
1	Please identify what type of foot arch you have when standing (image selector)	Low Arch	Medium Arch	High Arch		
		Ì	Ï	3		
		 Low arch: When viewed from the sider there will be very little, if any arch shape to the foot, with no room to put a finger under the arch. Almost the entire sole of the foot will make contact with the ground causing the wet footprint to be filled in with very little narrowing in the band connecting the heel and forefoot. 				
		2. Medium arch: When viewed from the side there will be a visible arch from the heel to the ball of the foot with just enough room to fit an index finger under. In the wet footprint, the forefoot and heel will be visible but there will be an obvious narrowing in the band connecting them.				
		3. High arch: When viewed from the side there will be a very visible arch. An index finger will be able to fit under the arch with room to move. In the wet footprint, the forefoot and heel will be very narrow or non-existent.				
2	Do your feet look more arched when the weight is taken off them? How do you prefer a shoe or insole to feel under your foot?	1. No, my feet look the sa	ame sitting and standing			
		2. Yes, my feet get slightly more arch shape to them when I take the weight off then				
		3. Yes, my feet get a lot	more arch shape to them wher	n I take the weight off them		
3		1. Soft with less support				
		2. Medium firmness with	n some support			
		3. Firm material for more	e support			
4	How do you prefer a shoe or insole to feel under the arch of your foot?	1. Soft with less support				
		2. Medium firmness with	n some support			
		3. Firm material for more	e support			
5	How do you feel when walking barefoot on a pebbly beach?	1. Ouch! I really struggle t	to walk barefoot on a pebbly be	ach.		
		2. Uncomfortable but I o	can manage.			
		3. Not a problem, I'm ha	appy to walk barefoot on a pebb	bly beach		
6	How do you feel when walking barefoot on a hard floor (concrete or tiles)?	1. Ouch! I really struggle t	to walk barefoot on a hard floor.			
		2. Uncomfortable but I o	can manage.			
		3. Not a problem, I'm ha	appy to walk barefoot on a hard	floor		
7	How sensitive are the soles/underside of your feet?	1. Not at all sensitive				
		2. Slightly sensitive				
		3. Very sensitive				

Table 6 Multiple choice questions for the self-assessment of foot characteristics by participants

wearer to self-identify their preferred insoles was created (Table 9).

Discussion

This paper documents the research-led development of an insole product range that aims to improve the comfort of a shoe specific to workplace settings that demand prolonged standing. It identified that variation in preferences for material hardness was related mainly to the medial arch area (part one). Also, that most participants changed their footwear preference between the immediate assessment (1 min) and the assessment after wearing each insole for a whole workday (part two), highlighting the challenge of using first try on, or online purchases, in ensuring that preferred shoes are chosen. Finally, self-reported arch height and underfoot material preference were found to assist in the identification of the preference after a whole workday (part two), and thus there may be potential to use simple questions to guide footwear selection.

The preferred insole in part one had greater medial midfoot pressure compared to the least preferred insole

		Mean	SD	Min	Max
Age (years)	30	7.9	20	53	
Height (m)		1.72	0.09	1.56	1.90
Weight (kg)		78.8	18.5	51.7	126.6
BMI (kg/m ²)		26.7	5.2	19.7	39.5
UK Shoe Size		8	2	4	12
FPI		2.7	2.8	0	11
Foot Mobility Magnitude	1.4	0.4	0.7	2.1	
Foot Length (mm)	257.7	15.8	231.0	289.5	
Arch Length	Absolute (mm)	188.5	13.1	168.5	217.0
	Normalised (%)	73.1	1.2	71.3	75.2
Foot Width	Absolute (mm)	96.3	6.0	83.0	106.5
	Normalised (%)	37.4	1.6	34.1	40.0
Dorsal Arch Height	Absolute (mm)	63.7	5.1	55.7	72.3
	Normalised (%)	24.6	1.8	21.6	28.0
Ball of foot Circumference	Absolute (mm)	241.2	16.0	214.5	267.0
	Normalised (%)	93.6	3.28	85.8	98.7

Table 7 Participant characteristics for part 2 (n = 20). Absolute refers to direct measurements whereas normalised refers to measurements normalised to foot length

SD standard deviation; FPI foot posture index

and a resultant reduction of pressure in other regions. This is in agreement with previous walking and standing research [14, 15, 22, 23] and suggests that for these work-based tasks lower plantar pressure was an important component for comfort. Medial midfoot pressure was increased by using a softer material in the heel/forefoot section or by having a harder material under the medial arch. A softer material under the heel/forefoot presumably compresses more readily than the harder materials, thus allowing load to be transferred to the medial arch area. Indeed, the least preferred designs were those in which there was a softer material under the arch than in the heel/ forefoot section. This outcome also reveals that material choice alone can manipulate plantar pressure distribution and perceived comfort, independent of the much-discussed changes in insole geometry [24-26].

Only one participant selected an insole with a firm heel/forefoot section as their preferred choice in part one indicating that there is possibly a maximum hardness value above which comfort is less likely to be achieved. Furthermore, one study that tested insoles with a hardness of 52–75 shore A (similar to our hardest material) did not find a preference for insoles at the lower (softer) end of this range [27]. This perhaps suggests that above this maximum hardness value variations in hardness do not link to variations in comfort or preference. Defining the range of hardness values over which comfort and preferences vary could be important in personalising footwear options since it will offer genuine options for users to adjust their comfort and preferences.

Previous research has highlighted a preference for the entire insole to be harder for individuals with a lower medial arch height [5]. Based on our results this relationship is only true for the medial arch area, meaning a softer material can be used in other regions to improve comfort. The preference for harder arch materials in those with lower arched feet might be due to an increase in foot arch height that the material provides [28]. A softer arch material may enable contact with the arch in medium and high arched feet [29] and this contact may

Table 8 Difference in arch height between self-assessed arch heights of low and medium (only one person selected a high arch, so they were removed from analysis)

	Low Arch		Medium Arch		P value
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Absolute Dorsum height (mm)	61.3	7.2	64.5	5.0	0.309
Dorsum height (% foot length)	23.4	2.1	25.3	1.4	0.048
FPI score	3.6	2.1	1.6	1.8	0.063

 Table 9 Selection tool to determine insole preference after one workday. High arch column is based on only 1 inidividual reporting a high arch

		What type of foot arch do you have when standing?		
		Low arch	Medium arch	High arch
How do you prefer a shoe to feel under	Soft material with less support	Medium Insole	Soft Insole	Soft Insole
the arch of your foot?	Medium firmness with some support	Firm insole	Medium Insole	Soft Insole
	Firm material for more support	Firm Insole	Firm Insole	Medium Insole

affect comfort [14, 15]. However, we did not measure the actual response of the arch geometry and foot joints to the insoles.

Due to the inability of most workers and online purchasers to try on footwear, methods that might allow a person to select their preferred insole without trying any shoes on or have objective measures taken are desirable. Results from this study suggest self-assessed arch height and preferred materials seem likely to enable a prospective wearer the opportunity to identify an insole that would be their preferred choice for longer-term use (e.g. after day at work). Based on the results, these two pieces of information would allow identification of the preferred insole in 67% of individuals, an improvement on using the immediate selection (36%). The difference in objective foot arch height measures between those rating themselves as having a low or normal arch suggests this measure could be a good indicator of arch height, but a larger study is warranted to verify this, especially focussing on the inclusion of more high arched participants.

The change in insole preference in part two following wear over a day at work (lasting 7-16 h) compared to a few minutes use could be a result of adapting to the insoles, changes in the feet due to prolonged standing, changes in the insoles over time, or a combination of these. For example, we know that prolonged standing causes changes in the pain pressure threshold [30], lower limb swelling [15, 31] and plantar pressure [15, 32]. In running, a reduction in arch height is also seen over time [32, 33]. Although this has not been assessed during prolonged standing, increases in medial midfoot pressures and contact area suggests that this might be the case [15]. Any changes in arch height or foot morphology from swelling could alter comfort and insole preference. This highlights the importance of developing a method to enable a user to identify the optimum footwear choice in the longer-term even if using only immediate assessments of their feet and footwear options.

In terms of the comfort assessment selection, ranking shoes has previously been shown to be the most reliable method of assessing comfort [9, 34], although the maximum number of footwear options that can be tested has not been reported. The use of ten different insoles in part one could have made it difficult to rank them, as noted by a few participants, and it assumes the difference between insoles are large enough to produce repeatable ranking. Although some studies suggest only using individuals who can rate comfort 'reliably' [34, 35], this may remove individuals with important characteristics, such as those with a low foot sensitivity, a factor that impacts insole preference [5]. This work took a more pragmatic approach because it had a specific target audience.

This study had several limitations. The variation in shoes used for part one and two was necessary as the shoe designed to accommodate the insoles was under development itself during part one, which is typical of real-world industry linked research. However, insoles were selected based on rankings and the footwear designs would have to dramatically affect rankings, not just comfort scores, to lead to different outcomes. While standardising the shoe for each part was important for the methodology, in a real-world context the use of a range of shoes means the transferability of these insoles to different shoes with varying midsole cushioning and geometries is unclear. Changing other aspects of the footwear may produce different results and interact with the insole effects we report here. The footwear development had commercial limitations, including the fact that the number of insole options was limited due to tooling and logistics costs. The number of participants recruited in part two of the study was limited by the number of pairs of sample shoes and insoles that the factory was willing to produce rather than developing recruitment numbers through a power analysis. Further research should test the self-assessment of arch height with a larger population, assess the accuracy of the subjective questions for identifying the preferred insole, and investigate changes in variables such as arch height and insole material properties over a working day. Considering the geometry (height and length) of the arch piece is also required.

Finally, we do not know the effect of wearing comfortable footwear on long term musculoskeletal disorders and injury risk at work. The comfort paradigm [4] suggests that a comfortable shoe might be one that is best for the body and therefore reduce lower body injury risk, as reported for military personnel and rugby players [5, 6]. We do not currently know if a similar protective effect would stem from comfortable footwear during prolonged standing at work, but if it impacted musculoskeletal disorders and overall discomfort, it could be beneficial for employers, employees and workplace safety policies.

Conclusion

This study used preferred insole choices and plantar pressure data to enable the personalisation of insole choice for workers undertaking prolonged standing wearing specialist workplace footwear. There were differences in the preferences for insole material hardness between immediate assessment and assessment following one workday in each insole. The use of selfassessment of foot arch height and material preferences offers an opportunity to guide insole selection at the point of choosing footwear. The strength of this research lies in the practical application of data to the design and evaluation of new insole products that aim to protect prolonged standing workers.

Abbreviations

MTPJ: Metatarsophalangeal joint; SD: Standard Deviation

Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

Authors' contributions

JA completed the data collection and analysis. AW and CN contributed to the study conceptions and design with all authors involved in the writing of the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the Knowledge Transfer Partnership Programme [KTP0009994] which was co-funded by Toffeln Limited, UK and Innovate UK

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Ethical approval was provided by the University of Salford for both parts of the study (part 1; HSR1617–145 part 2; HSR1819–001) and each participant signed a consent form prior to participation.

Consent for publication

Not applicable

Competing interests

The lead author (JA) was employed by the University of Salford while this work was conceived. Thereafter JA was employed by footwear company WearerTech for a period during the data collection. WearerTech products were tested in this paper. WearerTech only provided the shoes and had no input on data collection, analysis or write up, which was completed with the University of Salford. At the time of submission, JA is an employee of the University of Salford.

Received: 1 April 2020 Accepted: 25 May 2020 Published online: 08 July 2020

References

- Anderson J, Williams AE, Nester C. An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments. J Foot Ankle Res. 2017;10(1):1–10.
- Norlander A, Miller M, Gard G. Perceived risks for slipping and falling at work during wintertime and criteria for a slip-resistant winter shoe among Swedish outdoor workers. Saf Sci. 2015;73:52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ssci.2014.11.009.

- Gao C, Holmér I, Abeysekera J. Slips and falls in a cold climate: underfoot surface, footwear design and worker preferences for preventive measures. Appl Ergon. 2008;39(3):385–91.
- Nigg BM, Baltich J, Hoerzer S, Enders H. Running shoes and running injuries: Mythbusting and a proposal for two new paradigms: "Preferred movement path" and "comfort filter.". Br J Sports Med. 2015;49(20):1290–4..
- Mündermann A, Stefanyshyn DJ, Nigg BM. Relationship between footwear comfort of shoe inserts and anthropometric and sensory factors. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001;33(11):1939–45.
- Kinchington MA, Ball KA, Naughton G. Effects of footwear on comfort and injury in professional rugby league. J Sports Sci. 2011;29(13):1407–15.
- Goonetilleke RS, Luximon A. Designing for comfort: a footwear application. In: Computer-aided ergonomics and safety conference; 2001. p. 205–8. Available from: https://ieda.ssust.hk/dfaculty/ravi/papers/caes.pdf.
- Mündermann A, Nigg BM, Humble RN, Stefanyshyn DJ. Orthotic comfort is related to kinematics, kinetics, and EMG in recreational runners. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35(10):1710–9.
- Mills K, Blanch P, Vicenzino B. Identifying clinically meaningful tools for measuring comfort perception of footwear. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010; 42(10):1966–71.
- Hennig EM, Valiant GA, Liu Q. Biomechanical variables and the perception of cushioning for running in various types of footwear. J Appl Biomech. 1996;12(2):143–50.
- Finestone A, Novack V, Farfel A, Berg A, Amir H, Milgrom C. A prospective study of the effect of foot orthoses composition and fabrication on comfort and the incidence of overuse injuries. Foot Ankle Int. 2004;25(7):462–6.
- Miller JE, Nigg BM, Liu W, Stefanyshyn DJ, Nurse MA. Influence of foot, leg and shoe characteristics on subjective comfort. Foot Ankle Int. 2000;21(9): 759–67.
- Tay CS, Sterzing T, Lim CY, Ding R, Kong PW. Overall preference of running shoes can be predicted by suitable perception factors using a multiple regression model. Hum Factors. 2017;59(3):432–41.
- Chen H, Nigg BM, de Koning J. Relationship between plantar pressure distribution under the foot and insole comfort. Clin Biomech. 1994;9(6): 335–41.
- Anderson J, Nester C, Williams A. Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear. Footwear Sci. 2018;10(3):189–201. https://doi. org/10.1080/19424280.2018.1538262.
- McPoil TG, Vicenzino B, Cornwall MW, Collins N, Warren M. Reliability and normative values for the foot mobility magnitude: a composite measure of vertical and medial-lateral mobility of the midfoot. J Foot Ankle Res. 2009; 2(1):1–12.
- Redmond AC, Crosbie J, Ouvrier RA. Development and validation of a novel rating system for scoring standing foot posture: the foot posture index. Clin Biomech. 2006;21(1):89–98.
- Mündermann A, Nigg BM, Stefanyshyn DJ, Humble RN. Development of a reliable method to assess footwear comfort during running. Gait Posture. 2002;16(1):38–45.
- Keenan AM, Redmond AC, Horton M, Conaghan PG, Tennant A. The foot posture index: Rasch analysis of a novel, foot-specific outcome measure. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;88(1):88–93.
- Taylor AJ, Menz HB, Keenan AM. The influence of walking speed on plantar pressure measurements using the two-step gait initiation protocol. Foot. 2004;14(1):49–55.
- Anderson J, Granat MH, Williams AE, Nester C. Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring. Ergonomics. 2019;62(8):1055–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2019. 1615640.
- Jordan C, Bartlett R. Pressure distribution and perceived comfort in casual footwear. Gait Posture. 1995;3(4):215–20.
- Yung-Hui L, Wei-Hsien H. Effects of shoe inserts and heel height on foot pressure, impact force, and perceived comfort during walking. Appl Ergon. 2005;36(3):355–62.
- Caravaggi P, Giangrande A, Lullini G, Padula G, Berti L, Leardini A. In shoe pressure measurements during different motor tasks while wearing safety shoes: The effect of custom made insoles vs. prefabricated and off-the-shelf. Gait Posture. 2016;50:232–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2016.09.013.
- AG abrie L-C, Pérez-Soriano P, Llana-Belloch S, Macián-Romero C, Sánchez-Zuriaga D. Effect of custom-made and prefabricated insoles on plantar loading parameters during running with and without fatigue. J Sports Sci. 2014;32(18):1712–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2014.915422.

- Redmond AC, Landorf KB, Keenan AM. Contoured, prefabricated foot orthoses demonstrate comparable mechanical properties to contoured, customised foot orthoses: a plantar pressure study. J Foot Ankle Res. 2009; 2(1):1–10.
- Mills K, Blanch P, Vicenzino B. Influence of contouring and hardness of foot orthoses on ratings of perceived comfort. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(8): 150–712.
- Su S, Mo Z, Guo J, Fan Y. The effect of arch height and material hardness of personalized insole on correction and tissues of flatfoot. J Healthc Eng. 2017;1–9.
- 29. Goonetilleke RS, Weerasinghe TW. Footbed Design. In: Goonetilleke RS, editor. Footwear Science. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2012. p. 279–90.
- Messing K, Kilbom Å. Standing and very slow walking: foot pain-pressure threshold, subjective pain experience and work activity. Appl Ergon. 2001; 32(1):81–90.
- Coenen P, Parry S, Willenberg L, Shi JW, Romero L, Blackwood DM, et al. Associations of prolonged standing with musculoskeletal symptoms—a systematic review of laboratory studies. Gait Posture [Internet]. 2017; 58(August):310–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.08.024.
- Mei Q, Gu Y, Sun D, Fernandez J. How foot morphology changes influence shoe comfort and plantar pressure before and after long distance running? Acta Bioeng Biomech. 2018;20(2):179–86.
- Cowley E, Marsden J. The effects of prolonged running on foot posture: A repeated measures study of half marathon runners using the foot posture index and navicular height. J Foot Ankle Res. 2013;6(1).
- Lindorfer J, Kröll J, Schwameder H. Comfort assessment of running footwear: does assessment type affect inter-session reliability? Eur J sport Sci. 2019;19(2):177–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2018.1502358.
- Hoerzer S, Trudeau MB, Edwards B, Nigg B. How reliable are subjective footwear comfort assessments? Footwear Sci. 2015;7(JUNE):S106–7.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

BMC

2.3 Summary of papers and outcomes

Paper Title		Project Outcome			
1	A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring	 Identified the main problems associated with prolonged standing Identified the need for improved definitions of workplace activity, leading to paper 2 Defined basic protocol and variables for paper 3 and 5 			
2	Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring	 Defined activity for the specific study populations Guided the activity of the lab-based protocol (paper 5) 			
3	Musculoskeletal discomfort, foot health and footwear choice in prolonged standing workers.	 Determined the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal disorders Identified footwear comfort as an important factor associated with musculoskeletal discomfort (explored further in papers 5 and 6) 			
4	An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments	 Defined footwear design factors required by end-users Consumers identified the need for the correct footwear cushioning as important (explored further in papers 5 and 6) 			
5	Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear	 Identified biomechanical changes associated with prolonged standing Found a link between footwear preference and plantar pressure Identified differences in footwear hardness preference between individuals Guided the insole design for paper 6 			
6	Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work.	 Developed and defined the final insole design Tested the concept with end-users Developed a tool to aid product selection for online sales 			

Table 2.12 Summary of paper outcomes



Figure 2.1 How the outcomes from each paper helped to generate subsequent papers and knowledge/ product outcomes

Chapter 3 : Critical review

This chapter will explore and critically review the published works presented here and consider where the research sits within the wider research field of prolonged standing. It will include the following:

- (1) The contribution and impact of this research academically, commercially and the footwear recommendations that can be drawn from these works for prolonged standing workers.
- (2) A critique of the methodologies used within the papers with a comparison to other published literature.
- (3) The KTP project and integration of commercial and academic work including an analysis of how this project workers with a business.
- (4) A critical analysis of the overarching limitations: is standing always bad, and what are the limitations of footwear as a solution?
- (5) An analysis of literature published since the papers here and suggestions for future research.

3.1 The contribution and impact of this research

3.1.1 Contribution to the current literature on prolonged standing

The papers comprised in this body of work fill gaps in the under-researched topic area of prolonged standing at work. Firstly, they identify the importance of considering musculoskeletal disorders of the feet. Even cross sectional prevalence studies, the most common methodology in this topic area, previously combined the ankle and foot into one region (Kuorinka *et al.*, 1987) obscuring the true prevalence in the feet. The works presented in this thesis highlight the need to consider the feet, identifying them as the second most prevalent region of pain in the lower body (Paper 3) and recording the impact that poor foot health can have not just during a work shift but also on quality of life outside of work (Paper 4).

Although standing had previously been identified as a potential risk factor for musculoskeletal disorders, there has been confusion as to what constitutes prolonged standing and as a result, a lack of evidence to link the two together (Messing *et al.*, 2015). Previously, all upright activity in the workplace has been broadly defined as either walking or standing (Lunde *et al.*, 2017; Nielsen *et al.*, 2017), resulting in definitions that lack precision (Messing *et al.*, 2015). Paper 2 increases this precision by defining 3 distinct standing activities, and providing a greater ability to determine how much movement an individual demonstrates in the workplace. The relevance of this is emphasised through the identification that two professions that spend almost identical percentages of their working day 'standing' as previously defined (Veterinary surgeons = 65%; Chefs = 66%) show large variations in the how dynamic the standing tasks are that they perform. This is important as the dynamic nature of an

activity is related to the development of musculoskeletal disorders during prolonged standing (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2009).

The second half of this body of work focuses on occupational footwear, a topic that has received limited interest in previous research and is almost non-existent in comparison to that of athletic or sports footwear. Indeed, in the most recent international footwear symposium at the time of writing with over 120 presentations (Wannop *et al.*, 2019), only one keynote (Steele and Dobson, 2019) and two presentations considered occupational footwear, one looking at the testing of steel toe caps (Dirksen *et al.*, 2019) and ours (Anderson *et al.*, 2019). A handful of studies prior to the papers presented here had considered footwear for standing workers but the methodologies and tested footwear limited their use from a design perspective. Papers included those on shod vs unshod (Lin *et al.*, 2012), the impact of different models of footwear that varied in multiple design factors (Hansen *et al.*, 1998; Chiu and Wang, 2007) or focused on the addition of an insole with no control for footwear (King, 2002; Orlando and King, 2004). The works presented here develop a greater understanding of a single footwear design factor (underfoot cushioning). However, it also broadened the previous quantitative focus to include qualitative research, which has not been previously recorded but was essential for understanding the needs of the wearer, knowledge translation and product development.

Footwear comfort is one of the main themes in this thesis and it has recently been described as a re-emerging footwear topic (Wannop *et al.*, 2019), although it remains centralised on running footwear. This PhD uses some of the theory and methodology from running research such as the assessment of footwear comfort and the link between individual anthropometrics and footwear comfort but applies it to footwear for standing workers for the first time. It also had to develop new methodological factors such as how to assess biomechanical measurements and comfort for an extended period of time where most research focus on only a few minutes.

Part of the drive for the novel research in this body of work stemmed from the need for the transfer of knowledge to a final footwear product. Thus, these works also provide documentation of the development of a new research-led footwear product. This was enabled through the collaborative nature of the project that ensured the publication of the research, something which is normally kept in house by companies. Combining these papers in this thesis enhances the story through the narrative it provides, making it a useful source for future commercially linked academic projects.

3.1.2 The academic impact of these works to date

All the works presented here have been published within the last 4 years, with the papers that are expected to have more impact both on future work and in citations published more recently.

However, the works have been cited a number of times and there is evidence of their impact starting to emerge. Authors have used these works to demonstrate a link between footwear, comfort/ musculoskeletal disorders and biomechanics (Gonçalves and Sato, 2020; Kołcz *et al.*, 2020). The potential need for customised shoes suggested in Paper 4 was identified by Tarrade *et al.*, (2019) who went on to assess the impact of custom made orthotics in standing workers. The same paper has also been used as the only source to develop the workplace footwear criteria in a dress code for Muslim Female Healthcare Personnel (Saidun *et al.*, 2018), suggestive of one way in which these works can be translated to address a real world problem. Paper 2 was evaluated in a systematic review on 'contemporary and emerging uses of inertial sensing in occupational ergonomics' (Lim and Souza, 2020), verifying its novelty. Other works have also cited these papers to justify the development of their own studies, such as looking at foot load in nurses (Kołcz *et al.*, 2020) and in the development of a foot health service for nurses (Stolt *et al.*, 2020).

3.1.3 The commercial impact of this research

The main impact outside of academia of these papers is the developed products that arose from the research. The new range, known as 'Custom Pro' and 'Smart Sole' to the partner companies is commercially available and allows users to choose the style of shoe and insole that works for them. The partner company also have the footwear selection tool on their website developed from paper 6 to prevent the need to provide all three insoles with each shoe (see Appendix 3), reducing the cost of the product and wastage from unused insoles. Dissemination from a company marketing perspective is also clear, with videos, blog posts and a page on the research link with Salford on both the partner companies' websites (Appendix 2).

For the partner company, an ongoing customer panel was also established, which had about 150 chefs signed up when I left the company in September 2019. The impact of the research further extended to helping gain contracts with large catering companies towards the end of my time with the company. I presented information on our research to key decision makers within these companies, something which made the partner company particularly attractive given their focus on the health and wellbeing of staff. Catering is an industry that has more jobs than chefs, so ensuring the wellbeing of their staff was important for staff retention in a competitive market.

Finally, I think the last and perhaps the most important impact of this research is on the education of the workers and employers themselves. I had the opportunity to connect with a range of chefs in different ways: by presenting information about foot health and footwear to chef apprentices at the start of their career and head chefs in corporate companies; through meeting chefs involved in the research and the customer panel; and also, through events held by the Chefs' Forum, an
organisation that brings top chefs and students together. Although this reached only a small proportion of chefs, I believe that the future impact of this research will be helped through this communication and education in the future.

3.1.4 Potential wider impact for this research

This thesis focused on developing footwear from a research and commercial perspective but the findings are applicable to a wider audience. The identification of the high incidence of foot musculoskeletal disorders, including chronic problems like plantar fasciitis suggests that working in a prolonged standing environment should be a consideration for podiatrists and other health professionals. The identification of footwear needs of these populations (Paper 4) provides guidelines for meeting footwear needs for work and defines the type of shoes typically worn, which is beneficial given clinicians often don't see workplace footwear brought to clinic (Williams, 2018).

Farndon *et al.* (2016) developed a toolkit to enable health professionals, particularly podiatrists to understand the contribution of footwear on a broader level than just the physical properties of the shoe and their effect. This toolkit aimed to promote discussion between patients and health professionals to ensure footwear fitted with a patient's life and beliefs, which would in turn promote adherence to wear. It identified practical factors such as the cost and purchasing methods, the mental fit of the shoe that included an individual's identity and image, the purpose of the shoe, such as the activity it would be used for and finally the social fit based on social interactions and fashion norms. The works presented here provide information regarding the acceptable footwear for these workplaces, including style and colour; it identifies the activities and environments that they are being used for and considers practicalities such as how footwear is purchased and the acceptable price.

With these factors in mind, we can identify ways in which work footwear should be considered different to everyday leisure footwear by practitioners. For example, in terms of practical factors, there was a preference to spend less money on work footwear than leisure footwear, with workers reluctant to replace it. Footwear purchasing habits were different, particularly when provided by the employer where limited choices were given and there were health and safety restrictions. In terms of the mental and social fit, the footwear worn was not chosen to look good in general, and in fact many expressed that it would not be acceptable to be seen in work footwear away from work, but the style was reflective of that worn by colleagues and deviations too far from this norm were still not acceptable.

3.1.5 Footwear Recommendations from this thesis

As mentioned in the introduction to footwear, the HSE do not currently identify footwear as a risk factor for work related musculoskeletal disorders. However, this thesis identifies that footwear

does have a relationship with musculoskeletal disorders (Paper 3) and is associated with biomechanical differences (Paper 5). From the second part of these works, it is possible to identify a number of footwear recommendations for the workplace. Combined with other research, it can be identified that a range of footwear should be offered to ensure workers can find a pair of shoes that fits correctly and is comfortable for the wearer, to meet work safety standards and promote good foot health (Stolt *et al.*, 2018). Specific footwear recommendations from these works are provided (Figure 3.1).

Footwear recommendations for workers who experience prolonged standing

Footwear comfort

Comfortable footwear is that which does not cause any pain or discomfort meaning workers are unaware of it during the day.

- Footwear should be chosen or provided based on the individual
- A 'one footwear fits all' approach should not be taken.
- Footwears should either be tried on or an alternative method used to identify comfortable footwear prior to purchase
- Variations in footwear fit should be offered (length and width)
- Variations in medial midfoot cushioning or support should be offered
- Footwear that increases medial midfoot contact area will likely increase comfort
- Underfoot heel/ forefoot cushioning should not be too hard
- Long term comfort should be a priority in workplace footwear due to changes in the foot-shoe relationship over time

Footwear Functionality

Footwear should be functionally designed for the environment it is being used in

- Footwear should not be too heavy
- Footwear should be easy to don and doff
- Footwear should be breathable and minimise heat/ moisture inside the footwear
- Slip resistance should be durable and indicate when it needs replacing
- For chefs, shoes with and without toe caps should be offered

Footwear Factors

- The ability to add the wearers own insole or orthotic is useful
- Footwear must be affordable for the employees they are developed for
- Footwear should be easy to clean

Figure 3.1 Footwear recommendations developed from this thesis

3.2 Critique of Methodology

The following stage of this thesis will consider the methodologies used in the research papers, justifying the approach taken in comparison to other methods and identifying any potential limitations.

3.2.1 The approach to research

These works were split into two parts, the first part with the aim of exploring the demands and resulting consequences of prolonged standing and the second part to develop a footwear solution. Nevertheless, it is clear from the summary of outcomes (Figure 2.1; Table 2.12) that part one is integral to informing the methodologies and research questions of part two. For example, the initial information about footwear from the questionnaire (paper 3) identified the key themes to consider for the interviews (paper 4) and the laboratory tasks to replicate workplace movement (paper 5) were derived from observations and data from Paper 2.

Prior to this body of work, as is evident from the review in Paper 1, prolonged standing was a quantitative research topic. The divide between qualitative and quantitative research or the scientific paradigm (primarily quantitative) and constructivist/ interpretivist paradigm (primarily qualitative) is suggested to be a result of the differences in their philosophical underpinnings (Haq, 2014), perhaps explaining why most papers focus on one or the other. While the scientific theory revolves around objectivity, in which a single reality is believed to exist, a constructivist approach instead believes realities are social constructs and thus more subjective (Shah and Corley, 2006; Haq, 2014).

This thesis used a multiphase mixed methods design (Caruth, 2013), in which quantitative and qualitative research were used throughout a series of studies. This approach was pragmatic, considering both the quantifiable facts and the constructivist concept regarding the need to identify the objective reality. This approach aligned with the need to explore the complex parameters of pain and comfort but was able to narrow down enough to inform the development of products. Some go as far as to argue that social reality can only be understood by taking a mixed approach to research (Haq, 2014). Combining the strengths of both research types gave a more comprehensive understanding of the topic, as previously identified (Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Tariq and Woodman, 2010). It enabled the exploration of not only the biomechanical impact of footwear but also the perceived needs, lived experiences and beliefs of the end users. It is the combination of these factors that enabled the creation of a product that was both biomechanically reasoned and commercially viable.

It is acknowledged that the use of a mixed methods approach can result in the corroboration (Johnson *et al.*, 2007) or contradictions in results (Denscombe, 2014), both of which are evident in our findings. The link identified in the interviews between comfort and footwear cushioning (Paper 4)

agrees with our quantitative data that identifies a link between footwear cushioning, musculoskeletal discomfort and biomechanical variables (Paper 5/6). However, there was an overarching preference for footwear to be soft and cushioned from the participants in the interview study, which is in contradiction to the results that identify some individuals prefer harder footwear than others (paper 5).

The mixed methods approach also aligned well with an industry-based project as it enabled an exploration of the market alongside the research. In fact, some of the research overlaps with more traditional market research that includes the investigation of customer attitudes and needs as well as opportunities for new sales (Forsyth and Birn, 2002). The interviews included the investigation of current products and the need for future improvement while the questionnaire contained information about current purchasing habits and footwear spending. Thus, the results from a mixed methods approach also integrate more widely with the commercial setting and the informational needs of core departments such as sales, marketing and product development.

3.2.2 The use of a narrative review

The need for a broad overview of current research defined the need for a narrative approach as opposed to a systematic one. A narrative review is used to define the current dearth of knowledge, to develop future rationales and to speculate on interventions (Ferrari, 2015). In contrast, a systematic review is typically used to answer a well-defined question with a clearly identified inclusion criteria (Ferrari, 2015). Considering we were at the start of a research journey in an under researched field, it was not possible to identify a single, well-defined question from which the entire research project could be defined. Instead, there was a need to develop an overview of multiple questions including: what are the main problems associated with prolonged standing; what are the current solutions that have been tested; and what are the protocols used along with their limitations.

At a similar time to our review being completed, two systematic reviews with meta-analyses were published on the topic of prolonged standing at work. Each focused on a single research question, one to consider the associations between undertaking long periods of prolonged standing at work and musculoskeletal discomfort (Coenen *et al.*, 2016) and the second to review the evidence regarding the acute development of musculoskeletal development in laboratory based studies (Coenen *et al.*, 2017). These papers had the strength of identifying the effect sizes of the relationship between prolonged standing at work and WMSDs and were able to suggest practical factors, such as a recommended safe exposure time. However, they were not able to consider the broad research topics that we did, and would have been particularly limited in relation to the research areas of flooring and footwear solutions as the methodologies were inconsistent and papers were limited. Thus, the systematic

reviews would be important for generating guidelines and policies for workers undertaking prolonged standing but would not have been able to consider the broad range of topic areas that the narrative review did or guide the research project in the way that the narrative review could.

The focused and narrow research questions of systematic reviews would have further prevented the natural development of a hypothesis, instead creating a narrow research focus early in the project, preventing a broad understanding of the topic. The narrative review enabled the exploration of multiple topic areas: the prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders in the real world; the acute laboratory research in terms of musculoskeletal prevalence and biomechanics; the effects of flooring and footwear independently; and the numerous confounding factors. The results guided the methods of papers 5 and 6, from the tasks used to the identification of parameters to measure. It identified the need for more data regarding observational studies, which identified the need for paper 2 and the need to understand foot WMSD in more detail, which became a focus of paper 3.

3.2.3 Activity Monitoring – relevance of the defined activities and their limitations

The three standing movements defined in this paper (static standing, weight shifting and shuffling) enabled the differentiation of standing activities in occupations spending a similar amount of time standing overall. The importance of defining these activities for future use in WMSD research is clear from differences in the biomechanics of the two standing tasks used in paper 5. One of these was a dextrous task that ensured static standing and one involved touching targets across a desk of 1.5m by 0.9m most similar to weight shifting (feet did not generally leave the ground). These two movements showed significant variations in the joint loading at the ankle as well as the underfoot pressure variables (Figure 3.2). For the static task, where the weight was distributed evenly on both feet, the peak pressures were lower across the entire foot. Mean pressures and average contact area show how loading varied across the regions of the plantar foot surface, with a greater mean pressure in the heel for the static tasks compared to the more dynamic task that resulted in a greater forefoot load. There is a relationship between pain onset and the magnitude/ location of plantar forces (Wiggermann and Keyserling, 2015), suggesting that differences in plantar loading could impact the regions in which foot pain is experienced. These differences could also impact the risk of WMSD further up the body as differences in loading could stress different parts of the musculoskeletal system.



Figure 3.2 Comparison of kinetics and plantar pressure between static and dynamic tasks in Paper 5

It must be considered, however, that there are a few activities that could impact lower body loading that were outside the scope of this study and should be included in research investigating a link between activity and musculoskeletal disorders. Stair climbing was not separated from level walking but stair ascent and descent are associated with altered kinematics and kinetics in comparison to level walking (Riener *et al.*, 2002) that would likely impact the load on the body over a working day. This could be particularly relevant in kitchens that operate across multiple floors. Secondly, during periods of static standing, with the accelerometer placed on the thigh it was not possible to identify if any surfaces or walls were being leant on. Leaning on a surface would be expected to reduce the load through the lower body and has also been shown to result in altered muscle activity (Damecour *et al.*, 2010) that could affect musculoskeletal fatigue or discomfort. Therefore, any future study that uses the defined standing activities to assess WMSD risk should also attempt to account for these activities, especially given there is currently no knowledge about the length of time in these activities.

3.2.4 Limitations of the musculoskeletal questionnaire

A cross sectional design was used for the questionnaire in Paper 3 as the project required the information in a short time frame to help drive the remaining research. It also provided the first tangible outputs to the marketing team, which were expected throughout the project. A prospective questionnaire was neither feasible given the project time constraints or necessary based on the research questions. However, it is worth acknowledging the main limitation of cross-sectional studies, which is that of identifying causality. Although the multivariate analysis found links between variables such as BMI and foot WMSD, insoles and calf WMSD or footwear comfort and knee, hip and ankle WMSD, it is unknown which preceded. For example, does BMI increase as a result of reduced activity caused by WMSD or does the extra weight cause the WMSD? Is low footwear comfort a result of general pain or discomfort of the lower limb from WMSD or does a low footwear comfort result in WMSD?

In terms of assessing musculoskeletal disorders, the Standardised Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (Kuorinka *et al.*, 1987) was selected as it was developed specifically for occupational assessment and has been used in most cross-sectional musculoskeletal prevalence studies. The validity and reliability have been tested and it has gone through multiple iterations resulting in the improvement of the wording and questions (Kuorinka *et al.*, 1987; Dickinson *et al.*, 1992). A review paper identified a range of between 0 and 25% rate of nonidentical answers at two time points (Baron *et al.*, 1996), although it is likely that this reliability was confounded by changes in symptoms over the 1-3 weeks that were left between the first and second questionnaire completion. In any case, it has been deemed an acceptable repeatability for a screening or prevalence study (Baron *et al.*, 1996) and

it is clear that even with the largest error suggested, our results would still demonstrate significantly greater prevalence rates than seen in the normal population.

Perhaps the greatest limitation of the questionnaire study was the low response rate, estimated to be about 10% of those who were invited. Although a number of criteria were met that have been suggested to boost response rate (Oppenheim, 1992): the questionnaire was sent out twice, information sheets were provided with the reasons for the research and an incentive was offered to take part (money off shoes for everyone and a prize draw for a voucher), our response rate remained low. This is especially clear when compared to similar previous studies that reported response rates of up to 62%-80% (Karahan et al., 2009; Choobineh et al., 2010; Reed et al., 2014b; Dianat et al., 2018a). This is most likely a result of the different methods of approaching participants. All of the above cited studies used paper versions of a questionnaire and were able to get individuals to complete the questionnaire in person, hand it to each individual (Choobineh et al., 2010; Dianat et al., 2018a) and in some cases even check their questionnaire on completion to ensure nothing had been missed (Karahan et al., 2009). In paper 3, the online questionnaire was distributed by email, primarily due to the different ethics requirements for going into hospitals that would have caused considerable delays. It also had to be emailed out by the research departments or department leads within the hospital. This could have been prohibitive to response as return rates are reduced in correspondence with level of work required by the participants such as through the independent distribution and returning of questionnaires by the workers (Dickinson et al., 1992). Similar to our low response rate, a postal questionnaire to surgical staff received only a 27% response rate (Szeto et al., 2009), perhaps boosted slightly by chase up phone calls, and another that used email responses and had a 22% response rate (Wauben et al., 2006).

The independent return of questionnaires could also add a greater bias to results, with completion more likely in those who suffered from pain (Dickinson *et al.*, 1992), suggesting that our recorded prevalence might have been higher than the true value. Comparing it to the most similar populations available that had much higher response rates (Table 3.1), the reported prevalence of lower back and hip pain in Paper 3 were higher than others, including a systematic review, but knee pain was lower. Unfortunately, there was no obvious comparator study from the UK, even within the systematic review, meaning differences in the workplace and populations would have also likely resulted in differences.

Online completion can be beneficial, however, in terms of the removal of geographical limitations. Those that have previously handed questionnaires out in person have had to focus on a single city, or a single hospital in order to complete visits (Smith *et al.*, 2006; Choobineh *et al.*, 2010; Reed *et al.*, 2014a). The nine hospitals included in our study were randomly selected and spanned NHS

trusts across England in: Devon, Durham, Dorset, Blackpool, Norwich, Manchester, Harrogate and Burton-on-Trent. Different regions and different hospitals likely vary in their environments, working conditions and policies, including that for footwear. Therefore, this study would have captured much more of this variation than using a single site, making it more generalisable to hospitals across England despite the low response rate.

Table 3.1 Response rate and prevalence in surgical staff musculoskeletal prevalence studies – a comparison to Paper 3

Reference	Job title	Response Rate	n	Time (months)	Lower back	Hip/ Thigh	Knee	Lower leg	Ankle	Feet
(Dianat <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2018b)	Surgeons (Iran)	62.4%	312	12	42%	29%	49%	-	28%	
(Choobineh <i>et al.,</i> 2010)	Operating room nurses (Iran)	80%	375	12	61%	31%	58%	-	59%	
(Szeto <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	Surgeons	27%	135	12	68%	-	-	-	_	
(Tavakkol <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2020)	Operating theatre workers (review)	NA	-	NA	61%	27%	43%		57%	
Paper 3 (Anderson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2021)	Operating theatre workers	~10%	147	12	71%	42%	40%	28%	16%	55%

3.2.5 The use of semi-structured interviews

Given the research aim of this paper was 'to explore workers needs for footwear in the standing workplace in relation to musculoskeletal disorders, symptoms, comfort and design' (Paper 4), both focus groups and semi-structured interviews would have been feasible options. In terms of interview methodologies, semi-structured interviews were chosen as structured interviews would not have allowed for the in depth exploration of topics that was required while unstructured interviews would not have allowed for a focus on the emerging themes that had been identified in papers 1-3 (Gill *et al.*, 2008). Although focus groups would have enabled discussion around the footwear, that could potentially lead to a more comprehensive understanding (Namey *et al.*, 2016), interviews were sufficient for identifying the key factors. On reflection, there was a general agreement across the interviews in regard to the important footwear factors, suggesting that discussion in a focus group setting would have mostly resulted in agreement and few, if any, extra factors. Research on the two methods actually suggest that more topics can be identified in interviews than focus groups (Guest *et al.*, 2017) and they further ensure each participant has the opportunity to speak. However, a focus group would be useful for factors outside the scope of this research paper such as for the prioritisation

of contradictory design factors that were identified, such as the need for a safety toe cap compared with the need for lightweight shoes.

The resources required for interviews are also considered to be lower than that for focus groups. The logistics of arranging a focus group and the increased transcription time result in a greater total time (Coenen *et al.*, 2012; Guest *et al.*, 2017), a greater total number of participants to reach the same level of data saturation (Guest *et al.*, 2017) and a greater cost (Namey *et al.*, 2016). Getting a group of chefs or even veterinary surgeons together would have been time consuming given the variation in shift times and the long shift lengths worked by many. Finding a location would also have been challenging for focus groups and would likely have included the additional cost of hiring a space. On the other hand, interviews could be conducted at an individual's workplace, during the participants shift, which minimised the effort required by the participants to take part and did not use up their already limited leisure time, thus increasing motivation to participate. The choice of interviews is further cemented by more recent attempts by the company to arrange focus groups with chefs that did not work as too many participants did not show up for unknown reasons.

3.2.6 Comparison of activity in the laboratory study to real world activity

When designing the tasks for the laboratory protocol, replicating the movements made in the real world was important. However, sitting and walking were not included. This decision was taken to maximise the impact of standing over the three hours, as it represented only a small portion of the 8-12-hour shifts that the chefs and veterinary surgeons were completing daily. Sitting and walking both reduce the effects of standing such as by lowering musculoskeletal discomfort (Gallagher *et al.*, 2019; Wall *et al.*, 2019) and increasing the venous pump action (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2009; Wall *et al.*, 2020). Thus, including them might have reduced the changes observed over time and obscured differences between footwear conditions.

Comparing the activity in the laboratory protocol to that in the real-world data collected in Paper 2, the emphasis on the surgical market at that point in the project is clear. Table 3.2 and figure 3.3 display the standing time in each case divided into static standing, weight shifting and shuffling. The activity much more closely resembles the largely static standing seen in veterinary surgeons than the dynamic standing seen in chefs. As mentioned, greater static standing could be beneficial in terms of increasing the rate of changes that were observed. However, a greater amount of static standing could also have altered the loading of the body and shoes, as reported earlier in Figure 3.2. For example, the observation that dynamic activities resulted in lower mean plantar pressures but higher peak pressures, could impact the behaviour of the underfoot shoe material. The greater peak pressures would be expected to compress the material more, but the shoe would also have time to recover or decompress during unloaded periods. Unfortunately, it is not known if one would result in a greater compression of the underfoot materials over time and thus have a different impact on the biomechanics or if it would balance out.

	Static stan	d (%)	Weight shif	t (%)	Shuffle (%)		
	Mean SD		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Laboratory Protocol	72.4	8.8	25.7	7.7	1.9	1.8	
Veterinary Surgeons	66.7	8.7	22.9	4.9	10.4	4.6	
Chefs	31.1	8.1	38.3	6.0	30.6	6.7	

Table 3.2 Mean time spent in each standing task as a percentage of overall standing time



Figure 3.3 Comparison of time spent in each standing task for chefs, veterinary surgeons and participants in the laboratory study

3.2.7 Pedar for in-shoe pressure over a prolonged period

Biomechanical equipment is generally used for testing short periods of movement, most commonly to assess gait. Collecting data over 3 hours of standing meant addressing the limitations on the equipment and considering their accuracy and repeatability over long periods of time. Pedar (Novel, Germany) has been found to be suitably repeatable when tested in-vivo during gait (Ramanathan et al., 2010) and through the application of a known mechanical load (Hsiao et al., 2002; Price et al., 2016). In fact, Pedar has been shown to be the most accurate and repeatable device of three commonly used in-shoe pressure systems (Price et al., 2016). However, these studies have been completed over a short period of time, with loads that are representative of gait, whereas the protocol in Paper 5 included constant low loads for long periods. One study that considered the accuracy and repeatability of the Pedar device over such loads found the percentage error to increase substantially with time as a result of drift (Hurkmans et al., 2006). At time zero, the percent error ranged from -2.2 to -1.5% at 5 N/cm² (50 kPa) between insoles, but by 3 hours this had increased to 17-20.5% error. Running a similar test on the insoles used in Paper 5 using the TruBlue calibration device (Novel, Germany) to apply a constant load of 100kPa, a similarly large increase in percentage error was seen (Figure 3.4). Starting at 4.3% and 7.3% for each insole this increased to 17.5% and 22.3%, respectfully over three hours.



Figure 3.4 Percentage error of two Pedar insoles (left and right) over 3 hours with 100kPa of pressure applied using the TruBlue calibration device. Shown with no correction and correction using the average error recorded in the heel, as described and used in Pa

As the primary interest in the paper was change in plantar pressure over time, it was of high importance to remove the increasing values associated with drift. One method would have been to reset the device, but this would have detracted from the standing protocol as resetting requires the insoles to be unloaded for a period. Instead, participants performed a heel raise, where they stood on their toes for a split second, minimising the disruption. The average value in this offloaded period in the heel was then taken and subtracted from all cells to remove the drift that occurred. Figure 3.4 shows this protocol used on the insoles loaded with the constant 100kPa. This successfully maintained the percentage error within 1% of the initial error value throughout the 3 hours, demonstrating the successful removal of the drift associated with the insoles and ensuring that the reported changes are a genuine result of change over time.

3.2.8 Calf circumference as a measure of blood pooling/ oedema

As in paper 5, there is an agreement in the literature that oedema/ blood pooling in the lower leg increases with time (Coenen et al., 2017; Speed et al., 2018). However, differences between conditions such as footwear and flooring do not display consistent results. Some, as with the results from paper 5, do not find any difference between conditions of footwear or flooring that vary in cushioning (Cham and Redfern, 2001; Zander et al., 2004) whereas others do (Lin et al., 2012). Calf circumference, as used in Paper 5, is an indirect measure of blood pooling (Wiltman et al., 2019). The Gulick II tape measure has a tension meter on one end to ensure the same tension is applied each time, but it still relies on the user putting it around the limb in exactly the same location each time and ensuring the level placement around the limb. The circumference of the calf and ankle taken with a spring tape measure, like the Gulick tape measure, reported a coefficient of repeatability of ±5.1mm (Labs et al., 2000). The average change in calf circumference recorded in paper 5 over 3 hours was 6mm, thus any differences between conditions would have been below 6mm and therefore likely below the repeatability threshold. This means that calf circumference, as measured with a spring tape measure, might not have been sensitive enough to distinguish between conditions if differences did occur. In order to determine these differences, a more direct measure of blood pooling might be useful such as the use of near infrared spectroscopy to look at oxygenated/ deoxygenated haemoglobin, that has identified differences between flooring conditions over just one hour (Wiltman et al., 2019).

3.2.9 Between day repeatability (Paper 5)

In the study design of paper 5 considerable thought was given to removing equipment errors such as drift that occurred over the 3-hour protocol. This was essential given the novelty of protocol duration compared to previous research that measured short dynamic movements. However, this focus perhaps lead to the between day repeatability being slightly overlooked. Between day repeatability is important when considering the reported changes between the footwear conditions in paper 5 as the shoes were assessed on different days due to the fatigue caused by 3 hours of standing. Although the order of shoe testing was randomised, there was still a need to reapply the markers and sensors in each session. This was improved by marking the locations onto the participant with permanent between sessions. However, potential differences between days still needs to be considered.

In terms of the 3D kinematics measured by the Vicon camera system, error can be induced by intrinsic factors, such as variation in movement by the participants, or by extrinsic factors (McGinley et al., 2009). Extrinsic factors can be related to the system such as calibration and calculation errors, movement of the skin and soft tissue over the bony landmarks as well as error by the researcher such as through marker placement and identification of anatomical landmarks (Monaghan et al., 2007). It is these extrinsic factors that impact the between session repeatability (McGinley et al., 2009). A systematic review (McGinley et al., 2009) reports that between day repeatability for sagittal plane values was generally very good with reported coefficient of multiple correlations (CMCs) and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) over 0.8, apart from for pelvic tilt. Errors were greater in the transverse and sagittal planes. Overall, measurement variation mostly fell between 2-5° between sessions. This brings into question the small changes reported in hip adduction in paper 5 of about 1° difference between the shoes given frontal plane errors have been reported at about 2° (McGinley *et al.*, 2009). Despite being statistically significant, these differences are likely not relevant given they are within the reported between session error range. However, there is no assessment of repeatability for static tasks such as standing, which may differ as you would expect factors such as soft tissue artifact to be reduced. Furthermore, differences in marker locations between sessions, which is considered a key contributor to between day repeatability (Monaghan et al., 2007; McGinley et al., 2009), was standardised in this study with the markings on the legs, likely reducing the error.

Pedar measurements including contact area, PTI and peak pressure have been shown to be very repeatable between days for walking tasks with the heel, midfoot and metatarsal areas more repeatable than the toes (Putti *et al.*, 2007; Ramanathan *et al.*, 2010). The coefficient of repeatability for the heel, midfoot and metatarsals as a percentage of the mean value when walking ranged from 1.2-3.0% for contact area, 2.4-7.7% for peak pressure and 3.5-7.6% for the PTI (Putti *et al.*, 2007). For a static loading measurement over 7 hours, the percentage difference in error recorded between days ranged from -3.7% to 1.14%, with an average value of -0.9% for the insoles combined for a 5 N/cm² (50kPa) pressure (Hurkmans *et al.*, 2006). This difference was very small compared to the 17-28% error recorded over 3 hours continuous measurement, which was accounted for in Paper 5. Considering that in paper 5 the difference in plantar pressure values between the preferred and least preferred shoes

77

ranged from 12-32%, which is greater than any reported error values, suggests that this is likely a valid finding and the conclusions hold true.

3.2.10 The impact of the individual

In paper 5, it was found that individuals varied in their preference for footwear cushioning, and differences in biomechanical responses were found in relation to preference rather than condition, demonstrating that there are variations between individuals in response to standing tasks. However, when considering changes over time, it was the group effects alone that were considered. This assumes that we expected to see a non-individual response to prolonged standing that would be visible as an overall group effect. However, research has reported differences in responses between individuals, such as differences in the development of pain (Nelson-Wong *et al.*, 2008; Nelson-Wong and Callaghan, 2010a), associated muscular differences (Gregory *et al.*, 2008) and varying responses to standing varies between individuals and actually, a greater number of participants might have been beneficial to enable the identification of groups of individuals that did respond in the same way to standing. This was outside the scope of the aims of this project, and a prioritisation was made for a longer protocol with fewer participants, but it is worth considering this in future research.

3.2.11 Footwear comfort measurements

Footwear comfort is a key theme of the works presented here but comfort is complex and derived from both physical and psychological sensations that arise from the interaction between the foot and shoe. As such, the measurement of it is also complex and impacted by many factors that can affect the reliability of measurements tools. Papers 5 and 6 used a rankings system of footwear comfort/preference. Compared to the other two most commonly used scales, the Likert Scale and the Visual Analogue Scale, the ranking scale offers the most repeatable measure (Mills *et al.*, 2010; Lindorfer *et al.*, 2018), something which has been attributed to its low complexity (Hoerzer *et al.*, 2016). Although ranking does not provide information regarding the size of the differences between footwear (Hoerzer *et al.*, 2016), given the aims of this project in identifying the most preferred footwear, the relative comfort provided sufficient information. Moreover, it is more representative of how footwear would be chosen at point of purchase, where the favourite shoe would be selected.

The reliability of comfort assessments are dependent not only on the tool but also the individual using the tool (Hoerzer *et al.*, 2016; Lindorfer *et al.*, 2018). To make it more complicated, an individual's reliability has been shown to be scale dependent (Schwameder, 2019). There are many factors that can influence the ability to assess footwear comfort: foot sensitivity (Mündermann *et al.*,

2002), the psychological state or mood of an individual (Hoerzer *et al.*, 2016) and even the description (Chan *et al.*, 2020), brand or aesthetics (Taylor *et al.*, 2011) of a shoe. In paper 6, there was a range of reliability in the ranking scale when comparing the ranking given to the insole that was tested twice (Table 3.3). Almost 40% of individuals ranked the insoles next to each other (i.e. the most reliable) and a further 40% between 2-4 places apart from each other. This variation in individual repeatability could be viewed as a disadvantage, but it reflects the natural variations within a population. Removing certain individuals based on their reliability would remove those with specific characteristics, such as those with a low foot sensitivity, making the results less generalisable. In order to account for this variation in reliability, Paper 6 part 1 only assessed differences between the most and least preferred insole options, a difference in ranking that was greater than the worst repeatability difference.

Difference in rankings between the repeated insole *	Percentage of participants (%)	Cumulative percentage of participants (%)		
1	38	38		
2	9	47		
3	9	56		
4	19	75		
5	6	81		
6	13	94		
7	3	97		
8	3	100		
9	0	100		

Table 3.3 Difference in rankings given to the repeated insole in Paper 6, Part 1.

*A difference of 1 indicates maximum reliability

When using the rankings, participants in these works were instructed not to rank conditions at the same level, i.e. each had to have a unique number. This was to ensure the identification of the shoe or insole that they would have chosen if they were purchasing the product and that it was possible to compare the most and least preferred insoles. It is suggested that forced rankings such as these can lead to artificial differences between shoes when a participant actually views two or more conditions as equal in comfort (Lindorfer *et al.*, 2018). Given a few participants commented on the difficulty of distinguishing between their preference for some of the insoles in Paper 6 part 1, it is likely that given an option they would have ranked the insoles at the same level. However, again, as comparisons were only made between the most and least preferred insole, the impact of forcing rankings on the results were likely very low.

There are some unknowns in regard to footwear comfort testing that could have impacted results. First, the number of options that had to be ranked. In Paper 6 part one, there were 10 insoles to rank. Most previous studies have used fewer conditions than this (Table 3.4), with the highest

number of conditions for a ranking scale at 6 (Lindorfer *et al.*, 2018). One previous study has also used 10 conditions, although a different comfort questionnaire was used (Jordan *et al.*, 1997). Unfortunately, there is no research available on the maximum number of conditions that can be compared reliably, but it would be expected that there would be a decrease in reliability as the number of conditions increased. Although this could have impacted the order of ranked conditions in Paper 6 part 1, it is unlikely to have resulted in a complete reversal of order and thus the insoles carried over to part 2 of the study still likely reflected the preferred, or at least near preferred, options.

Reference	Time frame	Scale used	Number of test conditions	
(Mills <i>et al.,</i> 2010)	2-minute walk, 2-minute jog	Likert, VAS, Ranking	5 (Own shoe + 4 insoles)	
(Lindorfer <i>et al.,</i> 2018)	2 min run treadmill	Likert, VAS, Ranking	6 (5 test shoes + own shoe)	
(Mündermann <i>et al.,</i> 2002)	450m run	VAS	4 insoles	
(Miller <i>et al.,</i> 2000)	Standing – unknown time Walking – 200m Running – 600m	Borg Scale Rating	3 shoes	
(Mündermann <i>et al.,</i> 2001)	March – 500m	VAS	7 (shoe + 6 insoles)	
(Jordan <i>et al.,</i> 1997)	10m Walk	Comfort questionnaire	10 shoes	
(Jordan and Bartlett, 1995)	25m walk at set speed (+ habituation time)	5-point Likert scale	3 shoes	
(Kong and Bagdon, 400m Walk 2010) 400m Run		Ranking (preferred)	3 shoes	
(Chan <i>et al.,</i> 2020)	5-minute Running	VAS	2 shoes	
(Mei <i>et al.,</i> 2018)	20km run	VAS	1 shoe	
(Chen <i>et al.,</i> 1994)	Walking. Running until a comfort score could be indicated	Ranking	4 insoles	
(Mills <i>et al.</i> , 2011) Walking 2 min/ Jogging 2 (Mills <i>et al.</i> , 2011) Min		VAS Ranking	4 insoles	

 Table 3.4
 Length of time footwear was trialled before rating footwear comfort and number of conditions

A further methodological factor with an unknown impact is the length of time that a shoe is trialled prior to comfort assessment. As seen in Table 3.3, almost all studies assessing comfort do so over a few minutes of walking or jogging. Similarly, paper 6 part 1 used a 20m walk and 3 minutes of standing for the initial insole assessment. This is most representative of how a shoe is tried on prior to purchase in the real world but is also a reflection of the trade-off between available lab time and the number of conditions. When putting a shoe on, there is likely an adaptation period where the shoe

material responds to the foot inside it. Indeed, our results from paper 5 suggest the interaction between the shoe and the foot continues to change over three hours, as evidenced by changes in plantar pressure. This has also been found in running 20km, where morphological changes in the foot are associated with changes in plantar pressure and comfort over the average 100 minutes of running (Mei *et al.*, 2018). A recent paper identified EMG changes in the leg muscles for the first 7 minutes or 600 strides when running, after which a steady state was reached (Mohr *et al.*, 2021). This was attributed, based on the preferred movement path paradigm, to be due to neuromuscular adaptations to the individual's most efficient running style. Paper 6 saw a change in order of insole ranking following a full day compared to a few minutes that suggests that the change over time does not have a consistent effect on comfort but a footwear specific one. This information reinforced the need to test comfort over the period in which the shoe will be worn, to develop solutions to predict the best shoe or to identify a time period in which the footwear comfort becomes stable.

3.2.12 Participant characteristics

In total, 329 participants were used for all the studies combine. A summary of their characteristics can be seen in Table 3.5. One strength of this research is the number of participants included from the working populations that were studied. Papers 1, 3, 4 and 6 part 2 all included individuals working in prolonged standing environments, i.e. those who were habitual standers. Although in an ideal world, all research would have included workers, this was unpragmatic given recruitment and adherence to visits around the long work shifts and geographically the testing being in Manchester and most contacts living in Bristol where the company was located. Therefore, the laboratory studies (paper 5 and 6 part 1) used participants from a university population rather than a working population.

3.2.12.1 Height, weight and BMI

In 2018, the NHS health survey (NHS, 2018) reported that the average height for men was 175.6cm, weight was 84.8kg and BMI was 27.5kg/m². For women the average values were a height of 162.1cm, weight of 72.4kg and BMI again of 27.5kg/m². The largest samples of chefs and surgical workers were collected from the questionnaires but due to the nature of the study, the results regarding characteristics were self-reported. This would likely impact height, weight and BMI, with research reporting that self-reported height was generally over-reported, weight was under-reported and BMI was either about right or under-reported (Engstrom *et al.*, 2003; Gorber *et al.*, 2007). Despite this, the height, weight and BMI reported by the operating theatre staff were in line with the general

population values. The chef data (Paper 3) represents both males and females who reported being slightly taller and heavier but with similar BMIs to the general population, although the data that was physically measured in chefs in paper 6 part one was more similar to the average NHS data.

All of the data collected from the workplace represents a population of individuals that are, on average, in the overweight category, as defined by their BMI. In contrast to this, the participants in the laboratory studies were of a similar height to chefs that were measured but they weighed less and had lower BMI's. In paper 2, it was found that BMI was related to foot discomfort. Both prospective and retrospective research has similarly found a greater prevalence of MSD, including foot discomfort in those with greater BMI's (Andersen *et al.*, 2007; Irving *et al.*, 2007; Hill *et al.*, 2008; Nealy *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, using individuals with a slightly lower BMI could have reduced the development of musculoskeletal disorders in paper 5. However, the results still identified significant increases in all regions for musculoskeletal discomfort as well as differences in lower back pain discomfort between footwear conditions, thus the differences in BMI were not enough to prevent the occurrence of MSD. However, if changes in discomfort were lower, it might have acted to obscure differences between conditions.

	Paper 2	Paper 3	Chef Data	Paper 4	Paper 5	Paper 6 (1)	Paper 6 (2)	
Sample Size	27	147	75	14	12	34	20	
Occupation	Chef / veterinary surgeon / office workers	Operating theatre staff	Chef	Chef / veterinary surgeon / nurse	University	University	Kitchen	
Gender (% male)	Chef: 91% Vet: 43%	24%	73%	Chef: 75% Vet: 33%	42%	40%	65%	
Age	-	<40: 27% 40-50: 36% >50: 37%	40±10	-	28±5	32±10	30±8	
Height (m)	-	M:1.76±0.10 F:1.63±0.09	M:1.82±0.10 F:1.67±0.08	-	M: 1.70±0.05 F: 1.67±0.06	M:1.72±0.04 F: 1.67±0.06	M: 1.75±0.08 F: 1.64±0.05	
Weight (kg)	-	M: 83.7±14.5 F: 70.4±14.7	M: 91±20 F: 77±26	-	M: 70±15 F:67±9	M: 68±11 F:73±14	M: 82±16 F: 68±11	
BMI (kg/m²)	-	M: 27.1±3.5 F: 26.0±6.2	M: 28.0±6.3 F: 27.1±8.0	-	M: 24.2±4.0 F: 23.9±2.8	M: 23.0±3.5 F: 26.1±5.2	M: 26.7±1.2 F:25.7±4.8	
Time in job (years)	-	0-10: 29% 11-20: 33% 21-30: 21% 30+: 16%	20±11	Kitchen: 1-17 Vet: 3-37	-	-	-	
Hours/Week (hours)	-	<40: 70% >40: 29%	54±12	Kitchen 50±8 Vet: 40±6	-	-	-	
Shift Length	-	8-12	10±2	-	-	-	9.4±2.8	

Table 3.5 Participant data from all the works presented in this thesis

* Shaded boxes indicate self-reported measures

Greater BMI values have also been associated with changes in foot structures and morphology that could impact comfort and result in differences in plantar pressure. For example, a greater FPI has

been reported in individuals with a high BMI indicative of a flatter foot (Butterworth *et al.*, 2015; AlAbdulwahab and Kachanathu, 2016), which radiographic studies identify is a result of structural changes rather than just the observation of the increased fatty tissue. The higher loading associated with greater body mass causes greater peak pressures across all regions of the foot and an increased contact area under the medial midfoot that aligns with a lower medial arch and greater FPI score (Butterworth *et al.*, 2015). However, this study used individuals with an average difference in BMI of 11.5 kg/m², and it must be noted that our difference of 2.54 kg/m² is relatively small. In terms of weight, this was a difference of 9.5 kg. A previous study found an increased body weight of 10kg resulted in increased peak pressure under the heel and first metatarsal only, with no significant impact on the midfoot (Arnold *et al.*, 2010). In paper 5 identified increases in plantar pressure over time suggested to be, at least in part, a result of the footwear material deforming under the foot. A greater rate of change would likely have been observed in participants with a greater weight, due to the corresponding increase in load.

3.2.12.2 Gender

The results presented here indicate a primarily female workforce in the operating theatres and a primarily male workforce in the kitchen. For both laboratory studies, the proportion of females was around 60% of the tested population, which is higher than that seen in the kitchen, but lower than that seen in surgical staff.

Gender has been shown to influence activity, something which was not considered in these works. Previously, in restaurant staff, female participants spent about 12% less time standing, but a greater time walking than their male counterparts (Laperrie *et al.*, 2006). When walking, it was also recorded that they had longer step sequences and an increase in the number of steps per second. This has in part been attributed to the shorter step length of women but this does not explain the differences in full (Messing *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, it has been identified that even within individuals with identical jobs, tasks still differ between males and females (Messing and Elabidi, 2003; Messing *et al.*, 2015). Paper 2 does not contain enough participants to identify any differences between gender (Table 3.6), particularly the chefs where there was only one female participant. The average values for the veterinary surgeons show a greater amount of time spent standing statically for the female staff, but the spread of data is high, and the small numbers do not warrant a statistical comparison. If there are gender differences in standing activity, it could mean that the results recorded for chefs are biased towards male workers.

Consistently, women are recorded to report higher and more intense musculoskeletal pain that men (Bingefors and Isacson, 2004; Choobineh *et al.*, 2010; Messing *et al.*, 2015). This agrees with

the findings of paper 3, where being female was identified in the multivariate analysis as a risk factor for low back, hip, calf and foot pain. This could be due an increased 'acquired risk' for women, be it through ill designed equipment designed for men, exposure to different tasks or activity at work, or even differing demands outside of work such as an expectations in the home or family (Bingefors and Isacson, 2004; Strazdins and Bammer, 2004). Psychosocial variations, differences in the willingness to report pain and biological risks related to sex hormones and physiology might also play a role (Bingefors and Isacson, 2004).

		Chef				Vet			
		Male (n=10)		Female (n=1)		Male (n=3)		Female (n=4)	
		Mean	STD	Mean	STD	Mean	STD	Mean	STD
	Sit	13.4	8.2	8.3	-	29.5	24.6	22.8	15.8
% Overall time	Static Stand	20.7	6.7	17.3	-	41.3	20.5	52.6	13.2
	Weight Shift	24.9	3.9	24.8	-	15.8	8.0	15.1	4.7
	Shuffle	20.5	6.8	18.7	-	7.0	3.2	5.2	0.6
	Walk	20.5	7.7	31.0	-	6.4	2.1	4.3	2.6
	Upright Time	86.6	8.2	91.7	-	70.5	24.6	77.2	15.8
% Upright time	Static Stand	24.3	7.9	18.8	-	56.7	12.0	67.7	3.4
	Weight Shift	28.7	3.2	27.0	-	21.9	5.6	19.4	2.8
	Shuffle	23.4	6.5	20.3	-	10.6	4.6	6.9	1.4
	Walk	23.7	8.7	33.8	-	10.7	6.3	6.0	4.3

Table 3.6 Difference in activity reported for male and female participants in paper 3

3.2.12.3 Habitual Standing

A major difference between the University population and workers, is the difference in habitual standing for long periods. Only two studies from the same research team were found that assessed differences in prolonged standing in habitual versus non-habitual standers. A larger proportion of habitual standers (53%) developed low back pain compared to non-habitual standers (25%) over a 4.5 hour standing protocol (Wall *et al.*, 2019), suggesting they might be predisposed to lower back pain development. In a protocol that included 4.5 hours of standing, no differences were observed in oedema related measurements between habituated and non-habituated males with similar characteristics. However, there were some differences observed in muscle fatigue (Wall *et al.*, 2020). The authors therefore suggest a possible adaptation to motor unit recruitment in those habituated to standing work that temporarily delays fatigue but does not prevent it. Paper 5 did measurements. Due to the restraints regarding the time that most laboratory studies can be completed over, including paper 5, it might have actually been a benefit for EMG measures to recruit non-habitual standers in order to have a better chance of measuring fatigue in the allotted time. This,

however, assumes that the habitual standers would have the same response but at a delayed rate, which requires further research.

3.2.13 Sample size

The number of participants recruited for each study were mostly limited by time and resources rather than being led by a power analysis, as is the gold standard approach (Knudson, 2017). The sample size in paper 5 was limited due to the prioritisation of collecting data for a longer period of time, as identified as necessary by previous research (e.g. Cham and Redfern, 2001). Paper 6 was limited by the number of shoes available from the company for testing.

The limitation of sample sizes due to practicalities is not just an issue with these works, however, with one report suggesting that in 2009, the median range of subjects in biomechanics papers for specific journals was 12-18 (Knudson, 2011) and another suggesting most studies had 2-20 participants (Vagenas *et al.*, 2018). Similar study numbers have been shown for the past 20-30 years (Knudson, 2012; Vagenas *et al.*, 2018) but concerns around sample size numbers are being raised (Oliveira and Pirscoveanu, 2021).

Limitations to participant numbers can increase the number of biases such as through being underpowered, showing exaggerated effect sizes and results with poor replicability of results due to not being completely in line with the general population (Knudson, 2017). A recent study looking at running determined that low study numbers, in their case below 20 participants, could hide significant differences in the majority of variables (Oliveira and Pirscoveanu, 2021). They also reported that variables not expected to be affected showed an increased chance of being statistically different when participant numbers were below 25. Despite differences between running and standing and likely differences in repeatability, this does demonstrate that low study numbers have the potential to create false positive and false negative results statistically. Therefore, it would be recommended that future work building on the works here consider power calculations or studies to determine the impact of participant numbers. As to the effect on the results here, the results presented still give an important understanding of a new topic area, but the limitations of the statistical findings should be taken into consideration when drawing conclusions.

3.2.14 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis used in these papers were overall appropriate choices for the data collected. Parametric data tests were run to determine whether an ANOVA could be used on the data. Furthermore, Bonferroni corrections and Wilcoxon rank tests were used for the post hoc tests within ANOVA and Friedman tests, respectively. If anything, this was perhaps more conservative than required, with suggestions that exploratory studies should use less conservative correction methods

than the Bonferroni in order to limit type II errors and avoid missing any potential effects (Armstrong, 2014).

Paper 5, and to a lesser extent paper 6, considered a vast range of dependent variables due to the observational nature of the studies. They therefore used multiple ANOVA tests to test all the dependent variables. The use of many ANOVA tests within one study is common in biomechanics (Vagenas *et al.*, 2018) but this can also inflate the rate of type 1 errors or the experiment-wise error rate (Knudson, 2009). This error can be controlled for, although most biomechanics studies do not do so (Knudson, 2005, 2009). Although our papers used a Bonferroni correction within each independent ANOVA test run, no correction was added for the use of multiple ANOVA tests on many dependent variables. While not perhaps necessary in these papers, particularly given their exploratory nature, the impact of using this many tests should be considered going forward.

As identified above in section 3.2.10, individuals show variations in how they stand, such as in their pain development, footwear comfort scores and biomechanical measures. Inter and intra participant variation can impact the reliability and the statistics in studies. Grouping participants together under the assumption that there will be a single overall effect can mask individual differences (Mullineaux *et al.*, 2001). In paper 2 it is clear that participants, even within the same profession, showed large differences in their time spent in each activity. For example, time spent sitting for veterinary surgeons ranged from approximately 5% to 50% of their time at work despite having the same job role. Presenting just a mean value would have meant this variability was lost. In paper 5 we know that individuals developed different levels of pain in different areas, and perhaps there might also have been variations in biomechanics. Thus, further presenting individual data in more cases throughout might have added to the applicability of the data in the future.

Given the limitations associated with statistical tests, such as perhaps being too conservative with the Bonferroni corrections and as discussed earlier the low power associated with the low participant numbers, it might have been preferential to present more raw data, regardless of the statistical significance of the results. This is emphasised in recent recommendations for biomechanics statistics that suggests that non-significant p-values should not be considered as evidence of no effect (Harrison *et al.*, 2020). Further investigation and presentation of individual results would also have been useful for future investigations considering whether grouping participants is appropriate. However, the statistics used were overall appropriate choices, which is evidenced in the fact that they were published in peer-reviewed journals.

3.3 The KTP project and integration of commercial and academic work



Figure 3.5 Initial KTP workplan vs actual work completed

3.3.1 Comparison of completed work to KTP plan

As part of a KTP project, there was an initial workplan submitted for the project funding, which I was given at the start of the project. This workplan provided a base to work from but was flexible to change, which occurred throughout the project guided by information from the literature, to align with business decisions and to ensure a final research driven project could be delivered (Figure 3.5).

The initial literature search identified minimal information around workplace footwear as well as no broad review of the prolonged standing research. This resulted in the initial footwear review to be replaced by a much broader scope, that was more beneficial for the project as it included a review of research techniques and opened it up to the inclusion of flooring, which helped to identify the importance of underfoot cushioning. The initial planned observations were replaced with the objective accelerometer measure, and the breaking down of standing into 3 new activities. A questionnaire was added to aid the understanding of current musculoskeletal problems and associated factors as well as to identify current footwear habits.

In terms of the development of the footwear, the initial workplan identified two steps, testing current footwear against competitors and then identifying new product opportunities that would then be tested. However, the literature review reported one of the major limitations of footwear research to be a lack of understanding surrounding distinct footwear design factors. Testing different footwear that varied in multiple characteristics would not have solved this and might have prevented the identification of new footwear opportunities. Instead, with the results from the first 4 studies, the importance of cushioning was identified as the important design factor. Variations in cushioning were then tested to see their impact over time (Paper 5). This identified the importance of individual footwear preference leading the second study to focus on the development of a range of insoles that varied in hardness. An additional part was added (Paper 6, part 2) that then tested these insoles for an entire day in the workplace and developed a method of identifying the preferred insole that was suitable for e-commerce.

3.3.2 Integrating research with business

Overall, this project worked well to meet its aims, with both parties working collaboratively throughout. This is evidenced through being one of three finalists for the award 'Best KTP Partnership' out of 798 companies and 105 universities that had projects ending in the year 2018-19. This award is described as 'recognising the collaboration that has excelled in the benefits achieved by all three participants – business partner, academic partner and associate'.

The reasons behind the partnership's success are captured well in a conceptual model derived from a systematic review investigating factors that impact industry-university partnerships, shown in

Figure 3.6 (Rybnicek and Königsgruber, 2019). In our KTP project the objectives and outputs were clearly defined from the start with a strong compatibility of goals formed between the business and university. Although changes were made during the project, both partners were open and flexible to developing solutions together to meet the shared outcomes. The team's expertise complimented each other, with the university having the equipment, research and prior knowledge transfer experience where the business had the production facilities, expertise and ability to bring a product to market. Communication was aided by my role, as I spent time at both locations, with regular catch ups with both teams.

As acknowledged by Rybnicek and Königsgruber, (2019), the scale of the business can have an impact on a project. The fact that the business was a small family business meant that everyone was invested in the research project. Internal communication was strong and ensuring the involvement from all departments such as through research sessions and updates meant all aspects of the business could understand the importance of the work and use the developed knowledge effectively.

However, small businesses can be more unstable and likely to alter their business strategy more frequently (Barnes *et al.*, 2002). This held true for this KTP with the original company dividing into two companies part way through the project. The new company took over the research, but their target market became hospitality rather than the surgical market although the outputs from the KTP remained shared. This change is evident in this body of research as the initial emphasis on surgical staff, particularly in paper 3, resulted in a combination of workplaces for papers 2 and 4 and a final hospitality focus in paper 6. Fortunately, the focus on prolonged standing remained, with paper 3 and the equivalent hospitality data demonstrating similar musculoskeletal problems within both environments, thus the research problem remained the same. Although it did require the development of a new group of end-users to work with, the benefits of not working with NHS staff made ethics and communication much easier. Furthermore, the branding and marketing of the new partner company focused heavily on the research, reflected in its name that integrates the concepts of focusing around the wearer and on the 'tech' side to improve the products.

Changes in personnel within the new company also impacted the project, a factor that has been identified to potentially be disruptive (Barnes *et al.*, 2002). The restructuring of the business led to both new investors and new management. The commercial benefits from this were clear, with decision making and business functions improved. However, it did create a more driven environment, with greater pressure on research to deliver products that emphasised the different expectations in commercial and research timelines (Klimstra and Raphael, 1992). As this occurred towards the second half of the project, there was no major disruption that occurred, but it will be interesting to see the impact this has on ongoing research. Relationship factors such as trust develop on an individual basis (Barnes *et al.*, 2002), thus it was important to ensure new members were integrated within the project and that they became invested in the outcomes. This included providing a clear understanding of research timelines and expectations where individuals had not worked with academia before and developing an understanding between all those involved of the benefits of scientific rigour. One particularly beneficial change in personnel was the appointment of a footwear developer. Their expertise with footwear factories, materials and manufacturing methods enabled the final product to be developed and in a much shorter time frame than would otherwise have been possible.



Figure 3.6 Conceptual model of successful business and university collaboration (Rybnicek and Königsgruber, 2019), p229

3.4 Overarching Research Limitations

3.4.1 Standing: how much is too much?

This body of work focuses on the detrimental impact of standing throughout the working day. However, there is a similar body of research suggesting that prolonged sitting is as bad for the health. Prolonged sitting is most frequently associated with office workers. Paper 2 found office workers spent 70.8% of their time at work sitting, similar to the 66-69% reported in larger cohorts (Oliver *et al.*, 2010; Ryan *et al.*, 2011). Excessive time spent in sedentary behaviour like sitting are associated with detrimental health outcomes and chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes and obesity (Rezende *et al.*, 2016), even when physical activity guidelines are met (Hamilton *et al.*, 2008). As with those undertaking prolonged standing tasks, prolonged sitting is also associated with musculoskeletal disorders of the lower back (Thorp *et al.*, 2014; Karakolis *et al.*, 2016). Indeed, one study that assessed both sitting and standing found the average lower back discomfort increased at a similar rate for both tasks (Karakolis *et al.*, 2016).

In the same way that breaking periods of standing up with sitting or walking can be beneficial for discomfort, the reverse is true for sitting. These individuals are actively encouraged to break up periods of sitting such as through the use of standing desks, or even treadmill desks (MacEwen *et al.*, 2015). In overweight and obese individuals, introducing periods of standing reduced low back pain by 32% (Thorp *et al.*, 2014). Thus, standing itself can be a beneficial activity when it is not the primary posture.

Therefore, the negative factors associated with prolonged occupational standing reported in this thesis are a result of the high exposure time in the discussed occupations. Standing itself can evidently be beneficial for musculoskeletal discomfort when used to break up other activities and in much lower doses than reported here. Any activity-based solution to reducing musculoskeletal disorders would likely not be to adapt workplaces to promote sitting, but would be about adopting a mixture of activities, or being 'just right' dubbed the 'Goldilocks Principle' by Straker, Mathiassen and Holtermann (2018). The differing responses observed by individuals to standing would also likely mean the optimum balance of activity may well be dependent on the individual.

3.4.2 Is a footwear solution enough?

These works were geared to a footwear solution as a result of the commercial nature of the project and although the impact that footwear alone could have on musculoskeletal disorders is unknown, it is unlikely to provide a full solution by itself.

Despite identifying the benefits of focusing on footwear in comparison to flooring earlier on, it is necessary to realise that they are not independent of one another, particularly when considering cushioning. It is the combined effect of the insole, shoe and flooring in series (i.e. any surface between the foot and ground) that creates the overall characteristics of the system (Goonetilleke, 1999). Thus, Paper 5 was really assessing the comfort of the test shoes on the specific flooring present in the laboratory, which may well have differed if, for example, a largely different flooring such as a soft carpet was used. Furthermore, if a shoe with a different midsole was used to identify insole preferences in paper 6, this would also impact the system and perhaps an individual's insole preference. The importance of workplace flooring for musculoskeletal disorders has been emphasised in a study that found variations in workplace flooring impacted musculoskeletal disorders in the long term regardless of the footwear used (Wahlström *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, although footwear arguably offers more opportunities to make beneficial change, the flooring should not be dismissed both in regard to musculoskeletal disorders and footwear comfort or preference. Likewise, when exploring the impact of insoles, the type of shoe the insole is being used in should be a consideration.

Any physical solution, flooring or footwear, might need to be combined with other concepts for a more complete solution, such as exercises to strengthen or activate muscles. Work considering lower back pain has demonstrated some evidence suggesting co-contraction of the gluteus medius muscles (Nelson-Wong *et al.*, 2008), hip abductor strength and endurance (Marshall *et al.*, 2011) or hip range of motion can contribute to pain development. Furthermore, there is an initial indication that using targeted exercises can improve tolerance to standing, resulting in a significant reduction in low back pain (Ingerson *et al.*, 2019). A randomised controlled trial reported the greatest reduction in musculoskeletal disorders of the lower back and limbs in standing workers over 8 weeks was seen in individuals given both insoles and exercises, compared to either condition alone (Mousavi *et al.*, 2019). Of course, the impact of exercises will be largely a result of the muscles targeted and the aim of the exercises (e.g. strengthening vs stretching) but this does suggest that a combination of approaches would be beneficial.

3.5 Recent research and future directions

3.5.1 Activity and musculoskeletal disorders

Within paper 2 standing was divided into three more precise movements and suggested that these may help to link musculoskeletal disorders with activity. Recently, two papers confirmed this theory with a focus on static standing. Defining static standing as an inclination of the thigh below 45 and no movement of the thigh (very similar to our definition), a relationship between time spent static standing and musculoskeletal disorders of the hip, knee and lower back was found (Locks *et al.*, 2018, 2019). Going one step further and dividing continuous periods of static standing into short (<5 minutes), medium (5-10 minutes) or long bouts (>10 minutes), it was also identified that the length of these bouts was important, with longer periods worse for low back pain (Locks *et al.*, 2018).

The works presented here did not consider activity outside of work in detail, but recent research identifies the importance of including this. Standing bouts in leisure time have been related to a greater risk of lower back pain (Locks *et al.*, 2018). On the other hand, dynamic physical activity in leisure time could reduce the impact of prolonged standing and has been shown to lower long-term sickness absence (Gupta *et al.*, 2020). Qualitatively, nurses have also identified dynamic sports activities in their leisure such as walking, jogging and cycling to be a beneficial way to counter the static standing performed at work (Stolt *et al.*, 2018).

Thus, determining a link between activity and musculoskeletal disorders requires further investigation, and should include a range of standing activities, the length of standing bouts and ideally activity outside of work too. While previous work has considered static standing, including our definitions of shuffling and weight shifting would provide a more complete overview of workplace activity and an understanding of the impact of these more dynamic standing movements. This information could be important for identifying exposure-based risk factors, identifying differences between job roles and specific individuals (e.g. male vs female) and eventually for developing health and safety guidelines.

3.5.2 The effect of time (footwear and participants age)

More work should be done to consider the longer-term impacts of standing, especially given the alterations in footwear comfort over a day (Paper 6). This includes changes to both the body and footwear. For example, how much goes the foot shape change over a working day in shape and size? Does the arch lower over the day as seen in running (Mei *et al.*, 2018)? How does the shoe change shape over the working day and how long does it take the material to recover after use (i.e. should it be worn every two days rather than every day to allow recovery)? Considering these factors and how the interaction between the shoe and foot change as well could lead to solutions to improve comfort over time, even if it is as simple as having a shoe that adjusts in size slightly or switching shoes half way through the day.

These changes should then be further considered over the lifetime of the individual. The foot changes with age: it gets wider and longer, fat pads under the foot get thinner, the foot arch gets flatter, range of motion at the ankle reduces and foot sensitivity is lowered (Scott *et al.*, 2007; Ansuategui *et al.*, 2016). These factors can alter an individual's biomechanics and therefore likely impact comfort when standing, for example modelling studies have shown that thinner heel pads are associated with greater plantar pressures (Chatzistergos *et al.*, 2015). Investigating the impact of a career in a standing occupation on these factors is important as it could alter the rate of these changes. Furthermore, some of these factors, namely foot arch height and foot sensitivity, impact footwear comfort meaning there is potentially an impact of age on footwear comfort or preference.

The lifetime of the shoe is also of interest. It was identified from the questionnaires that the length of time a shoe is worn for by workers varies largely. In running, it is known that the age of footwear is related to injury risk (Taunton *et al.*, 2003) and changes in biomechanics (Kong *et al.*, 2009). One of the most used running midsole foams, ethylene vinyl acetate or EVA, is also frequently used for the midsole of work shoes. Therefore, it is likely there is a maximum time footwear should be worn for in the workplace before it potentially becomes a risk factor for musculoskeletal disorders. Asides from the comfort, slip resistant is also reduced with time and is important to workers, particularly those in kitchens, so assessing when a shoe becomes unsafe to wear should also be reviewed.

3.5.3 Further concepts not considered in this thesis

The studies presented here considered a huge range of variables, but it was not possible to explore every related theme and concept. However, there are a few further concepts that have the potential to develop this research in the future and warrant a mention within this thesis.

The first of these concepts is the consideration of the tissue properties on the plantar foot surface. As discussed in section 3.4.2 above, it is the combined effects of insole, shoe and flooring that creates the overall cushioning effects of the system (Goonetilleke, 1999). However, the work presented here did not consider the impact that the plantar tissue itself, such as the heel pad, had in this system. This is particularly pertinent given that research has shown that differences in the tissue properties and thickness of the heel pad influence plantar pressure and loading (Chatzistergos *et al.*, 2015; Behforootan *et al.*, 2017). Given the link we reported between comfort and plantar pressure, this is something that has the potential to impact comfort. Heel pad properties have been shown to change in association with conditions such as diabetes and plantar heel pain (Hsu *et al.*, 2002; Rome *et al.*, 2002) and as with any biological factors, natural variability in the heel pad can be seen in studies

that have measured it (Taş and Bek, 2018). This variation suggests that heel pad properties could have an impact on individual comfort and thus be another factor relating to footwear preference. Furthermore, it has been shown that confining the heel pad with the aid of a heel counter could reduce stress in the region during static standing (Spears *et al.*, 2007) suggesting that footwear design can be used to assist or alter the function of the heel pad. Despite this, one modelling study did not report an impact of heel pad properties on the optimum insole properties (Chatzistergos *et al.*, 2015). Given the variation in heel pad properties, its relationship to the cushioning system between the body and foot, it is certainly a variable that warrants future exploration in relation to standing.

Foot temperature and humidity are two factors that we know influence footwear comfort (Irzmańska *et al.*, 2014; Anderson *et al.*, 2017). This is particularly important in environments like kitchens that are very warm, combined with the fact that many kitchen shoes are made from easy to clean materials such as EVA that are not breathable. Although identified by workers in our interview study as impacting footwear comfort (paper 4), this was not chosen as a route to investigate. This was mostly because it was a known issue that was under consideration by the footwear developers at the company in terms of footwear material selection. Furthermore, there was no equipment readily available for measuring in shoe conditions and removing the foot from the shoe would have impacted the in-shoe conditions and likely comfort. Alterations in the shoe microclimate (temperature and humidity) have also been shown to predispose to foot problems such as blisters and reductions in foot health (Kirkham *et al.*, 2014; West *et al.*, 2019). This would be particularly important to include as a variable if measuring footwear comfort in workplace settings over prolonged periods and it would be interesting to determine If objective and subjective measures of the foot microclimate aligned.

A more recent technique that is used in lower limb research is infrared thermography. This allows the measurement of infrared light or heat being radiated from the skin surface (Astasio-Picado *et al.*, 2018). It has been used commonly to assess the foot temperature and could be used for this alone, but it also has uses when looking at disease progression. Changes in skin temperatures are associated with changes in the peripheral blood flow as blood circulation is the regulator of peripheral temperature (Tattersall, 2016; Astasio-Picado *et al.*, 2018). Blood flow changes can be linked to inflammation and tissue damage or degeneration. It is thought to be useful from a clinical perspective, particularly in diabetes and peripheral arterial disease, where it can be useful for the early identification of tissue damage (Ilo *et al.*, 2020). Infrared thermography has more recently been used to determine regions of pain in diseases that are hard to diagnose, including lower back pain (Polidori *et al.*, 2018; Alfieri *et al.*, 2019). Thermography could therefore be a novel tool to further understand the known changes in blood flow to the foot discussed throughout this thesis, but also a tool that is worth investigating as a potential objective measure of musculoskeletal disorders.

3.5.4 Footwear comfort

Footwear comfort remains a topic of interest, including a drive towards finding solutions for specific groups of people. A recent paper considering safety shoes for workers, assessed differences in safety footwear opinions between men and women (Janson *et al.*, 2021). Although both men and women reported discomfort associated with their work shoes, this was greater in women and corresponded to a reduced wear time, potentially due to the previously male-dominated industries and therefore likely the male foot that the safety shoes were designed for. This emphasises the need for future research to consider differences in footwear needs between genders and how having shoes designed for each gender is important.

The VAS, Likert or Ranking scales are the scales used for assessing footwear comfort. It has recently been suggested that these methods have not been developed in a robust systematic way that assesses footwear factors that are meaningful to end-users (Bishop *et al.*, 2020). This paper went on to develop a running shoe comfort assessment tool prospectively in three stages: an online questionnaire to identify meaningful running shoe factors to users, testing of shoe models using draft questionnaire to refine questions, testing the reliability and discriminative ability of the method as well as identifying meaningful changes. In the future, a similar approach to develop a tool for standing workers could be useful in improving comfort ratings surrounding specific footwear design features. As already discussed, it is also important to consider methodological factors such as the number of shoes that can be reliably assessed at any one time and the length of time that each shoe should be worn for before being assessed.

Continuing to develop tools to identify comfortable footwear is also going to remain important while purchasing habits are unchanged. While Paper 6 identifies simplistic questions to find the preferred shoe, there remains room for improvement. A larger study looking at end-user's ability to assess their own arch height is warranted based on its relationship to footwear comfort. It might also be possible to develop physical tools to help this process, such as print outs with height guides.

3.5.5 Footwear for standing

The works presented here focused on footwear cushioning, but work should continue to assess other footwear factors in relation to comfort over prolonged standing. First, as medial midfoot plantar pressure was identified as a key factor relating to footwear comfort, contouring of the insole, particularly under the medial arch could also be important. In fact, one study reported contouring to be more important than cushioning for comfort (Mills *et al.*, 2011). It is likely that there is a relationship between hardness and contouring under the medial arch in which changing one will impact the preference for the other, so this must also be considered in any future works. When considering aspects aside from the insole that can be altered, heel height could also impact comfort. A sloped surface has been tested as a means to reduce lower back musculoskeletal disorders. There was a preference for a downward slope, for which you could get a similar effect by raising the heel. A slope has been shown to reduce lower back pain in pain developers by an average 60% on a VAS and 88% of participants said they would use the slope if they stood for a prolonged time at work. (Nelson-Wong and Callaghan, 2010b). Having a sloped floor might work under a desk or in a factory setting, but in more dynamic environments, if the same effect can be made by altering heel height, then that would be highly beneficial given lower back has the highest prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders in the populations reported in these works.

3.5.5 Education

To ensure the use of good, comfortable footwear in standing workers, it is also important to make information readily available and promote it in an efficient way to educate workers. The need for this education is highlighted in Paper 4 with the identification that some workers did not think that footwear could impact aches and pains they were feeling. There is emerging evidence that education can impact behaviour in relation to foot health and footwear selection. An education module on footwear altered the perceptions of almost two thirds of runners, with over half indicating their shoe selection methods would be altered (Dhillon *et al.*, 2020). An education module on foot health was developed for nurses, and it was reported that they particularly valued the information regarding footwear and socks (Stolt *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, one part of future research should include the identification of methods to disseminate information to workers and their employers. Unless end users understand how to choose footwear and look after their feet and the associated advantages of doing so, then the developed products and knowledge will not be effectively translated into the real world.

3.6 Conclusion

The six peer-reviewed papers presented and the associated critique in this thesis provide a novel insight into the effects of prolonged standing and the research-led development of a footwear solution. The mixed methods approach enabled the consideration of the wearer as well as the biomechanical effects of prolonged standing and footwear. The completed research starts to fill gaps in the knowledge of this previously under researched area and has identified specific topics that require investigation in the future. The impact of the research on the footwear company was large, resulting in a new product, developing internal staff knowledge and creating marketing and sales tools. Furthermore, a number of footwear recommendations were developed for the company and user.

The main take away points from this body of work are:

- Musculoskeletal disorders are very high in the two standing populations investigated in this thesis (operating theatre workers and kitchen workers), with feet the second most prevalent region of pain despite being previously overlooked.
- Prolonged 'standing' is complex and can be broken down in to a range of tasks, that has enabled more recent research to ascertain links with activity and musculoskeletal disorders.
- One shoe will not work for everyone and a range of shoes should be offered to workers. The hardness underneath the medial arch is a key factor for which preference between individuals varies.
- Footwear comfort should be tested over a working day, if not longer, as it changes with time.
 If it is not possible to test footwear for a working day prior to selection by workers, then other methods such as the development of questionnaires as in paper 6 part 2 should be invested in by the sellers to identify the shoe that will provide the greatest long-term comfort. This would be beneficial for the businesses too as it would likely increase product satisfaction and resales.

While these works provide an initial indication of a relationship between footwear comfort and time, this needs to be extended to consider why this happens and extended to investigate the age of the individual and the age of the shoe. Further work should be done to understand footwear comfort and to identify if there are different ways that it can be assessed. Much remains to be investigated in relation to footwear for standing workers, including other design factors such as heel height and insole contouring, the use of novel research techniques and finally, the translation of this information to the real world must also be considered to ensure the research findings resultantly benefit those that need it.
Overall, these works identify the large impact that prolonged standing has on the body, particularly in relation to musculoskeletal disorders, including the feet that have been previously disregarded. It identifies a role of footwear in reducing musculoskeletal disorders in these workers that could reduce the loss of workforce including absenteeism, improve quality of life for workers and have financial implications.

Chapter 4 : Appendices

Appendix 1 Co-authors statement on contributed work

Associated table on page vii

Professor Chris Nester (papers 1-6)

RE: paper JFAR and prima facia paperwork



Christopher Nester To Jennifer Anderson; Anita Williams

Yes for me

Thanks (and stay in and safe everyone)

Chris



WORKING AT HOME PROFESSOR CHRIS NESTER Lead Professor, Directorate of Allied and Public Health, Academic Director, EPSRC CDT in Prosthetics & Orthotics, Office PO 32, Brian Blatchford Building (click here), +44(0) 7780 56 80 54. cj.nester@salford.ac.uk /





The content of this email is confidential and intended for the recipient specified in the message only. It is strictly forbidden to share any part of this message with any third party, which

From: Jennifer Anderson <<u>J.R.Anderson1@salford.ac.uk</u>> Sent: 11 May 2020 10:03 To: Christopher Nester <<u>C.J.Nester@salford.ac.uk</u>>; Anita Williams <<u>A.E.Williams1@salford.ac.uk</u>> Subject: RE: paper JFAR and prima facia paperwork

Hi Chris,

Thanks for that, I have edited the table to include all of these now.

I haven't specified contribution from yourself and Anita individually, so 'joint contribution' refers to areas from everyone.

If this looks okay now, then if you could just confirm this on email then I can screen grab it into the paperwork.

Thanks, Jenny

Dr Anita Williams (papers: 1-6)

RE: paper JFAR and prima facia paperwork



Hi Jenny

I can confirm that the information provided in your Prima Facia report regarding your contribution to the works is accurate

Kind regards Anita



Dr Anita Williams Reader in Qualitative Health Science Research Programme Lead MSc Podiatry School of Health and Society PO 29 Brian Blatchford Building Univeristy of Salford Frederick Road M6 6PU (44) 0161 295 7027

Professor Malcolm Granat (paper: 1)

RE: phd by publication - work contribution

MG Malcolm Granat To Jennifer Anderson

Dear Jenny,

Thank you for passing on the information regarding you including your paper "Exploring occupational standing activities using "accelerometer-based activity monitoring" for your PhD.

I confirm that the table you sent me, which gives details of your independent contribution, is accurate.

Best wishes,

Malcolm



Appendix 2 - Commercial use of research

Research on web page:

https://www.wearertech.com/about/wearer-innovation-loop/ https://www.toffeln.com/comforttech

Marketing video links

Wearer Innovation Loop – collaboration with Salford (Project Overview) <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jHwiTzxK7_Y</u>

Why do chefs experience pain during the working day? <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JScZg24bDiU</u>

What's one of your most interesting findings? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DM_hEJ4s-hI

Why is it so important to focus on people standing on their feet all day? <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=est-ioiXZ30</u>

How have wearers guided research? https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9YCEI_oPet4

Find out why research is key when it comes to pain relief – full interview <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3aNI5YsrP2A</u>

Marketing blog posts

Creation of the customer panel https://www.wearertech.com/blog/customer-panel/

What it's like to spend all day on your feet https://www.wearertech.com/blog/what-its-like-to-spend-all-day-on-your-feet/

The science of comfortable shoes https://www.wearertech.com/blog/the-science-of-comfortable-shoes/

New Research on Prolonged standing at work https://www.wearertech.com/blog/new-research-on-prolonged-standing-at-work/

The science behind our custom pro range https://www.wearertech.com/blog/the-science-behind-our-custom-pro-range/

Appendix 3 - Insole selection tool

Insole selection tool available on the WearerTech website. <u>https://www.wearertech.com/vitalise/</u> [Accessed 14/06/2121]

		What type of foo	ot arch do you have	when standing?
JAL COLLAB	OLLABOR A JIZ		Medium Arch	High Arch
vveare	NOVATIO			
	Soft material with less support	Medium Insole	Soft Insole	Soft Insole
How do you prefer a shoe to feel under the arch of	Medium firmness with some support	Firm Insole	Medium Insole	Soft Insole
your foot?	Firm material for more support	Firm Insole	Firm Insole	Medium Insole

www.wearertech.com

Appendix 4- Conference Abstract 1: Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Gold Coast, Australia. 20th-22nd July 2017

Reference: Anderson, J. R., C. J. Nester, and A. E. Williams (2017). The effect of prolonged standing on the body and the impact of footwear hardness. *Footwear Science* 9.sup1: S67-S68.

Appendix 5 - Conference Abstract 2: Footwear Biomechanics Symposium. Calgary, Canada. 28th-30th July 2019.

Reference: Anderson, Jennifer, Anita Williams, and Christopher Nester (2019). The development of a multiinsole shoe for occupations requiring prolonged standing. *Footwear Science* 11.sup1: S139-S140.

Appendix 6 - Questionnaire (Paper 3)

Page 2: Footwear

1 What footwear do you currently wear to work?

- □ Dress shoe
- □ Flat dolly shoe/pump
- ☐ Trainer
- F Flat boots
- $\hfill\square$ Safety shoe (with toe cap)
- Safety boot (with toe cap)
- □ Other

1.a If you selected Other, please specify:

2 Where do you normally purchase or receive your footwear from?

- □ Supermarket (e.g. Asda, Tesco, Sainsbury's)
- □ High street shoe store (e.g. Schuh, Office, Clarks, Hotter, Crocs)
- □ High street department or clothing store (e.g. Marks and Spencers, Topshop, House of Fraser)
- ┌─ Specialist Orthopaedic Shoe Shop (e.g. Ken Hall)
- □ Specialist work shoe company (e.g. Toffeln, Oxypas)
- □ Other

2.a If you selected Other, please specify:

2.b What is the make of shoe you usually wear to work?

3 Do you own multiple pairs of work shoes that you regularly rotate between wearing?

F Yes - I have multiple pairs of the exact same shoe (always the same make and model)

- □ Yes I have multiple pairs of the same type of shoe
- $\ensuremath{\,\square}$ Yes I have multiple pairs of shoes that are different in type
- $\hfill\square$ No I wear the same pair of shoes each day

4 Do you use insoles/ orthotics that you have added inside your shoe?

□ Yes - I use shop bought insoles

- \square Yes I wear insoles I was prescribed by a professional (e.g. podiatrist)
- □ No I don't use insoles or orthotics

4.a If yes, what features do the insoles/ orthotics have?

- 🗆 Cushioning
- ☐ Shock absorbing
- □ Arch support
- □ Heel raise
- Lateral wedge
- □ Rocker

□ Other

4.a.i If you selected Other, please specify:

5 Do you normally (day-to-day basis) wear socks with your shoes at work?

☐ Yes, I normally wear socks

□ No, I do not normally wear socks

Page 3: Pain

Using the picture below as a rough guide, please answer the following questions.



Lower back

6 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your lower back?

□ Yes

6.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of this trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your lower back?

□ Yes □ No □ NA (I don't have pain)

6.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/ discomfort) in your lower back in the last 12 months?

□ No time off work

□ Under a week

□ Up to a month (4 weeks)

□ More than a month

□ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

6.c Have you had any low back trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) at any time during the last 7 days?

□ Yes

□ No□ NA (I don't have any trouble)

6.d Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist, chiropractor or other such person because of low back trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) during the last 12 months?

⊢ Yes
 ⊢ No
 ⊢ NA (I don't have trouble)

6.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your lower back.

6.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or discomfort in your lower back?

Hip/ Thigh

7 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your hips/thighs?

- ☐ Yes in the right hip/ thigh
- □ Yes in the left hip/thigh
- □ Yes in both the hips/thighs

□ No

7.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your hips/thighs?

⊢ Yes ⊢ No

■ NA (I don't have pain)

7.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/ discomfort) in your hip/ thighs in the last 12 months?

- □ No time off work
- □ Under a week
- □ Up to a month (4 weeks)
- □ More than a month
- 🗁 NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

7.c Have you had any trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your hips/thighs at any time during the last 7 days?

F Yes F No

🗖 NA (I don't have pain)

7.d Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist, or other such person because of trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your hips/thighs during the last 12 months?

⊢ Yes
 ⊢ No
 ⊢ NA (I don't have pain)

7.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your hip/thighs.

7.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or dicomfort in your hip/ thigh?



Knee

8 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your knee?

- □ Yes in both the knee
- ⊏ No

8.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your knee?

□ Yes□ No□ NA (I don't have any trouble)

8.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/ discomfort) in your knee in the last 12 months?

■ No time off work

- □ Under a week
- □ Up to a month (4 weeks)
- □ More than a month
- NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

8.c Have you had any trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your knee at any time during the last 7 days?

⊢ Yes ⊢ No

NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

8.*d* Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist or other such person because of trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your knee during the last 12 months?

□ Yes
 □ No
 □ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

8.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your knees.

8.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or discomfort in your knee(s)?

Lower leg/calf

9 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your lower leg/calf?

- □ Yes in the right lower leg/calf
- ⊢ Yes in the left lower leg/calf
- □ Yes in both the lower legs/calfs

F No

9.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your lower leg/calf?

Г	Yes
Г	No

□ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

9.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/ discomfort) in your lower leg/ calf in the last 12 months?

- □ No time off work
- □ Under a week
- □ Up to a month (4 weeks)
- □ More than a month
- □ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

9.c Have you had any trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your lower leg/calf at any time during the last 7 days?

9.d Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist or other such person because of trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your lower leg/calf during the last 12 months?

9.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your lower leg/calf.

9.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or discomfort in your lower leg/ calf?

Ankle

10 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your ankle?

- □ Yes in the right ankle
- $\hfill \ensuremath{\,\square}$ Yes in the left ankle
- □ Yes in both the ankles

⊏ No

10.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your ankle?

□ Yes □ No

140

NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

10.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/ discomfort) in your ankle in the last 12 months?

□ No time off work

□ Under a week

□ Up to a month (4 weeks)

□ More than a month

NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

10.c Have you had any trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your ankle at any time during the last 7 days?

⊢ Yes ⊢ No

NO

□ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

10.d Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist or other such person because of trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your ankle during the last 12 months?

□ Yes □ No

NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

10.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your ankles.

10.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or discomfort in your ankle(s)?

Feet

11 Have you at any time in the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort) in your feet?

□ Yes - in the right foot

□ Yes - in the left foot

□ Yes - in both the feet

□ No

11.a If yes, have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your feet?

⊢ Yes

□ No
□ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

11.b Approximately how much time off from work have you had to take as a result of the trouble (ache/ pain/

discomfort) in your feet in the last 12 months?

□ No time off work

□ Under a week

□ Up to a month (4 weeks)

More than a month

□ NA (I don't have any aches, pain or discomfort)

11.c Have you had any trouble (ache, pain or discomfort) in your feet at any time during the last 7 days?

11.d Have you been seen by a doctor, physiotherapist, podiatrist or other such person because of trouble in your feet during the last 12 months?

11.e Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your feet.

11.f Are there any particular tasks or movements that you associate with the aches, pains or discomfort in your feet?

Page 4: Foot problems

12 Using the below diagram as a rough guide, can you identify any area in your foot that you feel pain during the



Top of foot





working day (select all that apply)?

- □ 1 Inside of big toe
- □ 2 top of toes
- □ 3 back of heel
- □ 4 bottom of heel
- □ 5 arch area under foot
- □ 6 outside edge of foot
- □ 7 ball of feet
- □ 8 underside of toes
- □ 9 between toes
- 🗖 NA no pain in the foot
- 13 Do you suffer from any known foot conditions?

E No			
☐ Blisters			
Г Corns			
🗖 Calluses			
🗖 Plantar fasciitis			
☐ Bunions			
🗖 High arch			
□ Low arch			
F Hammer toe			
□ Claw toe			
□ Yes - other			

13.a If you selected Other, please specify:

13.b Was this foot condition diagnosed by a professional (e.g. podiatrist)?

F Yes
 F No
 F NA

14 Do you suffer from any medical condition that could increase your pain?

□ No
□ Osteoarthritis

- Rheumatoid arthritis
- □ Yes Other

1 163 001

14.a If you selected Other, please specify:

Page 5: Important footwear characteristics

15 Rank the following footwear characteristics in order of importance for you (1 being the most important and 11 the least important). Please select each number only once.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) in any single column.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Good fit	Г	Г	Г	Г	E.	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Supportive	Г	Г	Г	Г	Π	Γ	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Cushioned	Г	Г	Г	Г	Π	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Durable	Г	Г	Г	Г	E	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Lightweight	Г	Г	Г	Г	E.	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Waterproof	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	П	Г
Breathable	Г	Г	Г	Г		Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Slip resistant	Г	Г	Г	Г	5	Г	E.	Г	Г	П	Г
Washable	Г	Г	Г	Г	Π	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Flexible sole	Г	Г	Г	Г	E	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Style	Г	Г	Г	Г	5	Г	Г	Г	Г	П	Г

15.a Are there any other important characteristics you look for in footwear?

16 Please answer the following by marking one box.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	Not at all important	Slightly important	Important	Fairly important	Very important
In work footwear, how important is comfort to you?	Г	Е	Г	Г	Г

17 In relation to footwear, what does the word **comfortable** mean to you? (Please be as detailed as possible in your description)

18 Rate your current work footwear comfort on a scale from 1-10 (1 = the most uncomfortable shoe you can imagine, 10 = the most comfortable footwear you can imagine)

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Current footwear comfort	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	П	Г	п

19 How could your current work footwear be improved?

 _
 -

Page 6: Job Information

20 Are you a health care worker?

21 What is your job title?



22 What is your main work site?

Please select no more than 1 answer(s).
T Wards
Operating rooms
⊢ Kitchens

- □ Office
- □ Shop/Cafe
- 🗖 Lab
- □ Other

22.a If you selected Other, please specify:

23 How many hours do you work in an average week?

□ 50+ hours

24 How many years have you been working in your current profession for (including training time on the job)?

Please	select no	more	than	1	answer(s).
--------	-----------	------	------	---	------------

- □ less than 1 year
- □ 1-5 years
- □ 6-10 years
- □ 11-15 years
- □ 16-20 years
- □ 21-25 years
- □ 26-30 years
- □ 31-35 years
- □ 36-40 years
- □ 41 years +

25 Approximately what percentage of your time at work is spent doing the following activities? Please put one mark in each row.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100%
Sitting (including work and break time)	F	г	Г	Г		Г	Г	F	Г	г	Г
On your feet (including standing and walking)	F	E	,F	F	F	F	Γ	Г	F	Γ	Г
Standing	Г	Г	Г	П		Π.	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Walking	Г	Г	Г	Г		Г	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г

Page 7: Social factors

Previous research has shown that certain psychosocial factors also contribute to aches and pains at work. Therefore, to allow us to assess the problems associated with the physical work load, we would really appreciate you answering the following as accurately as possible. Remember, all information submitted is completely anonymous. Thank you in advance for your help.

26 Please answer the following by marking one box in each row.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	Always	Often	Sometimes	Seldom	Never/ hardly ever
Do you get behind your work?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Do you have enough time for your work tasks?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Is it necessary to keep working at a high pace?	Г	Г	Г	Г	
Do you work at a high pace throughout the day?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Does your work put you in emotionally disturbing situations?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Do you have to relate to other people's personal problems as part of your work?	Г	Γ	Г	Г	Г
Do you have a large degree of influence concerning your work?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Can you influence the amount of work assigned to you?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г

27 Please answer the following by marking one box in each row.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	To a very large extent	To a large extent	Somewhat	To a small extent	To a very small extent
Is your work recognised and appreciated by the management?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г
Are you treated fairly at your workplace?	Г	Γ	Г	Л	Г

28 Please answer the following by marking one box in each row.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	Always	Often	Sometimes	Seldom	Never/ hardly ever
How often is your nearest superior willing to listen to your problems at work?	Г	Г	Π	Г	Г
How often do you get help and support from your nearest superior?	Г	Г	Г	Г	Г

29 Please answer the following by marking one box.

Please don't select more than 1 answer(s) per row.

	Very satisfied	Satisfied	Unsatisfied	Very satisfied
Regarding your work in general. How pleased are you with your job as a whole, everything taken into consideration?	Г	Г	п	Γ

Page 8: Personal Information

To help us classify your answers and to enhance the analysis, we would really appreciate you to answer the following.

30 What is y	our age?
--------------	----------

г	Under 20
Г	20-29
Г	30-39
Г	40-49
Г	50-59
Г	60-69

┌ 70+

31 What is your gender?

Г	1	Ν	1a	le
33	2	12		

☐ Female

32 What is your height (in metres)?

33 What is your weight (in kg)?

34 Outside of work, how many times a week do you exercise?

Г	0
Г	1
Г	2
Г	3
Г	4
Г	5
Г	6
Г	7
Г	7+

35 What are your usual forms of exercise outside of work?

Walking
Running
Cycling
Exercise classes
Weights/ resistance training
Racket sport
Football
Rugby
Cricket
Martial arts
Swimming
Netball
Dancing
Other

35.a If you selected Other, please specify:

Page 9

Thank you very much for taking the time to fill in the questionnaire. Your answers will be very helpful in future product development.

To be in with a chance of winning the prize draw, click the following link and enter your details:

https://salford.onlinesurveys.ac.uk/healthcare-footwear-prize-draw

Key for selection options

6.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your lower back.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

7.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your hip/thighs.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

8.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your knees.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

9.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your lower leg/calf.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

10.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your ankles.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

11.e - Please select a word that best describes the pain you feel in your feet.

Throbbing Shooting Stabbing Sharp Cramping Gnawing Hot-burning Aching Heavy Tender Splitting Tired-exhausting NA - I don't feel pain

Appendix 7 - Ethical approval

Interview/Activity Monitoring



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

27 May 2016

Dear Jenny,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION HSCR 16-09</u> – Footwear biomechanics – development of footwear for standing occupations.

Based on the information you provided, I am pleased to inform you that application HSCR16-09 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/ or its methodology, please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

dhy M.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

10 March 2017

Dear Jenny,

<u>RE: AMENDED ETHICS APPLICATION–HSCR16-09 – 'Footwear biomechanics – development of</u> <u>footwear for standing occupations.'</u>

Based on the information you provided I am pleased to inform you that amended application HSCR16-09 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, then please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

dhy, A.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel

Questionnaire



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

11 January 2016

Dear Jenny,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION HSCR 15-132</u> – An investigation into lower limb problems associated with the health care workplace and footwear

Based on the information you provided, I am pleased to inform you that application HSCR15-132 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/ or its methodology, please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

day An.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel

NHS Health Research Authority

Miss Anderson (C/O Dr Anita Williams – office PO29) University of Salford Brian Blatchford Building M6 6PU

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net

06 June 2016

Dear Miss Anderson,

 Letter of HRA Approval for a study processed through pre-HRA Approval systems

 Study title :
 An investigation into lower limb problems associated with prolonged standing and footwear in surgical staff.

 IRAS project ID:
 192183

 Sponsor:
 University of Salford

Thank you for your request for HRA Approval to be issued for the above referenced study.

I am pleased to confirm that the study has been given <u>HRA Approval.</u> This has been issued on the basis of an existing assessment of regulatory compliance, which has confirmed that the study is compliant with the UK wide standards for research in the NHS.

The extension of HRA Approval to this study on this basis allows the sponsor and participating NHS organisations in England to set-up the study in accordance with HRA Approval processes, with decisions on study set-up being taken on the basis of capacity and capability alone.

If you have submitted an amendment to the HRA between 23 March 2016 and the date of this letter, this letter incorporates the HRA Approval for that amendment, which may be implemented in accordance with the amendment categorisation email (e.g. not prior to REC Favourable Opinion, MHRA Clinical Trial Authorisation etc., as applicable). If the submitted amendment included the addition of a new NHS organisation in England, the addition of the new NHS organisation is also approved and should be set up in accordance with HRA Approval processes (e.g. the organisation should be invited to assess and arrange its capacity and capability to deliver the study and confirm once it is ready to do so).

Participation of NHS Organisations in England

Please note that full information to enable set up of participating NHS organisations in England is not provided in this letter, on the basis that activities to set up these NHS organisations is likely to be underway already.

Page 1 of 3

Amendment Notification Form				
Please complete this form and submit it to the Health Research Ethics Panel that reviewed the original proposal: <u>Health-ResearchEthics@Salford.ac.uk</u>				
<i>Title of Project:</i> An investigation into lower limb problems associated with the health care workplace and footwear				
Name of Lead Applicant: School:				
Chris Nester School of Health Sciences				
Are you the original Principal Investigator (PI) for this study? NO (delete as appropriate)				
If you have selected 'NO', please explain why you are applying for the amendment: The previous principal investigator does not work for the University any more.				
Date when original approval was obtained: Reference No:				
11/1/16 HSCR 15-132				
Please outline the proposed changes to the project. NB. If the changes require any amendments to				
highlighting where the changes have been made:				
 Recruitment is for hospitality, not health care Most questions remain the same (musculoskeletal disorders questions, psychosocial, individual characteristics) but some questions have been added to reflect the different footwear demands of the job (do you use a toe cap, questions regarding slip resistance of the footwear, job title list). Some questions have been removed that did not end up being used for analysis in the last questionnaire, due to issues with results (e.g. 4 questions regarding different postures at work have been cut to 1). The software has been changed from BOS to Survey Monkey. Questionnaire will still offer a prize draw, but for £150 amazon vouchers. Each participant will also receive a 20% off voucher for WeareTech footwear. Recruitment will be done through the mailing lists of WeareTech Ltd (100 hospitality staff), the chefs forum (email database of 4500 chefs) and other restaurants and chains will be approached if necessary. End date will be 31st December 2019 The two recruitment emails will be sent out 2 weeks apart, rather than 1, as this is expected to give those on annual leave a greater opportunity to complete the questionnaire. Recruitment emails have been updated (see below) 				
 The company associated with the research has updated their company name from Toffeln to WearerTech. 				

Version 2.0 – 27 June 2018

Please say whether the proposed changes present any new ethical issues or changes to ethical issues that were identified in the original ethics review, and provide details of how these will be addressed:

No further ethical issues have been identified

~

Amendment Approved:

Date of Approval: 29.10.18

Chair's Signature:

Shy M.

Note: this application (HSCR15-132) has now been transferred to Chris Nester's name from Jenny Anderson's, and the amendment has been approved with Chris as PI.

Version 2.0 – 27 June 2018



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team GO.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

12 July 2016

Dear Jenny,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION HSCR 16-64</u> – Biomechanical testing and optimisation of footwear for the work place.

Based on the information you provided, I am pleased to inform you that application HSCR16-64 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/ or its methodology, please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

dhy the.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

30 June 2017

Dear Jenny,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION–HSR1617-145–'Insole preference and the relation to individual and biomechanical parameters.'</u>

Based on the information you provided I am pleased to inform you that application HSR1617-145 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, then please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

dhy M.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel


Research, Enterprise and Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Doctoral & Research Support Research and Knowledge Exchange, Room 827, Maxwell Building, University of Salford, Manchester M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk

28 September 2018

Dear Carina,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION–HSR1819-001 – 'Predicting insole comfort in workers standing for long</u> periods of time.'

Based on the information that you have provided, I am pleased to inform you that ethics application HSR1819-001 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, then please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

day An.

Professor Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel

Chapter 5 References

Abramson, J. H., Hopp, C. and Epstein, L. M. (1981). The epidemiology of varicose veins. A survey in western Jerusalem. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *35*(*3*), pp. 213–217. doi: 10.1136/jech.35.3.213.

AlAbdulwahab, S. S. and Kachanathu, S. J. (2016). Effects of body mass index on foot posture alignment and core stability in a healthy adult population. *Journal of Exercise Rehabilitation*, *12*(*3*), pp. 182–187. doi: 10.12965/jer.1632600.300.

Alexopoulos, E. C., Stathi, I. C. and Charizani, F. (2004). Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders in dentists. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *5*(*16*). doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-5-16.

Alfieri, F. M., Lima, A. R. S., Battistella, L. R. and Silva, N. C. de O. V. e. (2019). Superficial temperature and pain tolerance in patients with chronic low back pain. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies, 23*, pp. 583–587. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2019.05.001.

Andersen, J. H., Haahr, J. P. and Frost, P. (2007). Risk factors for more severe regional musculoskeletal symptoms: A two-year prospective study of a general working population. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *56*(4), pp. 1355–1364. doi: 10.1002/art.22513.

Anderson, J., Granat, M. H., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2019). Exploring occupational standing activities using accelerometer-based activity monitoring. *Ergonomics*, *62*(*8*). doi: 10.1080/00140139.2019.1615640.

Anderson, J., Nester, C. and Williams, A. (2018). Prolonged occupational standing: the impact of time and footwear. *Footwear Science*, *10*(*3*), pp. 189–201. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2018.1538262.

Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2017). An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *10*(*1*). doi: 10.1186/s13047-017-0223-4.

Anderson, J., Williams, A.E. and Nester, C. (2017). An explorative qualitative study to determine the footwear needs of workers in standing environments. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, 10(1), pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13047-017-0223-4.

Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2019). The development of a multi-insole shoe for occupations requiring prolonged standing. *Footwear Science*, *11*(*sup1*), pp. S139–S140.

Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2020). Development and evaluation of a dual density insole for people standing for long periods of time at work. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *13*(*42*). doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-020-00402-2.

Anderson, J., Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. (2021). Musculoskeletal disorders, foot health and footwear choice in occupations involving prolonged standing. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *81*. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2020.103079.

Anderson, Jennifer, Williams, A. E. and Nester, C. J. (2017). A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring. *Musculoskeletal Care*, *15*(4), pp. 304–315. doi: 10.1002/msc.1174.

Ansuategui, J., Hijmans, J. M., Smits, S., Woude, L. H. V. Van Der and Postema, K. (2016). Age-related differences in women's foot shape. *Maturitas*, *94*, pp. 64–69. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.09.001.

Anton, D. and Weeks, D. L. (2016). Prevalence of work-related musculoskeletal symptoms among grocery workers. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *54*, pp. 139–145. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2016.05.006.

Armstrong, R. A. (2014). When to use the Bonferroni correction. *Ophthalmic & physiological optics: the journal of the British College of Ophthalmic Opticians (Optometrists), 34*, pp. 502–508. doi: 10.1111/opo.12131.

Arnold, J. B., Causby, R. and Jones, S. (2010). The impact of increasing body mass on peak and mean plantar pressure in asymptomatic adult subjects during walking. *Diabetic Foot and Ankle*, 1. doi: 10.3402/dfa.v1i0.5518.

Astasio-Picado, A., Escamilla Martínez, E., Martínez Nova, A., Sánchez Rodríguez, R. and Gómez-Martín, B. (2018). Thermal map of the diabetic foot using infrared thermography. *Infrared Physics and Technology*, *93*, pp. 59–62. doi: 10.1016/j.infrared.2018.07.008.

Aweto, H. A., Tella, B. A. and Johnson, O. Y. (2015). Prevalence of work-related musculoskeletal disorders among hairdressers. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, *28*(*3*), pp. 545–555. doi: 10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00291.

Balasubramanian, V., Adalarasu, K. and Regulapati, R. (2009). Comparing dynamic and stationary standing postures in an assembly task. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *39*(5), pp. 649–654. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2008.10.017.

Barnes, T., Pashby, I. and Gibbons, A. (2002). Effective university - Industry interaction: A multi-case evaluation of collaborative R&D projects. *European Management Journal*, *20*(*3*), pp. 272–285. doi: 10.1016/S0263-2373(02)00044-0.

Baron, S., Hales, T. and Hurrell, J. (1996). Evaluation of Symptom Surveys for Occupational Musculoskeletal Disorders. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *29*, pp. 609–617.

Behforootan, S., Chatzistergos, P. E., Chockalingam, N. and Naemi, R. (2017). A clinically applicable non-invasive method to quantitatively assess the visco-hyperelastic properties of human heel pad, implications for assessing the risk of mechanical trauma. *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, *68*, pp. 287–295. doi: 10.1016/j.jmbbm.2017.02.011.

Bingefors, K. and Isacson, D. (2004). Epidemiology, co-morbidity, and impact on health-related quality of life of self-reported headache and musculoskeletal pain – a gender perspective. *European Journal of Pain*, *8*, pp. 435–450. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.01.005.

Bishop, C., Buckley, J. D., Esterman, A. E. and Arnold, J. B. (2020). The running shoe comfort assessment tool (RUN- CAT): Development and evaluation of a new multi- item assessment tool for evaluating the comfort of running footwear. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *38*(*18*), pp. 2100–2107. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2020.1773613.

Buckle, P. (2005). Ergonomics and musculoskeletal disorders: Overview. *Occupational Medicine*, *55*(*3*), pp. 164–167. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqi081.

Butterworth, P. A., Urquhart, D. M., Landorf, K. B., Wluka, A. E., Cicuttini, F. M. and Menz, H. B. (2015). Foot posture, range of motion and plantar pressure characteristics in obese and non-obese individuals. *Gait and Posture*, *41*(*2*), pp. 465–469. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.11.010.

Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety (2019). *Work-related Musculoskeletal Disorders (WMSDs)*. Available at: https://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/diseases/rmirsi.html (Accessed: 23 June 2020).

Caruth, G. D. (2013). Demystifying Mixed Methods Research Design : A Review of the Literature. *Mevlana International Journal of Education*, *3*(2), pp. 112–122.

Cham, R. and Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of flooring on standing comfort and fatigue. *Human Factors*, *43*(*3*), pp. 381–391. doi: 10.1518/001872001775898205.

Chan, Z. Y. S., Shum, G., Au, I. P. H., Zhang, J. H., An, W. W. and Cheung, R. T. H. (2020). Effects of deceptive footwear condition on subjective comfort and running biomechanics. *Translational Sports Medicine*, *3*, pp. 256–262. doi: 10.1002/tsm2.135.

Chatzistergos, P. E., Naemi, R. and Chockalingam, N. (2015). A method for subject-specific modelling and optimisation of the cushioning properties of insole materials used in diabetic footwear. *Medical Engineering and Physics*, *37*(*6*), pp. 531–538. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2015.03.009.

Chen, A., Gupte, C., Akhtar, K., Smith, P. and Cobb, J. (2012). The Global Economic Cost of Osteoarthritis: How the UK Compares. *Arthritis*, (2012). doi: 10.1155/2012/698709.

Chen, H., Nigg, B. M. and de Koning, J. (1994). Relationship between plantar pressure distribution under the foot and insole comfort. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *9*(*6*), pp. 335–341. doi: 10.1016/0268-0033(94)90062-0.

Cheung, K., Szeto, G., Lai, G. K. B. and Ching, S. S. Y. (2018). Prevalence of and factors associated with work-related musculoskeletal symptoms in nursing assistants working in nursing homes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(2). doi: 10.3390/ijerph15020265.

Chiu, M. C. and Wang, M. J. J. (2007). Professional footwear evaluation for clinical nurses. *Applied Ergonomics*, *38*(2), pp. 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2006.03.012.

Choobineh, A., Rajaeefard, A. and Neghab, M. (2010). Perceived demands and musculoskeletal disorders among hospital nurses. *Hakim research journal*, *10*(*2*), pp. 70–75.

Coenen, M., Stamm, T. A., Stucki, G. and Cieza, A. (2012). Individual interviews and focus groups in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A comparison of two qualitative methods. *Quality of Life Research*, *21*(*2*), pp. 359–370. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9943-2.

Coenen, P., Willenberg, L., Parry, S., Shi, J. W., Romero, L., Blackwood, D. M., Maher, C. G., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W. and Straker, L. M. (2016). Associations of occupational standing with musculoskeletal symptoms: A systematic review with meta-Analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(*3*), pp. 174–181. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096795.

Coenen, P., Parry, S., Willenberg, L., Shi, J. W., Romero, L., Blackwood, D. M., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W. and Straker, L. M. (2017). Associations of prolonged standing with musculoskeletal symptoms—A systematic review of laboratory studies. *Gait and Posture*, *58*, pp. 310–318. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.08.024.

Cook, C., Pietrobon, R. and Hegedus, E. (2007). Osteoarthritis and the impact on quality of life health indicators. *Rheumatology International*, *27*, pp. 315–321. doi: 10.1007/s00296-006-0269-2.

Damecour, C., Abdoli-Eramaki, M., Ghasempoor, A. and Neumann, W. P. (2010). Comparison of two heights for forward-placed trunk support with standing work. *Applied Ergonomics*, *41*(*4*), pp. 536–541. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2009.11.004.

Denscombe, M. (2014). *The good research guide: for small-scale social research projects.* UK: McGraw-Hill Education.

Dhillon, G., Hunt, M., Reid, A. and Esculier, J.-F. (2020). What are the perceptions of runners and healthcare professionals on footwear and running injury risk? *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, *6*(1). doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000767.

Dianat, I., Bazazan, A., Souraki Azad, M. A. and Salimi, S. S. (2018a). Work-related physical, psychosocial and individual factors associated with musculoskeletal symptoms among surgeons: Implications for ergonomic interventions. *Applied Ergonomics*, *67*(*October*), pp. 115–124. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2017.09.011.

Dianat, I., Bazazan, A., Souraki Azad, M. A. and Salimi, S. S. (2018b). Work-related physical, psychosocial and individual factors associated with musculoskeletal symptoms among surgeons: Implications for ergonomic interventions. *Applied Ergonomics*, *67(jenn*), pp. 115–124. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2017.09.011.

Dickinson, C. E., Campion, K., Foster, A. F., Newman, S. J., Rourke, A. M. T. O. and Thomas, P. G. (1992). Questionnaire development : an examination of the Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire. *Applied Ergonomics*, *23*(*3*), pp. 197–201.

Dirksen, N., Deters, P. and Peikenkamp, K. (2019). Proceedings of the Fourteenth Footwear Biomechanics Symposium (Kananaskis, Canada, 2019). in *Footwear Science*, pp. S182–S183.

Engstrom, J. L., Paterson, S. A., Doherty, A., Trabulsi, M. and Speer, K. L. (2003). Accuracy of selfreported height and weight in women: An integrative review of the literature. *Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health*, *48*(5), pp. 338–345. doi: 10.1016/S1526-9523(03)00281-2.

Farndon, L., Robinson, V., Nicholls, E. and Vernon, W. (2016). If the shoe fits: Development of an online tool to aid practitioner/patient discussions about 'healthy footwear'. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, 9(1). doi: 10.1186/s13047-016-0149-2.

Ferrari, R. (2015). Writing narrative style literature reviews. *Medical Writing*, 24(4), pp. 230–235. doi: 10.1179/2047480615z.00000000329.

Forsyth, P. and Birn, R. (2002). *Market Research*. Oxford, United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Incorporated.

Gallagher, K. M., Payne, M., Daniels, B., Caldwell, A. R. and Ganio, M. S. (2019). Walking breaks can reduce prolonged standing induced low back pain. *Human Movement Science*, *66*, pp. 31–37. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2019.03.012.

Garbin, A. J. Í., Soares, G. B., Arcieri, R. M., Garbin, C. A. S. and Siqueira, C. E. (2017). Musculoskeletal disorders and perception of working conditions: A survey of brazilian dentists in São Paulo. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, *30*(*3*), pp. 367–377. doi: 10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00724.

Garrow, A. P., Silman, A. J. and Macfarlane, G. J. (2004). The cheshire foot pain and disability survey: A population survey assessing prevalence and associations. *Pain*, *110*(1–2), pp. 378–384. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2004.04.019.

Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E. and Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: Interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, *204*(*6*), pp. 291–295. doi: 10.1038/bdj.2008.192.

Gonçalves, J. S. and Sato, T. D. O. (2020). Factors associated with musculoskeletal symptoms and heart rate variability among cleaners – cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 20(774).

Goonetilleke, R. S. (1999). Footwear cushioning: Relating objective and subjective measurements. *Human Factors*, *41*(*2*), pp. 241–256. doi: 10.1518/001872099779591231.

Gorber, S. C., Tremblay, M., Moher, D. and Gorber, B. (2007). A comparison of direct vs. self-report measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: A systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, *8*(4), pp. 307–326. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00347.x.

Gregory, D. E., Brown, S. H. M. and Callaghan, J. P. (2008). Trunk muscle responses to suddenly applied loads: Do individuals who develop discomfort during prolonged standing respond differently? *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, *18*(*3*), pp. 495–502. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.12.005.

Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., Mckenna, K., Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J. and Eley, N. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews : findings from a randomized study. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *20*(*6*), pp. 693–708. doi: 10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601.

Gupta, N., Dencker-Larsen, S., Lund Rasmussen, C., McGregor, D., Rasmussen, C. D. N., Thorsen, S. V., Jørgensen, M. B., Chastin, S. and Holtermann, A. (2020). The physical activity paradox revisited: A prospective study on compositional accelerometer data and long-term sickness absence. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *17*(*93*), pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00988-7.

Halim, I. and Omar, A. R. (2012). Development of prolonged standing strain index to quantify risk levels of standing jobs. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, *18*(1), pp. 85–96. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2012.11076917.

Hamilton, M. T., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Zderic, T. W. and Owen, N. (2008). Too little exercise and too much sitting: Inactivity physiology and the need for new recommendations on sedentary behavior. *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, *2*(4), pp. 292–298. doi: 10.1007/s12170-008-0054-8.

Hansen, L., Winkel, J. and Jørgensen, K. (1998). Significance of mat and shoe softness during prolonged work in upright position: Based on measurements of low back muscle EMG, foot volume changes, discomfort and ground force reactions. *Applied Ergonomics, 29*(*3*), pp. 217–224. doi: 10.1016/S0003-6870(97)00062-8.

Haq, M. (2014). A Comparative Analysis of Qualitative and Quantitative Research Methods and a Justification for Adopting Mixed Methods in Social Research. in *Annual PhD Conference, University of Bradford School of Management*. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.1.1945.8640.

Harrison, A. J., McErlain-Naylor, S. A., Bradshaw, E. J., Dai, B., Nunome, H., Hughes, G. T. G., Kong, P. W., Vanwanseele, B., Vilas-Boas, J. P. and Fong, D. T. P. (2020). Recommendations for statistical analysis involving null hypothesis significance testing. *Sports Biomechanics*, *19*(*5*), pp. 561–568. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2020.1782555.

Haukka, E., Leino-Arjas, P., Solovieva, S., Ranta, R., Viikari-Juntura, E. and Riihimäki, H. (2006). Cooccurrence of musculoskeletal pain among female kitchen workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, *80*(2), pp. 141–148. doi: 10.1007/s00420-006-0113-8.

Health and Safety Executive (2014). Supplementary analysis of Costs to Britain data: using existing ill health appraisal values to estimate illustrative costs of work-related musculoskeletal disorders and stress. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/adhoc-analysis/esau-costs-to-britain-supplementary.pdf.

Health and Safety Executive (no date a). Back Pain. Available at:

https://www.hse.gov.uk/msd/backpain/index.htm (Accessed: 25 August 2020).

Health and Safety Executive (no date b). *Lower Limb Disorders*. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/msd/lld/index.htm (Accessed: 25 August 2020).

Health and Safety Executive (no date c). *Supplying slip resistant footwear*. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/slips/manufactfoot.htm (Accessed: 25 August 2020).

Hill, C. L., Gill, T. K., Menz, H. B. and Taylor, A. W. (2008). Prevalence and correlates of foot pain in a population-based study: The North West Adelaide health study. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *1*(*1*), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1186/1757-1146-1-2.

Hoerzer, S., Trudeau, M. B., Edwards, W. B., Nigg, B. M., Hoerzer, S., Trudeau, M. B., Edwards, W. B. and Nigg, B. M. (2016). Intra-rater reliability of footwear-related comfort assessments. *Footwear Science*, *8*(*3*), pp. 155–163. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2016.1195451.

Hsiao, H., Guan, J. and Weatherley, M. (2002). Accuracy and precision of two in-shoe pressure measurement systems. *Ergonomics*, *45*(*8*), pp. 537–555. doi: 10.1080/00140130210136963.

Hsu, T. C., Lee, Y. S. and Shau, Y. W. (2002). Biomechanics of the heel pad for type 2 diabetic patients. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *17*, pp. 291–296. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(02)00018-9.

Hughes, N. L., Nelson, A., Matz, M. W. and Lloyd, J. (2011). AORN Ergonomic Tool 4: Solutions for Prolonged Standing in Perioperative Settings. *AORN Journal*, *93*(*6*), pp. 767–774. doi: 10.1016/j.aorn.2010.08.029.

Hurkmans, H. L. P., Bussmann, J. B. J., Benda, E., Verhaar, J. A. N. and Stam, H. J. (2006). Accuracy and repeatability of the Pedar Mobile system in long-term vertical force measurements. *Gait and Posture*, 23(1), pp. 118–125. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2005.05.008.

Ille, T. and Milic, N. (2008). Confidence Interval. in W., K. (ed.) *Encylopedia of Public Health*. Springer, Dordrecht. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5614-7_505.

Ilo, A., Romsi, P. and Mäkelä, J. (2020). Infrared Thermography and Vascular Disorders in Diabetic Feet. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, *14*(*1*), pp. 28–36. doi: 10.1177/1932296819871270.

Ingerson, E., Renfrow, C., Aragon, E., Ferger, N., Olson, B., Sachs, A. and Nelson-Wong, E. (2019). Individuals with low back pain improve in standing tolerance and sagittal plane muscle activation following exercise intervention. *Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation*, *32*(1), pp. 885–895.

Irving, D. B., Cook, J. L., Young, M. A. and Menz, H. B. (2007). Obesity and pronated foot type may increase the risk of chronic plantar heel pain: A matched case-control study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *8*, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-8-41.

Irzmańska, E., Dutkiewicz, J. K. and Irzmański, R. (2014). New approach to assessing comfort of use of protective footwear with a textile liner and its impact on foot physiology. *Textile Research Journal*, *84*(7), pp. 728–738. doi: 10.1177/0040517513507362.

Janson, D., Newman, S. T. and Dhokia, V. (2021). Safety footwear : A survey of end-users. *Applied Ergonomics*, *92*(*November 2020*). doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2020.103333.

Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J. and Turner, L. A. (2007). Toward a Definition of Mixed Methods Research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(2), pp. 112–133.

Jordan, C. and Bartlett, R. (1995). Pressure distribution and perceived comfort in casual footwear. *Gait and Posture*, *3*(4), pp. 215–220. doi: 10.1016/0966-6362(96)82850-5.

Jordan, C., Payton, C. J. and Bartlett, R. M. (1997). Perceived Comfort and Pressure Distribution in Casual Footwear. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *12*(*3*), p. S5.

Karahan, A., Kav, S., Abbasoglu, A. and Dogan, N. (2009). Low back pain: Prevalence and associated risk factors among hospital staff. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *65*(*3*), pp. 516–524. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04905.x.

Karakolis, T., Barrett, J. and Callaghan, J. P. (2016). A comparison of trunk biomechanics, musculoskeletal discomfort and productivity during simulated sit-stand office work. *Ergonomics*, *59*(*10*), pp. 1275–1287. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2016.1146343.

Kinchington, M. A., Ball, K. A. and Naughton, G. (2011). Effects of footwear on comfort and injury in professional rugby league. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *29*(*13*), pp. 1407–1415. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.593041.

King, P. M. (2002). A comparison of the effects of floor mats and shoe in-soles on standing fatigue. *Applied Ergonomics*, *33*(5), pp. 477–484. doi: 10.1016/S0003-6870(02)00027-3.

Kirch, W. (ed.) (2008a). Hazard Ratio. in *Encyclopedia of Public Health*. Dordrecht: Springer. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5614-7_1344.

Kirch, W. (ed.) (2008b). Population Attributable Risk. in *Encyclopedia of Public Health*. Dordrecht: Springer. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5614-7_2685.

Kirkham, S., Lam, S., Nester, C. and Hashmi, F. (2014). The effect of hydration on the risk of friction blister formation on the heel of the foot. *Skin Research and Technology*, *20*(*2*), pp. 246–253. doi: 10.1111/srt.12136.

Klimstra, P. D. and Raphael, A. T. (1992). Integrating R&D and Business Strategy. *Research-Technology Management*, *35*(1), pp. 22–28. doi: 10.1080/08956308.1992.11670791.

Knudson, D. (2005). Statistical and reporting errors in applied biomechanics reserach. *ISBS-Conference Proceedings Archive*, pp. 811–814.

Knudson, D. (2009). Significant and meaningful effects in sports biomechanics research. *Sports Biomechanics*, *8*(1), pp. 96–104. doi: 10.1080/14763140802629966.

Knudson, D. (2012). Twenty-year trends of authorship and sampling in applied biomechanics research. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *114*, pp. 16–20. doi: 10.2466/11.PMS.114.1.16-20.

Knudson, D. (2017). Confidence crisis of results in biomechanics research. *Sports Biomechanics*, *16*(4), pp. 425–433. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2016.1246603.

Knudson, D. V. (2011). Authorship and sampling practice in selected biomechanics and sports science journals. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *112*(*3*), pp. 838–844. doi: 10.2466/17.PMS.112.3.838-844.

Kołcz, A., Główka, N. and Paprocka-borowicz, M. (2020). Baropodometric evaluation of foot load distribution during gait in the group of professionally active nurses. *Journal of Occupational Health*, *62*. doi: 10.1002/1348-9585.12102.

Kong, P. W. and Bagdon, M. (2010). Shoe preference based on subjective comfort for walking and running. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association*, *100*(*6*), pp. 456–462. doi:

10.7547/1000456.

Kong, P. W., Candelaria, N. G. and Smith, D. R. (2009). Running in new and worn shoes: A comparison of three types of cushioning footwear. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *43*(*10*), pp. 745–749. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.047761.

Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G. and Jørgensen, K. (1987). Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. *Applied Ergonomics*, *18*(*3*), pp. 233–237. doi: 10.1016/0003-6870(87)90010-X.

Labs, K., Tschoepl, M., Gamba, G., Aschwanden, M. and Jaeger, K. A. (2000). The reliability of leg circumference assessment : a comparison of spring tape measurements and optoelectronic volumetry. *Vascular Medicine*, *5*, pp. 69–74.

Laperrie, E., Ngomo, S., Thibault, M. and Messing, K. Ã. (2006). Indicators for choosing an optimal mix of major working postures, *37*, pp. 349–357. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2005.06.014.

Lim, S. and Souza, C. D. (2020). A narrative review on contemporary and emerging uses of inertial sensing in occupational ergonomics. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *76*. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2020.102937.

Lin, Y. H., Chen, C. Y. and Cho, M. H. (2012). Influence of shoe/floor conditions on lower leg circumference and subjective discomfort during prolonged standing. *Applied Ergonomics*, 43(5), pp. 965–970. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2012.01.006.

Lindorfer, J., Kröll, J. and Schwameder, H. (2018). Comfort assessment of running footwear: Does assessment type affect inter-session reliability? *European Journal of Sport Science*, *19*(2), pp. 177–185. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2018.1502358.

Locks, F., Gupta, N., Hallman, D., Jørgensen, M. B., Oliveira, A. B. and Holtermann, A. (2018). Association between objectively measured static standing and low back pain – a cross-sectional study among blue-collar workers. *Ergonomics*, *61*(*9*), pp. 1196–1207. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2018.1455900.

Locks, F., Gupta, N., Madeleine, P., Birk Jørgensen, M., Oliveira, A. B. and Holtermann, A. (2019). Are accelerometer measures of temporal patterns of static standing associated with lower extremity pain among blue-collar workers? *Gait and Posture*, *67*, pp. 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.10.006.

Lunde, L. K., Koch, M., Knardahl, S. and Veiersted, K. B. (2017). Associations of objectively measured sitting and standing with low-back pain intensity: A 6-month follow-up of construction and healthcare workers. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, *43*(*3*), pp. 269–278. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3628.

MacEwen, B. T., MacDonald, D. J. and Burr, J. F. (2015). A systematic review of standing and treadmill desks in the workplace. *Preventive Medicine*, *70*, pp. 50–58. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.011.

Marshall, P. W. M., Patel, H. and Callaghan, J. P. (2011). Gluteus medius strength, endurance, and coactivation in the development of low back pain during prolonged standing. *Human Movement Science*, *30*(1), pp. 63–73. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2010.08.017.

McCulloch, J. (2002). Health risks associated with prolonged standing. Work, 19(2), pp. 201–205.

McGinley, J. L., Baker, R., Wolfe, R. and Morris, M. E. (2009). The reliability of three-dimensional kinematic gait measurements: A systematic review. *Gait and Posture*, *29*(*3*), pp. 360–369. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.09.003.

Mei, Q., Gu, Y., Sun, D. and Fernandez, J. (2018). How foot morphology changes influence shoe comfort and plantar pressure before and after long distance running? *Acta of Bioengineering and Biomechanics*, 20(2), pp. 179–186. doi: 10.5277/ABB-01112-2018-02.

Messing, K., Stock, S., Côté, J. and Tissot, F. (2015). Is Sitting Worse Than Static Standing ? How a Gender Analysis Can Move Us Toward Understanding Determinants and Effects of Occupational Standing and Walking. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, *12*, pp. D11–D17. doi: 10.1080/15459624.2014.987388.

Messing, K. and Elabidi, D. (2003). Desegregation and occupational health : how male and female hospital attendants collaborate on work tasks requiring physical effort Desegregation and occupational health : how male and female hospital attendants co. *Policy and Practice in Health and Safety*, *1*(*1*), pp. 83–103. doi: 10.1080/14774003.2003.11667631.

Miller, J. E., Nigg, B. M., Liu, W., Stefanyshyn, D. J. and Nurse, M. A. (2000). Influence of foot, leg and shoe characteristics on subjective comfort. *Foot and Ankle International*, *21*(*9*), pp. 759–767. doi: 10.1177/107110070002100908.

Mills, K., Blanch, P. and Vicenzino, B. (2010). Identifying clinically meaningful tools for measuring comfort perception of footwear. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *42*(*10*), pp. 1966–1971. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181dbacc8.

Mills, K., Blanch, P. and Vicenzino, B. (2011). Influence of contouring and hardness of foot orthoses on ratings of perceived comfort. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *43*(*8*), pp. 1507–1512. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820e783f.

Mohr, M., Tscharner, V. Von, Nigg, S. and Nigg, B. M. (2021). Systematic reduction of leg muscle activity throughout a standard assessment of running footwear. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2021.01.003.

Monaghan, K., Delahunt, E. and Caulfield, B. (2007). Increasing the number of gait trial recordings maximises intra-rater reliability of the CODA motion analysis system. *Gait and Posture*, *25*(*2*), pp. 303–315. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.04.011.

Mousavi, E., Zamanian, Z., Hadadi, M. and Sobhani, S. (2019). Investigating the effect of custommade insoles and exercises on lower limb and back discomfort in assembly-line workers in a rubber tire factory: A randomized controlled trial. *Human Factors and Ergonomics In Manufacturing*, 29(6), pp. 478–484. doi: 10.1002/hfm.20810.

Mozurkewich, E. L., Luke, B. L., Avni, M. and Wolf, F. M. (2000). Working conditions and adverse pregnancy outcome: A meta-analysis. *AAOHN Journal*, *48*(*9*), pp. 414–417. doi: 10.1177/216507990004800901.

Mullineaux, D. R., Bartlett, R. M. and Bennett, S. (2001). Research design and statistics in biomechanics and motor control. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *19*(*10*), pp. 739–760. doi: 10.1080/026404101317015410.

Mündermann, A., Nigg, B. M., Stefanyshyn, D. J. and Humble, R. N. (2002). Development of a reliable method to assess footwear comfort during running. *Gait and Posture*, *16*(*1*), pp. 38–45. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(01)00197-7.

Mündermann, A., Stefanyshyn, D. J. and Nigg, B. M. (2001). Relationship between footwear comfort of shoe inserts and anthropometric and sensory factors. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(11), pp. 1939–1945. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200111000-00021.

Murley, G. S., Landorf, K. B., Menz, H. B. and Bird, A. R. (2009). Effect of foot posture, foot orthoses and footwear on lower limb muscle activity during walking and running: A systematic review. *Gait and Posture*, *29*(*2*), pp. 172–187. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.08.015.

Namey, E., Guest, G., Mckenna, K. and Chen, M. (2016). Evaluating Bang for the Buck : A Cost-Effectiveness Comparison Between Individual Interviews and Focus Groups Based on Thematic Saturation Levels. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *37*(*3*), pp. 425–440. doi: 10.1177/1098214016630406.

Nealy, R., McCaskill, C., Conaway, M. R. and Burns, S. M. (2012). The aching feet of nurses: an exploratory study. *Medsurg nursing : official journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses*, *21*(*6*), pp. 354–359.

Nelson-Wong, E., Gregory, D. E., Winter, D. A. and Callaghan, J. P. (2008). Gluteus medius muscle activation patterns as a predictor of low back pain during standing. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 23(5), pp. 545–553. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.01.002.

Nelson-Wong, E. and Callaghan, J. P. (2010a). Repeatability of Clinical, Biomechanical, and Motor Control Profiles in People with and without Standing-Induced Low Back Pain. *Rehabilitation Research and Practice*, *2010*, pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1155/2010/289278.

Nelson-Wong, E. and Callaghan, J. P. (2010b). The impact of a sloped surface on low back pain during prolonged standing work: A biomechanical analysis. *Applied Ergonomics*, *41*(*6*), pp. 787–795. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2010.01.005.

NHS (2018). *Health Survey for England 2018*. Available at: http://digital.nhs.uk/pubs/hse2018.

Nielsen, C. M., Gupta, N., Knudsen, L. E. and Holtermann, A. (2017). Association of objectively measured occupational walking and standing still with low back pain: a cross-sectional study. *Ergonomics*, *60*(1), pp. 118–126. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2016.1164901.

Nigg, B. M., Baltich, J., Hoerzer, S. and Enders, H. (2015). Running shoes and running injuries: Mythbusting and a proposal for two new paradigms: 'Preferred movement path' and 'comfort filter'. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *49*(20), pp. 1290–1294. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095054.

Office for National Statistics (2019). *Labour Force Survey (Great Britain)*. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/lfs/index.htm.

Oliveira, A. S. and Pirscoveanu, C. I. (2021). Implications of sample size and acquired number of steps to investigate running biomechanics. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(*3083*). doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82876-z.

Oliver, M., Schofield, G. M., Badland, H. M. and Shepherd, J. (2010). Utility of accelerometer thresholds for classifying sitting in office workers. *Preventive Medicine*, *51*(*5*), pp. 357–360. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.08.010.

Oppenheim, A. N. (1992). *Questionnaire design, interviewing and attitude measurement*. New York: Continuum.

Orlando, A. R. and King, P. M. (2004). Relationship of Demographic Variables on Perception of Fatigue and Discomfort Following Prolonged Standing under Various Flooring Conditions. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 14(1), pp. 63–76. doi: 10.1023/B:JOOR.0000015011.39875.75.

Parent-Thirion, A., Vermeylen, G., van Houten, G., Lyly-Yrjänäinen, M., Biletta, I. and Cabrita, J. (2012). *Eurofound, Fifth European Working Conditions Survey*. Luxembourg. Available at: https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ef_publication/field_ef_document/ef1182en.p

Polidori, G., Kinne, Marion, Mereu, T., Beaumont, F. and Kinne, Mélanie (2018). Medical Infrared Thermography in back pain osteopathic management. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *39*, pp. 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2018.05.010.

Price, C., Parker, D. and Nester, C. (2016). Validity and repeatability of three in-shoe pressure measurement systems. *Gait and Posture*, *46*, pp. 69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2016.01.026.

Putti, A. B., Arnold, G. P., Cochrane, L. and Abboud, R. J. (2007). The Pedar[®] in-shoe system: Repeatability and normal pressure values. *Gait and Posture*, *25*(*3*), pp. 401–405. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.05.010.

Ramanathan, A. K., Kiran, P., Arnold, G. P., Wang, W. and Abboud, R. J. (2010). Repeatability of the Pedar-X[®] in-shoe pressure measuring system. *Foot and Ankle Surgery*, *16*(*2*), pp. 70–73. doi: 10.1016/j.fas.2009.05.006.

Reed, L. F., Battistutta, D., Young, J. and Newman, B. (2014a). Prevalence and risk factors for foot and ankle musculoskeletal disorders experienced by nurses. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *15*(*1*), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-196.

Reed, L. F., Battistutta, D., Young, J. and Newman, B. (2014b). Prevalence and risk factors for foot and ankle musculoskeletal disorders experienced by nurses. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *15*(*1*), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-196.

Rezende, L. F. M., Sá, T. H., Mielke, G. I., Viscondi, J. Y. K., Rey-López, J. P. and Garcia, L. M. T. (2016). All-Cause Mortality Attributable to Sitting Time: Analysis of 54 Countries Worldwide. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *51*(2), pp. 253–263. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.01.022.

Riener, R., Rabuffetti, M. and Frigo, C. (2002). Stair ascent and descent at different inclinations. *Gait and Posture*, *15*, pp. 32–44.

Rome, K., Campbell, R., Flint, A. and Haslock, I. (2002). Heel pad thickness - A contributing factor associated with plantar heel pain in young adults. *Foot and Ankle International*, *23*(*2*), pp. 142–147. doi: 10.1177/107110070202300211.

Roux, C. H., Guillemin, F., Boini, S., Longuetaud, F., Arnault, N., Hercberg, S. and Briançon, S. (2005). Impact of musculoskeletal disorders on quality of life: An inception cohort study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *64*(4), pp. 606–611. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.020784.

Ryan, C. G., Grant, P. M., Dall, P. M. and Granat, M. H. (2011). Sitting patterns at work: objective measurement of adherence to current recommendations. *Ergonomics*, *54*(*6*), pp. 531–538.

Rybnicek, R. and Königsgruber, R. (2019). What makes industry–university collaboration succeed? A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Business Economics*, *89*(*2*), pp. 221–250. doi: 10.1007/s11573-018-0916-6.

Safe Work Australia (2011). National Hazard Exposure Worker Surveillance : Exposure To Biological Hazards and the Provision of Controls Against Biological Hazards in Australian Workplaces. Exposure to biological hazards and the provision of biological hazards controls in Australian workplaces. Available at:

http://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/sites/SWA/about/Publications/Documents/571/NHEWS_Biolo gicalMaterials.pdf.

Saidun, S., Akhmetova, E. and Abd, A. A. (2018). Muslim Female Healthcare Personnel Dress Code : A

df.

Proposed Guideline, 17(2), pp. 57–70.

Schwameder, H. (2019). Reliability of comfort assessment of running shoes depends on the interaction between assessment scale and rater. *Footwear Science*, *11*(*sup1*), pp. S184-186. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2019.1606323.

Scott, G., Menz, H. B. and Newcombe, L. (2007). Age-related differences in foot structure and function. *Gait & Posture, 26*, pp. 68–75. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.07.009.

Shah, S. K. and Corley, K. G. (2006). Building better theory by bridging the quantitative-qualitative divide. *Journal of Management Studies*, *43*(*8*), pp. 1821–1835. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00662.x.

Shankar, S., Shanmugam, M. and Srinivasan, J. (2015). Workplace factors and prevalence of low back pain among male commercial kitchen workers. *Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation*, *28*(3), pp. 481–488. doi: 10.3233/BMR-140544.

Sheikhzadeh, A., Gore, C., Zuckerman, J. D. and Nordin, M. (2009). Perioperating nurses and technicians' perceptions of ergonomic risk factors in the surgical environment. *Applied Ergonomics*, 40(5), pp. 833–839. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2008.09.012.

Smith, D. R., Mihashi, M., Adachi, Y., Koga, H. and Ishitake, T. (2006). A detailed analysis of musculoskeletal disorder risk factors among Japanese nurses. *Journal of Safety Research*, *37*(2), pp. 195–200. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2006.01.004.

Spears, I. R., Miller-Young, J. E., Sharma, J., Ker, R. F. and Smith, F. W. (2007). The potential influence of the heel counter on internal stress during static standing: A combined finite element and positional MRI investigation. *Journal of Biomechanics, 40*, pp. 2774–2780. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2007.01.004.

Speed, G., Harris, K. and Keegel, T. (2018). The effect of cushioning materials on musculoskeletal discomfort and fatigue during prolonged standing at work: A systematic review. *Applied Ergonomics*, 70, pp. 300–314. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2018.02.021.

Stack, T., Ostrom, L. T. and Wilhelmsen, C. A. (2016). *Occupational Ergonomics : A Practical Approach*. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley.

Steele, J. R. and Dobson, J. A. (2019). The 'forgotten footwear': developing occupational footwear for underground coal miners. in *Proceedings of the Fourteenth Footwear Biomechanics Symposium* (*Kananaskis, Canada, 2019*), pp. S5–S6.

Sterud, T. (2013). Work-related mechanical risk factors for long-term sick leave: a prospective study of the general working population in Norway. *European Journal of Public Health*, 24(1), pp. 111–116. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckt072.

Sterud, T. and Tynes, T. (2013). Work-related psychosocial and mechanical risk factors for low back pain: A 3-year follow-up study of the general working population in Norway. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *70*(5), pp. 296–302. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2012-101116.

Stolt, M., Miikkola, M., Suhonen, R. and Leino-kilpi, H. (2018). Nurses ' Perceptions of Their Foot Health. *Workplace Health & Safety, 66*(3), pp. 136–143. doi: 10.1177/2165079917727011.

Stolt, M., Katajisto, J., Peltonen, J., Suhonen, R. and Leino-kilpi, H. (2020). Development and testing of a new electronic foot health promotion programme on nurses ' foot self-care. *BMC Nursing*, *19*(*29*).

Straker, L., Mathiassen, S. E. and Holtermann, A. (2018). The 'Goldilocks Principle ': designing physical activity at work to be 'just right' for promoting health. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(*13*), pp. 818–819. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097765.

Strazdins, L. and Bammer, G. (2004). Women, work and musculoskeletal health. *Social Science and Medicine*, *58*(6), pp. 997–1005. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00260-0.

Sulsky, S. I., Carlton, L., Bochmann, F., Ellegast, R., Glitsch, U., Hartmann, B., Pallapies, D., Seidel, D. and Sun, Y. (2012). Epidemiological evidence for work load as a risk factor for osteoarthritis of the hip: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(*2*). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031521.

Szeto, G.P.Y., Ho, P., Ting, A. C. W., Poon, J. T. C., Cheng, S. W. K. and Tsang, R. C. C. (2009). Work-related Musculoskeletal Symptoms in Surgeons. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *19*(*2*), pp. 175–184. doi: 10.1007/s10926-009-9176-1.

Szeto, Grace P.Y., Ho, P., Ting, A. C. W., Poon, J. T. C., Cheng, S. W. K. and Tsang, R. C. C. (2009). Work-related Musculoskeletal Symptoms in Surgeons. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *19*(*2*), pp. 175–184. doi: 10.1007/s10926-009-9176-1.

Szumilas, M. (2010). Explaining odds ratios. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *19*(*3*), pp. 227–229. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c4414.

Tariq, S. and Woodman, J. (2010). Using mixed methods in health research. *JRSM Short Reports*, 4(6). doi: 10.1177/2042533313479197.

Tarrade, T., Doucet, F., Saint-Lô, N., Llari, M. and Behr, M. (2019). Are custom-made foot orthoses of any interest on the treatment of foot pain for prolonged standing workers? *Applied Ergonomics, 80*, pp. 130–135. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2019.05.013.

Taş, S. and Bek, N. (2018). Effects of morphological and mechanical properties of plantar fascia and heel pad on balance performance in asymptomatic females. *Foot*, *36*, pp. 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.foot.2018.02.003.

Tattersall, G. J. (2016). Infrared thermography: A non-invasive window into thermal physiology. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular and Integrative Physiology, 202*, pp. 78–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.02.022.

Taunton, J. E., Ryan, M. B., Clement, D. B., McKenzie, D. C., Lloyd-Smith, D. R. and Zumbo, B. D. (2003). A prospective study of running injuries: the Vancouver Sun Run 'In Training' clinics. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *37*, pp. 239–244.

Tavakkol, R., Kavi, E., Hassanipour, S., Rabiei, H. and Malakoutikhah, M. (2020). The global prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among operating room personnel: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health*, *8*(4), pp. 1053–1061. doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2020.03.019.

Taylor, P., Hennig, E., Schulz, J. and Str, G. (2011). Subjective evaluation of biomechanical shoe properties during blinded and non-blinded running. *Footwear Science*, *3*(*sup1*), pp. S75–S76. doi: 10.1080/19424280.2011.575802.

Thorp, A. A., Kingwell, B. A., Owen, N. and Dunstan, D. W. (2014). Breaking up workplace sitting time with intermittent standing bouts improves fatigue and musculoskeletal discomfort in overweight/obese office workers. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *71*(*11*), pp. 765–771. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2014-102348.

Tissot, F., Messing, K. and Stock, S. (2005). Standing, sitting and associated working conditions in the Quebec population in 1998. *Ergonomics*, *48*(*3*), pp. 249–269. doi: 10.1080/00140130512331326799.

Tojo, M., Yamaguchi, S., Amano, N., Ito, A., Futono, M., Sato, Y., Naka, T., Kimura, S., Sadamasu, A., Akagi, R. and Ohtori, S. (2018). Prevalence and associated factors of foot and ankle pain among nurses at a university hospital in Japan: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Occupational Health*, *60*(2), pp. 132–139. doi: 10.1539/joh.17-0174-OA.

Tomei, F., Baccolo, T. P., Tomao, E., Palmi, S. and Rosati, M. V. (1999). Chronic venous disorders and occupation. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *36*(*6*), pp. 653–665.

Tüchsen, F., Hannerz, H., Burr, H. and Krause, N. (2005). Prolonged standing at work and hospitalisation due to varicose veins: A 12 year prospective study of the Danish population. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *62*(*12*), pp. 847–850. doi: 10.1136/oem.2005.020537.

Urwin, M., Symmons, D., Allison, T., Brammah, T., Busby, H., Roxby, M., Simmons, A. and Williams, G. (1998). Estimating the burden of musculoskeletal disorders in the community: The comparative prevalence of symptoms at different anatomical sites, and the relation to social deprivation. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *57*(*11*), pp. 649–655. doi: 10.1136/ard.57.11.649.

Vagenas, G., Palaiothodorou, D. and Knudson, D. (2018). Thirty-year Trends of Study Design and Statistics in Applied Sports and Exercise Biomechanics Research. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, *11*(1), pp. 239–259.

Wahlström, J., Östman, C. and Leijon, O. (2012). The effect of flooring on musculoskeletal symptoms in the lower extremities and low back among female nursing assistants. *Ergonomics*, *55*(2), pp. 248–255. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2011.583360.

Wall, R., Läubli, T., Seibt, R., Rieger, M. A. and Steinhilber, B. (2019). Associations between low back muscle activity, pelvic movement and low back discomfort development during prolonged standing – An exploratory laboratory study. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *72*, pp. 380–389. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2019.07.001.

Wall, R., Garcia, G., Läubli, T., Seibt, R., Rieger, M. A., Martin, B. and Steinhilber, B. (2020). Physiological changes during prolonged standing and walking considering age, gender and standing work experience. *Ergonomics*, *63*(*5*), pp. 579–592. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2020.1725145.

Wang, X. I. A., Id, O., Id, O., Chen, L., Id, O., Article, O., Wang, X., Cooper, C., North, R., Hospital, S., Wales, N. S., Kingdom, U., Kingdom, U., Kingdom, U., Sciences, M., Lifecourse, M. R. C., Unit, E., Hospital, S. G. *et al.* (2020). Occupational risk in knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. *Arthritis Care & Research*. doi: 10.1002/acr.24333.

Wannop, J. W., Nigg, S. and Edwards, B. W. (2019). Proceedings of the Fourteenth Footwear Biomechanics Symposium (Kananaskis, Canada, 2019). in Wannop, J. W., Nigg, S., and Edwards, B. W. (eds), pp. S1–S211.

Wauben, L. S. G. L., van Veelen, M. A., Gossot, D. and Goossens, R. (2006). Assessment of the ergonomics in the operating room during endoscopic surgery Application of ergonomic guidelines during minimally invasive surgery : a questionnaire survey of 284 surgeons. *Surgical Endoscopy*, *20*, pp. 1268–1274. doi: 10.1007/s00464-005-0647-y.

West, A. M., Schönfisch, D., Picard, A., Tarrier, J., Hodder, S. and Havenith, G. (2019). Shoe microclimate: An objective characterisation and subjective evaluation. *Applied Ergonomics, 78*, pp. 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2019.01.010.

Wiggermann, N. and Keyserling, W. M. (2015). Time to onset of pain: Effects of magnitude and location for static pressures applied to the plantar foot. *Applied Ergonomics*, *46*, pp. 84–90. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2014.07.008.

Williams, A. E. (2018). Special theme article: Science and sociology of footwear. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, *11*. doi: 10.1186/s13047-018-0293-y.

Wiltman, S. A., Pechtl, K. S., Huppert, T. J. and Chambers, A. J. (2019). Influence of Flooring on Lower Extremity Blood Oxygenation and Volume during Prolonged Standing. in *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 2019 Annual Meeting*. Los Angeles, CA, pp. 1278–1282. doi: 10.1177/1071181319631088.

Zander, J. E., King, P. M. and Ezenwa, B. N. (2004). Influence of flooring conditions on lower leg volume following prolonged standing. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *34*(4), pp. 279–288. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2004.04.014.